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At Swan, we are committed 
to growth and innovation in 
delivering excellent services. 
We are one of the UK’s 
leading regeneration housing 
associations and delivering 
a host of award-winning 
schemes. Efficient and 
enterprising, we deliver new, 
high quality housing across all 
tenures, making a difference 
to lives and communities.

Every day.
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Group Highlights 2020/21

Financials

Turnover

Standard & Poor’s

Governance Grade Viability Grade

2021:

£190.6m

2021:

BBB(stable)

2021:

G2
2021:

V2

2021:

£780.0m

2021:

£48,217
2021:

181%
2021:

£1,057.9m

2021:

£32.9m
2021:

£20.1m
2020:  £170.5m

2020:  BBB(stable)

2020:  G2 2020:  V2

2020:  £772.1m

2020:  £47,015 2020:  188% 2020:  £1,044.6m

2020:  £7.3m 2020:  £60.5m

Surplus before Tax Investment in new homes

Net Debt per Unit Interest Cover Total assets less current liabilities

Tangible Fixed Assets – housing 

Ratings
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Operational

Homes

Maximising Our Talent

Customer Satisfaction 

Total social housing homes owned Total social housing homes owned and managed

Staff Engagement (TT100)

CQC Rating 

New homes completed Homes under construction 

Gender Pay Gap 

Tenant Arrears 

Calls made to support vulnerable 
residents through Covid-19 Isolation 2021:

3 Star(*)

2021:

10,171
2021:

11,655

2021:

N/A(**)

2021:

100% of schemes Outstanding or Good

2021:

27
2021:

813

2021:

9%

2021:

2.26%

2021:

2,492

2020:  78.3%

2020:  10,161 2020:  11,646

2020:  100% of schemes Outstanding or Good

2020:  708 2020: 675

2020:  12%

2020:  1.96%

2020:  N/A

(*) During the year the method for measuring customer satisfaction was changed. The methodology and results are covered in detail in the operational review section.

(**) Due to Covid-19, the Times Top 100 was not run by the organisers this year. Information relating to staff engagement during the year has been included in the 
Maximising Talent section of the following report. 

2020:  2*
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The year 2020/21 has been an extraordinary one. 
As we continue to emerge, carefully, from the 
Covid-19 pandemic, at Swan we have taken the 
time to reflect on our response to these 
unprecedented times and to plan for a future 
where Swan, our Customers, the Communities in 
which they live, our partners and our staff, can all 
thrive. 

This introspection has enabled us, as a Board and 
Executive Team, to revisit Swan’s purpose, 
mission and values.  We have adopted a new 
Corporate Strategy as a result.  As an 
organisation we have always sought to try to be 
creative and think differently and that ethos is now 
firmly embedded in our new purpose: 

“To find better ways of doing things so that we can 
improve lives and communities. Every day.” 

We believe our new mission statement expresses 
exactly what we exist to do: 

“To deliver brilliant customer care and great 
places to call home” 

and that focus on customer care and great places 
to call home is central to everything we do.    

The fact that the new purpose and mission both 
put the customer first and focus on great homes is 
quite deliberate.  This is what Swan has always 
sought to do.  Now that approach is wholly aligned 
with the Government’s approach too. The Social 
Housing White Paper, the Fire and Building Safety 
Acts and other legislation coming forward show 
they will expect nothing less of our sector and that 
we need to be ready to deliver.  

The new strategy was adopted in October 2020.  
This report sets out its key 7 Aims, which then 
form a golden thread running through our 
performance reporting herein.  We have also 
referenced performance against the previous 
strategy targets for completeness. 

2020/21 has brought a number of significant 
challenges for our sector, including taking our part 
in the national response to Covid-19 pandemic 
and to the evolving cladding and fire safety 
position. For Swan specifically, our response to 
the devastating incident at Watts Grove in July, 
where a crane collapsed on our construction site 
resulting in the tragic death of a resident, for which 
our deepest condolences have been extended to 
her family, and the injury of two crane operatives, 
has continued throughout the year. Our thoughts 
remain with those who were impacted by the 
incident whilst we work closely with the 
investigating authorities in their efforts to 
understand how this incident occurred.  Across all 
these issues, we continue to respond to these 
challenging situations to the best of our ability, 
striving to both communicate well with the affected 
communities and to support them through the 
ongoing response. 

I am extremely pleased that, despite all of the 
challenges, there are some significant 
performance highlights this year.  Our Income and 
Welfare Benefits teams have worked tirelessly to 
support residents to pay their rent and secure the 
benefits they need. This has resulted in the team 

Chair’s Introduction
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achieving 2.26% current tenant arrears, helping 
our customers protect their home and delivering 
financial resilience for our business. 

In partnership with Axis, we carried out over 
30,000 repairs despite Covid-19 restrictions and 
continued to improve customer’s homes through 
our planned maintenance programme. Our 
Customer Engagement team, with help from 
colleagues, made almost 2,500 calls to support 
residents who were isolated due to the Pandemic. 
Our frontline services, including Estates Services, 
NHS Key Working living team and our Care and 
Support team, all worked tirelessly to support our 
residents in their homes and communities. 

Although completions of new homes were 
expected to reduce this year due to our 
development cycle, our construction sites and 
modular housing factory remained operational 
throughout most of the year and the factory team 
built a module a day despite Covid-19 operational 
restrictions.  We also secured planning permission 
for our Better Queensway Regeneration Scheme  
(which we are delivering through our Joint Venture 
with Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to provide 
up to 1,760 homes) and started on site on Phase 1 
of our 2,850 home regeneration scheme at 
Purfleet-on-Thames.  

Like every organisation, the ability to deliver digital 
services and operate in an agile way became 
critical to our success this year.  The 
transformation programme, which had begun 
under our previous Corporate Strategy, delivered 
when we needed it.  Our staff were able to work 
from home using their IT equipment; our 
customers were able to use our new Tenant Portal 
and Website to access services; and we were able 
to carry out virtual consultation activity on key 
regeneration projects as well as engaging to 
support customers and stakeholders virtually.   

We’ve used the lockdown to take our agile working 
approach a step further and with our Essex and 
London Hub offices now reopened as restrictions 
have been lifted, they are able to fully support agile 
working. We have put in place desk booking 
systems and collaboration spaces and these will 
enable us to continue to maximise our talent in line 
with our new strategy. 

This is my last report as Chair of Swan Housing 
Association and I feel that the work completed this 
year, despite the restrictions, has put Swan on 
course to continue to deliver on Swan’s purpose 
well into the future. During my time as Chair, we 
have seen exceptional growth in our ambitions and 
in our delivery. The new Corporate Strategy, with 
its emphasis on Building Customer Trust,  
Financial Resilience and planning for the future 
(including zero carbon and building safety),will 
ensure Swan is prepared for its future despite 
increased material and labour costs that have 
arisen post Brexit. 

I would like to thank all of the Swan staff who have 
supported me as Chair, they are a dedicated and 
committed team, who want to deliver for our 
customers and stakeholders. I feel confident that 
under the stewardship of the new Chair, Pat 
Billingham who will formally take over in Autumn 
2021, Swan will continue to deliver on its Purpose 
and Mission. 

Valerie Owen 
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Strategic Report

Principle Activities

The Swan Group (“Swan”) is headed by Swan 
Housing Association Limited (Swan HA), a 
registered provider of social housing operating in 
Essex and East London. Swan has grown since 
1994 to owning and managing over 11,500 homes. 
Swan’s purpose is to find better ways of doing 
things so that we improve lives and communities. 
Every day.

We provide general needs housing services, 
services to leaseholders, NHS keyworker 
accommodation, supported housing 
accommodation and care services. We also 
manage properties on behalf of other housing 
providers. We build new homes across a range of 
tenures using both traditional and modular 
construction methods.

All profits from our commercial activities are 
reinvested so that Swan can deliver brilliant 
customer care and great places to call home – our 
mission as defined in our new Corporate Strategy 
2021/23.

Swan Commercial Services
Continue to provide design and build services to 
Swan HA and Swan New Homes, using both 
traditional and modern methods of construction.  
All 813 homes on site at the end of the financial 
year were being built in house. 

Swan New Homes (*)

Develops and sells private sale homes. Where 
profits are made from the sale of these homes, 
they can be donated to the charitable parent, 
Swan Housing Association. In 2020/21 £5.2m 
(2019/20 £2.6m) was gift aided from SNH to 
SHA.

Hera Management Services

Continue to provide property management 
services to our Borough Partners and a range of 
private Landlords. The team also provide 
property management services to leaseholders 
and shared owners in Swan owned blocks.

Vivo Support Limited

Continue to provide a range of care and services 

(*) Swan New Homes trades under the name NU living
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across Essex. 

To find better ways of 
doing things so that 
we improve lives and 
communities. 
Every day.

To deliver brilliant 
customer care and 
great places to call 
home.

OUR
PURPOSE

OUR
MISSION

OUR
VALUES

Making a difference

Being inventive and solutions focused

Being open and fair

Caring about every customer   

1

2

3

4
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Business and Financial Review

Group Financial Performance

The Board is reporting an operating surplus of 
£28.6 million (2020: £32.6 million), a surplus 
before tax of £32.9 million (2020: £7.3 million) and 
total comprehensive income of £28.9 million 
(2020: £10.6 million) for the year.

Turnover has increased to a record year at £190.6 
million (2020: £170.5 million). The core Housing 
Association activities have remained in line with 
last year when £7.4m of insurance proceeds in 
relation to Watts Grove are excluded. However, 
there has been a strong volume of sales at the 
Cambridge Road and Blackwall Reach sites in 
Swan New Homes.  

Whilst turnover has increased by £20.1 million in 
the year, operating surplus decreased by £4.0 
million.  The key driver for this is the reduction in 
margin of the Group’s development activities, with 
surpluses from Shared Ownership 1st tranche and 
private sales decreasing year on year by £2.2m. 
The Group has seen increases in costs due to 
completion delays and Covid-19.  

The surplus from development activities includes a 
£1.9 million impairment charge for the Laindon 
development (2020: nil). The impairment at 
Laindon has been calculated following a 
reassessment of the cost to complete the project, 
sales and related fees, financing costs and 
expected revenue from the sale of homes and 
commercial assets being constructed at the site. A 
further £7.4m impairment has been recognised at 
the Watts Grove development following the crane 
incident in 2020, which has been offset by accrued 
insurance proceeds of the same amount (2020 
nil). The Watts Grove impairment value has been 
estimated at fair value less cost to sell taking into 
account costs to remediate the site and 
replacement of the damaged works.  

Total comprehensive income includes a credit of 
£15.0 million (2020: £14.6 million charge) for the 
movement in the fair value of the Housing 
Association’s two non-basic financial instruments. 
This movement represents the cost the Housing 
Association would incur if it was to repay the 
underlying debt early. There has been an actuarial 
loss of £4.1 million (2020: £3.2 million actuarial 
gain) in respect of the Group’s defined benefit 
pension obligation for the SHPS multi-employer 
pension scheme due to a change in the       
macro-economic assumptions including CPI and 
RPI inflation and Salary Growth. 

Group reserves have increased by £28.9 million to 
£274.1 million (2020: £245.2 million). Interest 
cover and net debt per unit covenants remain 
within our lenders' requirements.

Both void turnaround of 18.5 days (2020: 14.5 
days) and current tenant arrears at 2.26% (2020: 
1.96%) have increased during the year. The 
impact of social distancing and disruption caused 
by Covid-19 has understandably resulted in 
increased pressure on these KPI’s and the Board 
are encouraged that the hard work by staff to 
support our customers has reduced the impact to 
the Group. 

 

Strategic Report (cont.)
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2020 2021

(*) Includes £1.9m of impairment charge for the Laindon development project (2020: nil) and an impairment of £7.4m for the Watts Grove development project. Accrued 
insurance proceeds of £7.4m (2020 nil) have also been recognised.

Operating surplus

2020

£32.6m £28.6m 

2021

-12.2%

Surplus before tax

2020

£7.3m £32.9m 

2021

+350.6%

Total Comprehensive Income

2020

£10.6m £28.9m 

2021

+172.6%

Operating Surplus from 
Development Activities (*)

2020

£7.2m £5.6m 

2021

-22.2%

Operating Surplus from 
Social Housing Activities

2020

£27.7m £26.7m 

2021

-3.6%

Group 
Turnover 

2020

£170.5m £190.6m 

2021

+11.8%

Group reserves 

2020

£245.2m £274.1m 

2021

+0.8%

Net Debt Per Unit

2020

£47.0k £48.2k

2021

+2.5%

Interest Cover

188% 181%

-3.7%

Void Turnaround

2020

18.5
days

14.5
days

2021

+27.6%

Current Tenant Arrears

2020

1.96% 2.26%

2021

+15.3%

Target: 
2.60%

Target: 
2.60%
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Corporate Strategy 2020-2023

Recognising the changing external environment 
that we were operating in and how our business 
has evolved over the last few years, our Board 
and Executive Team worked together over five 
virtual sessions during lockdown to develop a new 
Corporate Strategy to take us through to 2023.

These sessions allowed the Board to refocus on 
our purpose, agreeing that Swan existed “To find 
better ways of doing things so that we improve 
lives and communities. Every day.” They selected 
a simple clear mission statement committing Swan 
“To deliver brilliant customer care and great places 
to call home”. Together with a simple clear 
statement of values we expect all our staff to live 
by:

1. Making a difference

2. Being inventive and solutions focused
3. Being open and fair       

4. Caring about every customer

The Board are confident that this refreshed 
strategy will allow Swan to continue to lead the 
way as an innovative housing provider. To support 
Swan to deliver on this refreshed purpose and 
mission the Board agreed to adopt seven 
corporate strategy workstreams (as below).

The new strategy took effect from October 2020 
and this Strategic Report uses the seven 
Corporate Strategy Aims to report on our key 
strategic performance during the year ended 31 
March 2021. We have also used these icons 
throughout this report to highlight how integral this 
strategy is to our work. Project Boards have been 
established for all workstreams, each chaired by 
one of the Executive Team and regular meetings 
are taking place. 

1.    Build Customer Trust

•  Better understand our customers 
•  Implement an end-to-end review of customer 

service 
• Develop our own dimensions of trust model
• Enhance our customer contact channels

2.    Maximise Our Talent

• Develop our leaders 
• Embrace inclusion, equality and diversity
• Grow our own talent 
• Deliver agile working culture

3.    Provide Safe, High Quality Homes

• Adequately fund investment in existing homes
• Build beautiful new homes 
• Engage our customers 
• Ensure we have the resources to deliver

Strategic Report (cont.)
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6.    Deliver Digital First

• Develop more solutions for self-service 
• Use data to greater effect 
•  Develop our core systems and complete our 

move to agile working 
• Future-proof our customers’ homes

7.    Grow Responsibly

• Deliver on our commitments 
• Understand our impact 
•  Ensure our commercial property portfolio 

performs 
• Grow our modular housing business 

4.    Build Financial Capacity and Resilience

• Raise additional funding 
• Capacity through partnerships 
•  Ensure we have the financial resilience to cope 

with adversity 
•  Optimise the performance of our social purpose 

and commercial activities

5.    Love The Planet

• Increase our focus 
• Inspire our customers and people 
• Reduce our carbon emissions 
• Monitor policy, legislation and best practice 

TE 
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Business Review and Operational 
Performance KPIs

In this section we have set out the performance of 
our Operations against the key performance 
indicators set for 2020/21. As we subsequently 
adopted our new Corporate Strategy 2020/23, 
mid-way through the year, we have reported 
performance since adoption in October 2020 
throughout this section against the new Corporate 
Strategy Aims:

Aim 1 – Build Customer Trust

From September 2020 we implemented a new 
approach to measuring customer satisfaction 
using the UK Customer Satisfaction Index 
(UKCSI), a measurement by the Institute of 
Customer Service. Our out-turn score for this 
first-year measurement was 61.5. This is against 
an average UKCSI score of 77.0 and a Local 
Services Sector (our benchmark group) average 
score of 75.3. The feedback provided significant 
insight to enable us to improve our service moving 
forward in line with our new Corporate Strategy.

225 Stage 1 Complaints received – in line with 
last year (223)

100% of complaints were responded to 
within 6 working days (FY 2020: 100%, target 
98%)

93% of people were satisfied with the 
complaints procedure (FY 2020: 93%, target 
86%)

216 new households became Swan general 
needs tenants during the year (FY2020: 337)

We have moved to a 2-stage complaint procedure 
after our Customer Service Policy was reviewed in 
November 2020. The new 2-stage complaints 
procedure is in line with The Housing Ombudsman 
recommendations. We successfully rolled out 

Complaints Handling Training to over 100 Swan 
Staff in February and March 2021. 

One complaint was listed for investigation by the 
Housing Ombudsman during the year and we are 
working closely with this customer and have an 
active action plan in place with our 
Neighbourhoods Team to resolve the complaint.

Complaints are categorised into the following 
headings: Customer Service, Communication, 
Policy, Quality and Speed. As well as analysing 
complaints at the Association level, we also 
analyse complaints relating to our Repairs and 
Maintenance using the same categories. 

We have also reintroduced ‘Learning Circles’, 
where we review a complaint holistically, end to 
end, on a monthly basis. The goal of these 
sessions is to build and share a collective 
knowledge through a process of open dialogue 
and deep reflection around a complaint, with a 
focus on a learning culture and shared, improved 
outcomes for our customers.

In line with the Housing Ombudsman Code 
amendments to existing reporting structures have 
been made to ensure lessons are reported to the 
Board.

Customer Involvement and Community 
Development (CICD)

During the last year as well as providing 3,566 
calls to support vulnerable and isolated people the 
CICD team have continued to offer a wide range 
of engagement activities including the digital 
engagement outlined on page 26 of this report. 
They have continued to engage with residents 
including carrying out virtual consultations on our 
Exmouth Estate, Blackwall Reach and Better 
Queensway Regeneration projects.

Strategic Report (cont.)
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Action Plan for 2021/22

Swan has appointed independent consultants to work 
with us to Build Customer Trust through a transformed 
Customer Experience Model. We will work with them to 
first obtain a better understanding of who our 
customers are and what they want from us as a 
provider, gain some deeper insight into what being a 
customer of Swan is like and use this insight to focus 
us on improving the end-to-end process of the 
customer journey.

We will do this by:

1.  Using customer segmentation research to create 
personas representative of each of our customers 
so we really know who they are and what they 
want from us.

2.  Mapping our customer journeys across our main 
services. This will help us understand how it feels 
to be a customer of Swan and to deliver customer 
service at Swan.

3.  Embedding this learning into our Customer 
Service approach.

This will result in improved services for our customers. 
We have also started to change the way that we involve 
and engage with our customers, seeking to increase 
engagement and ensure that we are truly listening to 
them in order that we provide appropriate services. This 
is critical to ensuring that we are able to fully meet the 
expectations of the Social Housing White paper but 
also the expectations of the customers themselves. The 
Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan sets out how 
customers will be involved in each element of the 
Strategy:

Engagement will help us:

•  understand our customers
•  map their journey when 

they use our services
•  adapt our model to include 

additional self-services
•  enhance repairs service
• minimise complaints

Engagement will help us:

•  deliver social value through 
our services

•  recruit and train the right 
employees to deliver our 
service

•  use appropriate IT to 
deliver services

Engagement will help us:

•  shape the design of new 
homes and places

•  influence retrofitting and 
improvements to existing 
homes

•  deliver on fire and building 
safety

CORPORATE STRATEGY - CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT THEMES

Looking forward

The work that we have initiated with the Institute of 
Customer Service Excellence has enabled us to 
conduct a detailed survey of over 600 residents and the 
findings from this survey has set the approach for our 
Customer Trust workstream for 2021/22. This work will 
also be central to our wider response to the Social 
Housing White Paper and the Building Safety Act. 

Key findings of the survey showed us that our 
customers want:

•  To deal with staff who care, show empathy and keep 
their promises, whether that’s calling back when 
they say they will or taking ownership to fix a 
problem.

•  Us to be easier to get in touch with, quicker 
responses on emails and improved self-service 
on-line.

• Appointments that fit with their lifestyles.
•  To be kept updated about the status of their repair or 

issue and any follow ups needed.
• A good quality and friendly repairs service.
•  To be kept informed and have more regular updates 

from Swan.
•  More notice for things that impact them, such as 

rent increases or changes to service charges.
•  To feel heard, understood and know that their 

problems are being taken seriously.
• Swan to be transparent, open and honest.
•  To know they are getting value for money for their 

rent and service charges.

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE CORE SERVICES FUTURE HOMES

CUSTOMER DATA  AND INSIGHT

Aim 1 Aim 2 Aim 3Aim 3 Aim 4 Aim 5Aim 6 Aim 6 Aim 7
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Aim 2 – Maximise Our Talent

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) - 
including Gender pay

Our Maximise Our Talent aim is centred on ensuring we 
have committed, high performing and dedicated 
employees and achieving equality, diversity and 
inclusion in our organisation is key.  This year we 
retained our Housing Diversity Network (HDN) 
accreditation, which is reassessed every three years, 
for excellence in equality and diversity with eight 
distinctions for good practice including:

•  A strong corporate culture which views diversity as a 
strength, and is centred around improving 
performance and driving the organisation forward in 
terms of EDI

•  An Executive Team member lead for diversity who 
ensures that EDI issues are considered at a 
strategic level as well as providing an external focus 
and ambassadorial role

•  HR policies on work-life balance, flexible working 
and skills development that are a strength and 
encourage people to stay with the organisation.

Data about the diversity of our workforce, Executive 
Team, Board and Committees is set out below. 

AGE 
(April 2021)

Swan Group 
employees

Executive 
Team (6)

Board 
members (9)

All Committee 
members including 
Board members (17)

16-24 6% 0 0 0

25-34 24% 0 0 0

35-44 33% 1 (17%) 1 (11%) 3 (18%)

45-54 22% 2 (33%) 1 (11%) 4 (24%)

55-64 14% 2 (33%) 5 (56%) 7 (41%)

65+ 1% 1 (17%) 2 (22%) 3 (18%)
      

ETHNICITY
(April 2021)

Swan Group 
employees

Executive 
Team (6)

Board 
members 
(9)

All Committee 
members including 
Board members (17)

Asian or Asian British 3% 0 0 3(17%)

Black, Black British, 
Caribbean or African 6% 0 1(11%) 2(12%)

White 77% 6(100%) 7(78%) 11(65%)

Mixed or Multiple 
ethnic groups 3% 0 1(11%) 1(6%)

Other ethnic group 2% 0 0 0

Prefer not to say 1% 0 0 0

Not known 8% 0 0 0

We collect ethnic origin data using the Census categories. We recognise that deciding how they identify within 
this framework and whether to share that information with us is an individual decision. In this context, we are 
encouraging staff to update their data by selecting an option, which can be ‘prefer not to say’.

      

Strategic Report (cont.)
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We also recognise the importance of considering our 
diversity data through an intersectional lens and we 
will be using the National Housing Federation’s new 
EDI data tool to compare the diversity of our Swan 
Housing Association workforce, Executive Team and 
Board to the communities we serve, based on the 
characteristics of the populations where we own and 
manage stock.

Gender Pay Gap

Swan’s Gender Pay Gap has reduced from 12% in 
the previous year to 9% this year. Our analysis 
shows that both the pay and bonus gap arise 
because women hold fewer senior roles than men.   
We also have a higher proportion of women working 
in part-time roles, which generally fall within the 
lower quartile of pay. However, women are 
represented at all levels including both as members 
of the Board and the Executive Team. 

The Chair of the Board, and the Executive Director 
of Governance and Compliance are excellent female 
role models, providing inspirational and effective 
leadership. We also have a number of other women 
within our Board, Senior Management Team, 
Development Management Team and Heads of 
Service. Our People Director along with our Director 
of Business Development and External Affairs, who 
are both women, founded and co-lead our internal 
Inspiring Swan’s network that helps women shine 
within the workplace. We do however acknowledge 
that we can always do more to encourage more 
women in senior roles and we are ensuring:

•  Our policies are based on equality of opportunity. 
•  Our recruiting processes are non-discriminatory 

and all of our job specifications and policies are 
written in gender neutral language. 

•  We are using our Digital First approach to digitise 
our processes and work in an agile way 
increasing flexibility and recognition of outcomes. 

Covid-19 has enhanced both formal and informal 
ways of working flexibly and since it is still very 
much the societal norm that women are the main 
care givers, Swan introduced a variety of 
wellbeing initiatives in 2020 such as ‘Wellbeing 
Wednesdays’ and additional paid parental leave 
has supported gender equality.

Maximising our talent 

Our most recent independent employee survey in 
May 2020 saw a small reduction in our overall 
employee engagement levels. We have worked 
through the pandemic to keep our employees 
informed about the impact of Covid-19 and how we 
are adjusting services. This resulted in a 2% 
increase in employees saying their manager “shares 
knowledge and important information with me”.

We have also increased our focus on wellbeing to 
support all our employees whether field based or 
home working. We were pleased that we also had a 
2% increase in the number of employees that felt 
“happy with the balance between work and home 
life” during this time.

Health and Wellbeing 

The second phase of our Health and Wellbeing 
strategy has been rolled out and despite some 
reshaping of delivery mechanism to respond to 
Covid-19 has included topics such as: Health & 
Wellbeing, Lifestyle Matters and Mental Health 
Matters. 

This has included offering a range of seminars to 
staff on wellbeing, promoting our Employee 
Assistance Programme and implementing our 
"wellbeing Wednesday" initiative where all staff are 
encouraged to take an hour on a Wednesday to do a 
wellbeing activity of their choice.

SEX
(April 2021)

Swan Group 
employees

Executive 
Team (6)

Board 
members (9)

All Committee 
members including 
Board members (17)

Female 55% 1 (17%) 3 (33%) 7 (41%)
Male 45% 5 (83%) 6 (67%) 10 (59%)

We currently collect data on sex in accordance with the categories (female and male) used in the Census and 
required to meet HMRC payroll requirements. We do not currently collect data about gender identity and this is 
something that we are reviewing.
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Aim 3 – Provide Safe, High Quality 
Homes

Despite the pandemic, through our repairs 
partnership with Axis we delivered over 30,000 
repairs and carried out 163 new kitchen 
installations and 527 external decorations. Some 
residents did not feel comfortable allowing access 
to their home for decent homes works which is 
likely to be due to the pandemic. However, we 
were able to invest £8.4m in planned and cyclical 
works to improve customers’ homes. 100% Gas 
Servicing was achieved again this year. Axis have 

faced significant challenges recruiting operatives 
and engineers which, along with Covid-19 
restrictions, staff absence and challenges sourcing 
materials has affected overall KPI performance. 
We continue to work closely with Axis, who have 
put in additional staffing and have tailored 
resourcing to ensure their service delivery is 
aligned with our new Corporate Strategy aims, 
particularly around Customer Trust. 

Aim 3: Provide Safe, High Quality Homes     2021
                

     2020
                 

% Immediate Repairs completed on time 98.21% (Target 99.50%) 99.93%

 % Emergency Repairs completed on time 99.50% (Target 99.50%) 99.92%

 % Standard Repairs completed on time 93.11% (Target 98.50%) 96.13%

Gas Servicing completed 100% (Target 100%) 100%

Satisfaction with most recent repair (internally assessed) 93.33% (Target 91%) 92.84%

% of Homes meeting Decent Homes Standards 97.13% 100%

£’s invested in planned and Cyclical works to improve 
customers' homes £8.4m £5.6m

      

Strategic Report (cont.)



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 21

The following infographic summarises the repairs and maintenance activities during the financial year 
ended 31 March 2021.

REPAIRS IN NUMBERS:  
1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021

119 full unit windows/
front and or rear doors 
and fire doors installed 

163 new kitchens 
installed       32.5% 
increase on previous year   

4,329 service and 
inspection visits to 
achieve statutory or 
regulatory compliance 
with equipment (pumps, 
lifts, fire alarms etc)

34,554 repair 
appointments completed 
(total)

527 external decorations 
completed (windows, 
doors etc)      164% 
increase on previous year

30,333 responsive 
repairs completed 
(including 6,810 
communal repairs)

466 new boilers and 
central heating systems 
installed      109% 
increase on previous year

58,311 customer phone 
calls answered

6,273 gas appliance 
services completed to 
retain 100% Gas Safety 
Certificate compliance

14,818 gas breakdown 
and service appointments 
attended

37,755 customer emails 
received and actioned

6,981 gas appliance and 
system faults completed
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Health and Safety  

Providing safe quality homes has never been 
more critical and we, like the rest of our sector, 
have been focused on responding to evolving 
guidance following the Hackett Review including 
changes to Building Regulations, the Building 
Safety Bill and the Fire Safety Bill. We are 
committed to ensuring that we appropriately 
deliver all legislative, regulatory and best practice 
requirements and this year have been focusing on 
restructuring our Health and Safety provision so 
we can put a new Building Safety Team in place in 
line with the expectations of the Building Safety 
Bill including appropriately qualified Building 
Managers. We have re-procured our specialist fire 
safety advisors and have reviewed our Health and 
Safety provision generally and will be creating an 
in-house Health and Safety team bolstered by 
appropriate external expertise to cover the wide 
range of Health and Safety competencies required 
by our diverse range of businesses. This year we 
had three notifiable incidents under the RIDOR 
legislation including the major incident at Watts 
Grove (see below). 

Major Incident

On 8 July 2020 a crane collapsed at our Watts 
Grove construction site in the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets.

The incident resulted in the tragic loss of a life, for 
which our deepest condolences have been 
extended to the family, the serious injury of two 
crane operatives and caused a number of local 
residents to have to leave their homes until the 
crane was removed and the surrounding area 
made safe. 

The operation to remove the collapsed crane was 
completed in late December 2020. This enabled 
the adjoining properties which were affected by 
the incident to be returned to their owners and for 
Swan to resume control and responsibility for the 

development site. The investigation into the cause 
of the incident is ongoing and we continue to 
support the authorities with their enquiries. 

Fire Risk Assessment Update 

We carry out Fire Risk Assessments (‘FRA’) on an 
annual basis to all properties where there are 
shared communal areas. We also increase this 
frequency if work is being carried out to common 
parts of a property and if any changes or incidents 
have occurred, to ensure that any repairs and 
installations have not altered the fire integrity of 
the building.   

We employ external independent Fire Safety 
experts to give advice on all fire safety issues. We 
have continued to undertake Type 3 Fire Risk 
Assessments1 in all our properties over five 
storeys high and in all our supported housing. 
These assessments are ongoing and as each 
survey is completed we are acting on the 
recommendations made. This has identified a 
number of blocks which, although not affected by 
Aluminium Composite Material (ACM), the Type 3 
Assessment and/or the External Wall Survey 
(EWS1) certificate advises that remedial action is 
necessary.  

Where work is required, further investigation will 
take place to determine if it is recoverable from the 
contractor, fundable from Government grants or 
the obligation of leaseholders to pay. In each case, 
we will put a remediation programme in place. 

We were required to complete 645 FRA’s in 
2020/21. The majority were the standard annual 

[1]   A Type 3 Fire Risk Assessment (FRA)  covers all common areas of a 

building as well as individual dwellings. The Type 3 FRA considers all means 

of escapes (including those within individual dwellings), structures, and 

compartmentation between flats and any means of fire detection. Whilst access 

to individual dwellings is required, the assessment is non-destructive. Where 

more intrusive investigations are required, such as removing cladding or taking 

material samples from within the building, this is known as a Type 4 FRA.
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review of an existing FRA, the rest were new 
FRAs for new build properties. At the end of the 
financial year all but a small number of FRAs had 
been completed. We continue to instruct FRAs to 
complete the programme and meet requirements. 

Where a block is managed by another landlord, 
we are working with them to ensure they have 
carried out all necessary checks on the block and 
acted on any recommendations they have 
received following these checks. Where 
appropriate we have put in place measures to 
protect our customers who live in blocks managed 
by others.

Cladding Update

Swan has two developments identified as having 
ACM Cladding installed and work to remove 
cladding has commenced. We have secured £16m 
from NHBC towards remedial works at one block 
and a further £1.3m from the Social ACM fund for 
the other. 

To date we have spent £6.0m of the provision on 
the remediation of the two developments. The 
Board have reviewed the balance of the provision 
of £18.0m and are satisfied that it is sufficient to 
complete the works that are the Group’s liability. 
Remediation costs are not capitalised and costs 
relating to waking watches are expensed as 
incurred. 

The risk in relation to other forms of cladding and 
revised building regulations continues to be 
monitored by management. During the year, as 
noted in the Fire Risk Assessment Update, work 
has commenced to assess whether remediation 
works to these buildings is required.  However, at 
31 March 2021 and to date there have been no 
legal or constructive obligations in relation to the 
rectification of such issues and no related 
provisions have been taken in these financial 
statements.

Covid-19

Our response to Covid-19 has continued to be 
focused on delivering services safely to our 
residents and maintaining construction and sales 
activity. Our teams across the organisation have 
responded in a creative way to the challenges 
Covid-19 has brought whether they have been 
offering virtual home tours and handovers to 
buyers of new homes; engaging digitally with 
residents to continue vital support work; or 
consulting virtually on key regenerations. The 
majority of our staff have continued to work from 
home, with front line teams and construction staff 
receiving additional support and with all staff able 
to claim up to £250 for equipment to facilitate 
home working. Our frontline teams and 
construction staff have received additional support 
to facilitate Covid-19 safe working practices. 

A key focus has been on preparation for a safe 
return and, during lockdown, we have refurbished 
our key Essex and London offices as regional 
hubs to offer a range of bookable spaces to 
support staff to work, collaborate and meet. We 
have made clear to our staff our commitment to 
continuing agile working as we move forward from 
lockdown. 

Staff Health and Safety

The wellbeing of our staff continues to be our 
priority. We ran 21 campaigns in 2020/21 focused 
on various elements of Health and Safety, driven 
by previous accident trends and seasonal 
hazards.

Over 500 operational risk assessments were 
issued to Swan staff throughout the year. Many of 
the risk assessments were focused on 
departmental risk, however due to the pandemic 
Swan also introduced a range of Covid-19 specific 
risk assessments to protect staff. A total of 27 
accidents/ incidents have occurred during the 
finanical year. Each of the events has been fully 
investigated and where necessary lessons learnt 
have been applied throughout the organisation.
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Aim 4: Build Financial Capacity and 
Resilience

Welfare Reform

Having extensively adapted the support that the 
Welfare Benefits Team provide to reflect 
customers' additional needs due to the Covid-19 
situation, the team have provided much needed 
support to over 500 households (tenants, 
leaseholders and shared owners) whose incomes 
had been materially impacted by the pandemic. 
This support helps build Customer Trust but also 
helps support the Financial Capacity and 
Resilience of Swan.

The Welfare Benefits team have supported 
customers to claim over £780,000 of additional 
benefits and over £152,000 of Discretionary 
Housing Payments to help sustain their tenancy 
providing reassurance and support at this most 
difficult time.

The Welfare Benefits team have made over 
40,000 outgoing calls to customers this year to 
support them to pay their rent and received over 
20,000 calls from customers. They have taken 
over £4.4m of payments over the telephone 
helping Swan achieve 2.26% rent arrears better 
than our pre-Covid-19 target of 2.60%. This is a 
significant achievement and sector wide arrears 
levels are in many cases much higher.   

The team also worked with shared owners to 
reduce arrears to 1.39% better than target and 
continued to support leaseholders and reduced 
arrears to 3.77%, although this remained above 
target.

After being supported by our team to secure the 
benefits she was entitled to; to remove the 
bedroom tax from her property as the spare room 
was needed for her carer and to move forward 
with her health support as a result, one Swan 
resident said:

 “I wanted to give my compliments to you 
for all your support today. I really couldn't 
have sorted things out without your help. 
Thanks for taking the time to help me.”

Grant Funding for New Homes 

Highlights in the year include:

Working in partnership to secure £90+m of 
Government funding for our regeneration 
projects 

•  £75m of Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) 
to fund early infrastructure provision including 
new roads, a pedestrian and vehicular bridge 
over the railway line at our Purfleet-on-Thames 
development.

•  £15m of HIF funding to enable the 
infrastructure at the Better Queensway 
Regeneration

•  £4.2m Getting Building Funding to improve the 
local electricity infrastructure for the Better 
Queensway project, including efficient electric 
heating systems and electric charging points

Swan also secured an additional £4.5m of Getting 
Britain Building Funding from the South East Local 
Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) to fund the fit out 
of our second modular housing factory.
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Aim 5 - Love The Planet

We are committed to building high quality 
sustainable homes and 'Aim 5: Love The Planet' 
of our Corporate Strategy will be pivotal to the 
delivery of our homes in the future. The Aim 
commits us to developing a new Environmental 
and Sustainability strategy by the end of 2022 and 
this will set stretching targets on sustainability 
across our homes, construction sites, offices and 
fleet. Having previously undertaken a Level 6 
Code for Sustainable Homes development, our 
new strategy will pilot a Zero Carbon development 
to enable us to prepare for the interim uplift driven 
by Part L of the Building Regulations in 2022 and 
the full Future Homes Standard in 2025.   

Across the range of schemes, we are delivering 
through our existing development programme, we 
already include a range of sustainability measures. 
For example, ‘Better Queensway’ in Southend-on-
Sea includes local electricity network upgrades to 
facilitate electric vehicle charging, heat pumps, 
extensive SUDs to alleviate flood risks, new cycle 
routes and increased biodiversity through 190 new 
trees and extensive public realm works.  

We have already shown leadership with our 
Modular Housing approach – delivering highly 
sustainable homes from Cross Laminated Timber, 
achieving up to 90% reductions in waste and 
saving potentially 40% carbon compared to 
traditional construction (based on research quoted 
in Build Homes, Build Jobs, Build Innovation 
published by HTA Design LLP this year and which 
included a case study on our Beechwood 
development). We now have a new Head of 
Sustainability and through the Love the Planet 
workstream we are increasing our focus on 
establishing and further improving the 
sustainability of Modern Methods of Construction 
(MMC) homes, including new steel homes, 
through research in conjunction with UK Green 
Building Council (UKGBC) and other experts.  

We are also about to pilot Electric Vehicles for our 
Workplace team as part of a move to wider 
greening of our fleet, and audits of our main 
London office and under-construction Essex office, 
working with external providers to embed carbon 
reduction measures.

This year we also joined the Green Building 
Council and participated in many thought 
leadership events discussing MMC, Carbon 
reduction and what the future looks like for 
sustainable homes. We secured Government 
funding for sustainability improvements to the 
Better Queensway regeneration and to fund the fit 
out of our second modular housing factory.  
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Aim 6: Deliver Digital First

For our Customers

Almost 1,000 households have registered with 
Swan’s new Tenant’s Portal since it was launched 
in August 2020 and they are using the portal to 
self-serve digitally to check their rent statement 
and pay their rent (over £450k payments made 
through it). Our team will continue to promote the 
portal, which in future we plan to link with Axis 
system to allow customers to book and amend 
their repairs appointments online and in real time. 
Customer experience of repairs will also be 
improved as Axis operatives are then able to book 
appointments through their handheld device when 
with the customer. Investment to date in the portal 
is £472k.

Customers continue to engage with Swan digitally 
through our new website, launched this year, 
having undergone resident testing, and to use the 
Live Chat function. We also launched our new 
Customer Portal in late 2020, customers 
registered to use the portal have risen by 465% 
from 172 in November 2020 to 971 at the end of 
March 2021.   

Throughout lockdown we have held virtual 
engagement sessions with our customers 
including Committee meetings, virtual cladding 
updates and planning consultation meetings and 
delivered training sessions including virtual fitness 
classes at Blackwall Reach; virtual Summer 
reading programme for young children in Essex 
and an online Talent competition for young people 
living on Beechwood in Basildon, Essex.

For our Staff

Our IT transformation programme, commenced 
under the previous corporate strategy, has been 
pivotal during the Covid-19 response with our 
agile approach enabling the vast majority of staff 
to seamlessly work from home, whilst maintaining 
service to our customers. The last 'tie' to office-
based working for a small number of staff was our 
legacy telephony system. The project to move to a 
fully cloud based system was put in place during 
lockdown and implemented in Q1 2021/22 with 
staff now having a mobile app for full flexibility.

We have continued our Enterprise Resource 
Planning System project using IFS (an enterprise 
software solution). The new system will improve 
and automate end-to-end processes in 
Development, Construction and Manufacturing 
divisions. It will also enhance supply chain 
management, financial controls including purchase 
to pay and reporting.

For our Stakeholders

Necessarily our response to the Covid-19 situation 
has increased our digital engagement with 
stakeholders. During the year we have carried out 
a range of stakeholder consultations on our 
large-scale regeneration schemes which have 
included political briefings, steering groups, 
community design panel and ‘virtual town hall’ 
meetings. These have been well received and 
helped secure planning approvals on Better 
Queensway and Purfleet-on-Thames. All were 
supported by written materials delivered to ensure 
all groups were reached. We have also promoted 
a range of virtual activities being delivered by our 
partners for the benefit of the communities in 
which we work.  
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Aim 7: Grow Responsibly

Secured Planning Permission for our Better 
Queensway Regeneration project in Southend-
on-Sea

The approved overall masterplan for the scheme, 
which we are delivering through a joint venture 
with Southend-on-Sea Borough Council, known as 
Porters Place Southend-on-Sea Limited, has been 
developed in consultation with local residents, who 
have been actively consulted despite lockdown. 
We achieved cross party support at planning 
committee for our plans which include:

•  Phased demolition of the four existing tower 
blocks on the Queensway estate and their 
replacement with a high-quality development of 
up to 1,760 modern new homes

•  Up to 10,000 square metres of commercial 
space including retail and cafes that will 
complement the existing high street retailers; 
employment space for start-up businesses and 
creative industries and a creche or nursery

• A new central community concierge
•  Attractive new public realm and improved links 

to the town centre for those travelling from 
Southend Victoria railway station or on foot or 
cycle from surrounding streets

•  A new urban park and public squares designed 
by LDA design, the same landscape architects 
who created the acclaimed Olympic Park in 
Stratford; and the transformation of the existing 
highway into a beautiful, tree-lined avenue 
including cycle lanes.

Helping to meet the needs of affordable housing in 
Southend-on-Sea, Better Queensway will deliver 
at least 512 affordable homes via a mix of 300 
social rented homes and 212 intermediate homes 
(shared equity and shared ownership). The 300 
social rented and 12 shared equity homes will be 
delivered through the S106 planning agreement 
and 200 shared ownership homes through a 
contractual commitment in the approved business 
plan. The Council and Swan are also intending to 
deliver an additional 100 genuinely affordable 
homes through a separate agreement.

The plans will also provide a greener and more 
sustainable Queensway. Not only will every home 
have its own private outdoor space whether it be a 
balcony, terrace or garden; there will also be new 
green spaces including an urban park, 190 new 
trees and 1,400 metres of new cycle paths along 
Queensway and Southchurch Road. Electric car 
charging points, greener energy generation and 
sustainable construction methods will also improve 
the overall environmental performance of the 
development.
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Started on site at our Purfleet-on-Thames 
Regeneration project 

In March this year, we began work on the first 
phase of the £1bn regeneration of Purfleet-on-
Thames, being delivered by Purfleet Centre 
Regeneration Limited (PCRL), our joint venture 
with Urban Catalyst. PCRL is working in 
association with Thurrock Council to deliver this 
project. This phase will deliver 61 homes and is 
due for completion in 2023. 

These new homes form part of the wider 
regeneration of the town centre which will 
transform Purfleet-on-Thames by creating up to 
2,850 new homes alongside other vital social, 
business and education infrastructure. Our 
masterplan will open-up Purfleet-on-Thames' river 
frontage, create employment and educational 
opportunities and drive growth to create a place 
that thrives.

John Rowles, Chair of Purfleet Community Forum, 
said:

“Well folks, we have finally got 
there, it is now March 2021. We 
have spent time and effort in 
getting where we are now. PCRL 
are on site laying the foundations 
to start the regeneration of 
Purfleet-on-Thames. We have a 
long way to go and at times, I 
know, it won’t be easy. However, 
we as a community have a chance 
to help make this vision happen, 
to make Purfleet-on-Thames the 
place we want it to be”

Building Back Better

This year Swan acquired a second modular 
housing factory which will enable us to develop a 
Buildoffsite Property Assurance Scheme (BOPAS) 
accredited steel framed solution to deliver modular 
homes for buildings that are taller than 18m, in line 
with the Government restrictions on the use of 
combustible materials. We were therefore 
delighted when this factory was selected by The 
South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) 
as one of 14 projects to benefit from a share of the 
£30 million Getting Building Fund (GBF).     

The factory was allocated £4.5 million because it 
was ‘shovel-ready’ and able to help get the local 
economy back on its feet. As the country deals 
with the impact of Covid-19 and the future of the 
UK business environment remains uncertain, 
SELEP also believe that these projects will help 
the industries that are particularly affected by the 
lockdown caused by Covid-19. This funding will 
help accelerate the scaling up of production from 
Factory 2 to enable Swan to manufacture steel 
framed modular housing.   
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Building new homes

At the end of the financial year all 813 homes 
under construction were being constructed by   
NU living. These projects across Essex and East 
London are being delivered using both traditional 
and modern methods of construction and are part 
of our secured development pipeline.  

Modular Housing Update  

We continue to manufacture high quality, 
volumetric modular housing using Cross 
Laminated Timber in our modular housing factory 
in Basildon, Essex. The factory has remained 
operational almost continually throughout 
lockdown and despite Covid-19 safe working 
practices, has produced more than one module a 
day this year, completing 391 modules in the year 
(102 homes). The quality of the modules that the 
controlled factory process is now able to deliver, 
has seen those in the last quarter delivered to site 
with minimal defects. These modules are then 
stored ready for final assembly on site. 

Having completed over 700 homes in the last two 
years, we have moved into the new phases on a 
number of our construction sites including starting 
the first homes at our 2,850-home development at 
Purfleet-on-Thames, whilst continuing with later 
phases of large scale regenerations at Blackwall 
Reach and Beechwood.  

We fund the building of new homes predominantly from sale proceeds of our existing pipeline and 
government grants where available. 

Award shortlistings

Our Laindon Place – Landmark shared ownership 
homes completed this year have been shortlisted 
in the “Best Shared Ownership Development” 
category at the Inside Housing Development 
Awards. The final will be held in November 2021.

    2021
        

     2020
                 

Number of homes under construction 813 675

Number of homes completed 27 708

Sales Completed 342 284

Contracts exchanged 232 197

Sales income generated £106.7m £96.4m
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Newham PFI

We continued to provide Property Management Services to 1,400 homes for Newham Borough Council 
under the Forest Gate PFI Contract. Satisfaction with our Estates Services Team increased to 89% 
reflecting the team's focus on delivering frontline services and additional resident support during the 
pandemic. Satisfaction with services did reduce during the pandemic due to Government restrictions on 
how we are able to support our customers.  

Forest Gate PFI

Corporate Strategy Aim                KPI      2021
               

 Aim 1: Build Customer Trust  Customer Satisfaction Overall satisfaction with 
Landlord’s Services 78% 
(2019/20 87%)   
Target 61%

Aim 2: Provide Safe, Quality Homes Satisfaction with Repairs 75%  (2019/20 76%)  
Target 55%

Aim 4: Build Financial Capacity and 
Resilience 

Amount of additional 
benefits secured for Forest 
Gate Residents

£21,503 (2019/20 £109,341 (*))

      

(*) The Welfare Benefit Officer (WBO) usually holds a benefit surgery one day a week at the Forest Gate office, with the team booking in appointments for staff to 

assist residents with benefit applications etc. These cases are largely identified through pro-active arrears visits and tenancy audits at people’s homes.  This activity 

has not taken place during the year due to Covid-19 restrictions. 

Although the WBO has continued to provide advice over the telephone and to signpost residents to support agencies, if we do not actively assist them with their 

application then it is not recorded as a benefit gain.



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/2132

How we deliver our Social Purpose   

In 2020, during the Covid-19 response, our Board 
worked with the Executive team to develop a new 
Corporate Strategy. Central to that strategy was a 
restatement of our Social Purpose which now is 
clearer than ever:

“To find better ways of doing things so that we 
improve lives and communities. Every day”

The desire to improve lives and wider communities 
drives our people to think creatively and respond 
with tenacity to situations which can be difficult. 
The Covid-19 response demonstrated exactly that 
with our teams adapting their services to really 
support those who needed us and also personally 
contributing to make a real difference as these 
case studies show:

NHS Case study

Swan operate three Key Worker Accommodation 
Schemes that have been specially developed in 
partnership with the NHS to provide high-quality, 
affordable rented housing to NHS key workers and 
those working in the emergency services and 
public sector. The schemes are located in 
Colchester, Broomfield and Oldchurch, with the 
former two on site at their respective hospitals, and 
the latter a five-minute walk from Queen’s Hospital 
and the shuttle bus to King George’s Hospital. All 
accommodation is fully furnished to a high 
standard, and ranges from studio and one-
bedroom flats to shared accommodation and three 
bedroom family houses.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, this 
accommodation has been vital for NHS key 
workers by keeping staff on site, reducing 
commute time and providing a comfortable home 

for those wishing to isolate from shielding family 
members, demonstrating how Swan improve lives 
and communities. Every day. 

Louise Joseph, our Head of Specialist 
Accommodation explains:

“Whilst this has been the most challenging 
year for our keyworker teams, they have 
always managed to adapt services to meet the 
needs of the NHS trusts we serve. Whether that 
was continuing to provide usual NHS staff 
accommodation or providing additional 
Emergency Covid-19 rooms, our team found a 
way to keep the NHS staff feeling at home in 
our schemes and received great feedback.”

“Thank you for all your help this year,” said 
Chris Randall, Associate Director of Finance 
– Financial Governance, BHR Trust Queen's 
Hospital Romford “Your accommodation and 
support meant that we could keep nurses and 

Strategic Report (cont.)
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doctors in the hospital to save patients’ lives; 
so much more to us than just four walls.”

 And some of the customers living in the 
accommodation said:

“On behalf of my wife and I, we would like to 
say a very special thank you to you guys at the 
Swan Housing Association. It’s been nearly 
two years since we got to know you guys and 
you are all truly amazing individuals. You all 
made us feel like family; so kind and friendly 
with great customer service. We want to thank 
you all for everything you have done for us, 
you will always remain close to our hearts.”

We continued to offer strategic support to our 
Partners during lockdown, for example continuing 
to sponsor the fantastic and inclusive work of 
Stratford East Theatre in the London Borough of 
Newham; sponsoring the Mayor’s Christmas 
Lighting up in Basildon, and through our joint 
venture with Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited, 
various community initiatives in Purfleet-on-
Thames.  

Construction Skills case study

As a developer of new homes with 813 homes on 
site as at 31 March 2021, in line with our Social 
Purpose we are committed to enabling people 
within the communities we are working in to benefit 
from employment and skills training and realise 
opportunities that will bring them high quality, long 
term, employment – this is also good for the 
country helping to address the construction skills 
shortage. Activity this year has included:

•  Working with both Essex and Thurrock to 
promote construction employment and training 
opportunities through their new online training 
and employment portal. This year we have 
participated in a film promoting the new Essex 
Portal and created our own film to promote 
recruitment in our factory.    

•  Trialling a Multi Skilled Operator Kickstart 
scheme at the Factory. This allows us to 
partner up with a training provider STC, which 
will train around 7 local residents, aged 18-24 
year olds, who are unemployed and in receipt 
of Universal Credit. The trainees complete a 
three-week college training course and then 
come into our factory where they are 
supervised and trained by us for a maximum of 
6 months. This is currently working well, and 
we will look to take on more cohorts later in the 
year.   

•  In line with our successful Getting Building 
Funding application for funding to accelerate 
the fit out of our second modular housing 
factory, we expect the second factory to deliver 
significant construction skills training outcomes 
in the long term including assisting 144 new 
learners into the construction skills sector. 

In 2021/22 we will:  

•  Launch an ’Award in Construction’ training” 
partnering with the New City College, Tower 
Hamlets aligning with our Blackwall Reach 
phase 2 construction site. This course will offer 
“6 weeks theoretical learning” on key building 
trades followed by “2 weeks work placement” in 
the Blackwall Reach site including the 
Construction Skills Certification Scheme 
(CSCS) card. 15 local residents have enrolled 
in this programme and we will look to roll out 
the same in each year. 

•  Offer 5 apprenticeships on building and 
technical trades working with our repairs 
partner, Axis.    

•  Offer a bespoke construction skills programme 
to support our ongoing regeneration in Purfleet-
on-Thames and Southend-on-Sea with South 
Essex College. 

•  Continue to work with the South Essex 
Construction Training Academy to support our 
traineeship and apprenticeship objectives as 
part of our regeneration programmes. 
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Supporting People to feel at home – 
Foyers and supported living 

Despite the challenges faced by the Care Sector 
during the Covid-19 response our specialist teams 
have delivered safe and effective services to our 
customers throughout the year working in 
partnership with our local authority partners, 
clinical commissioning groups and our health and 
safety advisors to prioritise staff and customer 
safety.

Our Care Teams in the South and North continued 
to provide essential services to older people in 
their homes under their 5* CQC rating obtained in 
2019/20. The Care teams also took part in the 
Essex Care Phone pilot and have supported 92 
people to stay connected (see case study below).

Our accredited Foyer Team continued to work 
onsite across all 3 foyers moving to digital and 
telephone calls providing almost 100 extra calls to 
support the young people each week, as well as 
over 300 ‘in person’ sessions. Many young people 
were feeling very lonely and sometimes confused 
during this time and the team provided a range of 
support activities they could complete in their own 
home. In August 2020, the staff team held the 
“Lock Down Award” by issuing a Swan ‘Saving 
Lives Award’ to acknowledge the young people 
who have followed and continue to follow 
Government guidelines and Foyer rules.

The Enhanced Housing Management team 
continued to support over 200 customers with a 
learning disability living in properties throughout 
Essex. They worked closely with the onsite care 
providers to ensure risks were reduced and 
customers kept safe and well. Weekly calls were 
made via video link to those that were able. In July 
2020 we embarked on delivering a pilot with Essex 
County Council to provide innovative Video 
Carephones to 92 customers. 

Celebrating Jodie's Success

Our Foyers go beyond meeting housing needs, 
they also make a difference to the lives of young 
people, through supporting Foyer residents to 
enter employment.

This year Jodie secured a role as a lollypop 
person, being offered the position on the very 
same day as her interview. The job is a perfect fit 
for her childcare situation, as it enables her to 
balance her working hours with spending quality 
time with her son. 

She is proud to be the first lollypop person to patrol 
the road outside the local school that she has been 
stationed, which had previously been the site of a 
number of accidents. Jodie has found the job 
carries greater importance than she had originally 
expected, with reporting safeguarding and bullying 
issues also part of the remit.  

In securing employment, Jodie has also been a 
source of inspiration for her friendship group, 
inspiring others to apply for new roles. Jodie is 
already looking to the future - she has a 
safeguarding course on the horizon and has 
ambitions of one day making the step to becoming 
a trainer. 

Strategic Report (cont.)
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Working in partnership to use Digital 
First 

Our team worked with Essex County Council to 
deliver an innovative project to help residents stay 
in touch during the pandemic. The Video 
Carephone is an integrated, easy-to-use device 
which enables users to make video calls to pre-
identified services via a locked down tablet and a 
web portal, including getting shopping and other 
essentials through the Help@home service 
provided with the device. We are now using over 
30 devices benefiting 92 individuals which includes 
several of our multiple occupation properties being 
able to share one device. Customers and families 
have both commented on the extra reassurance 
this gave them through lock down.

Our Rapid Response pops, body brace and 
admission avoidance service saw a reduction in 
referrals from the community and the hospital 
discharge hub, mainly due to routine appointments 
being postponed, people not going to A&E or to 
visit GP’s, however the team delivered an extra 
100 referrals to support people to come home from 
hospital who were medically fit to support the 
Covid-19 response. This has helped the Rapid 
Response team to be shortlisted as Team of the 
Year in the South East of England Great British 
Care Awards. The finals were held on 23 July 
2021, with the team winning The Home Care Team 
Award. The judges commended Swan with their 
‘personalised approach, customer satisfaction, 
clear and positive outcomes’. The team will now 
progress to the national finals, in September 2021, 
that pay tribute to organisations and individuals 
who have demonstrated outstanding achievements 
in the care sector. 

Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report – including                   
Streamlined Energy and Carbon 
Report

Environmental, Social and Governance at a 

The Home Care               
Team Award 2021

South East of England  
Great British Care Awards
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ENVIRONMENT

 Climate change  Ecology

Environmental, Social and Governance Report – including                                          
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report

Environmental, Social and Governance at a glance

Our commitment to embedding environmental, social and governance (ESG) behaviours is central to our new Corporate 
Strategy. As an organisation that has always had a clear social purpose, we recognise and welcome the increased focus 
by investment and wider stakeholders on ESG and in understanding the positive impact we are making on the 
Communities in which we work.

Our Board is following closely the development of a standard approach to ESG Reporting for our sector and we have 
drawn together below key metrics that we think is likely to be a standard approach to give a snapshot of our progress and 
aspirations in this important area:

New Homes: All our new homes currently have an 
EPC rating of B. Research indicates that our Category 
1 volumetric modular housing will deliver 40% 
reductions in embodied carbon against traditional 
construction and in addition our new CLT Modular 
Houses at Beechwood are carbon negative for the first 
2 years with 6,295 tonnes of CO2 removed from the 
atmosphere through carbon sequestration (from the 
trees grown to produce our CLT).

Existing Homes:  The average SAP score of Swan’s 
housing stock is 71.2. This compares favourably with 
the England social housing stock average SAP rating 
of 69 and the all-tenure dwelling average of 65 
(‘English Housing Survey 2019 to 2020: headline 
report’, published 17 December 2020).

EPC Band distribution of 7,157 qualifying homes

Notes on EPC Data

Properties included are only those that Swan own and 
manage as the landlord (leaseholder, shared ownership and 
PFI properties are excluded as Swan isn’t responsible for 
maintaining/improving energy performance)

A very small percentage of properties (less than 0.2% of the 
total stock) have also been excluded due to historic issues 
around data accuracy. These properties are being surveyed 
this year. 

Our large-scale redevelopments at Better Queensway, 
Blackwall Reach and Purfleet-on-Thames will deliver 
large scale new public realm and provide over 50,000 
new trees when completed greening significantly the 
urban environment. 

Future Strategy: In line with our Love the Planet aim 
in our Corporate Strategy, we are currently developing 
our new Sustainability Strategy which will include new 
KPI’s around sustainability; commitments to piloting 
zero carbon development and focus on securing 
funding to support retrofitting our existing stock. In 
2021/22 our pilot of electric vehicles will launch. 
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Our Love the Planet work stream in the Corporate strategy sets out 
our ambitions here and will deliver a new Sustainability Strategy in 
2022.
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GOVERNANCE

SOCIAL

Affordability: We provide 9,133 social housing homes 
at significantly below market rent levels including 6,553 
general needs homes; 340 affordable; 839 shared 
ownership; 79 sheltered homes; 908 NHS key worker 
accommodation and 415 other supported housing. We 
manage a further 1,302 social housing homes for 
London Borough of Newham. Our development 
programme is broadly 50% affordable homes.

Safe, High Quality Homes: 97.13% of our homes meet 
Decent Homes Standards – a slight drop from 100% in 
2019/20 due to some residents not being comfortable 
allowing us to carry out works to their home during the 
pandemic. This year we have restructured our building 
safety provision to ensure we are prepared for the 
changes in legislation expected and re-procured our 
fire safety consultants. 100% homes had a gas safety 
certificate in place at year end.

Resident Voice: The number one aim of our new 
Corporate Strategy is Building Customer Trust as this 
will mean that we are competently delivery services, 
that we act with integrity and that we do the right thing. 
We have partnered with the Institute of Customer 
Service Excellence to survey 600 residents this year to 
better understand how we can build that trust.

We have four resident Customer Committee Members 
and seek residents’ views through a range of ways 
including Scrutiny Panels, Resident Consultative 
Committee and a range of informal activities including 
surveys.

Resident Support: We exist to deliver our Social 
Purpose and that involves supporting our residents 
beyond our statutory obligations. This year we called 
almost 3,600 residents who were at risk of isolation 
during Covid-19; we made and received 54,000 calls 
supporting residents to manage their finances; and we 
launched a range of employment and training initiatives 
including a kickstart training programme in our modular 
housing factory.

Placemaking: Our transformative schemes continue to 
put placemaking as a key focus - at Blackwall Reach 
the public realm including public art, new plaza, retail 
and commercial uses opened transforming not just our 
estate but the wider area around the DLR station. We 
secured planning permission for our Better Queensway 
regeneration scheme which will create four new public 

spaces including a large urban park at the centre of the 
scheme. 

Resource Management: Comprehensive monitoring 
and measuring of waste and recycling is carried out at 
all Swan sites. Swan subscribes to BRE’s ‘Smart 
Waste’ Smartwaste Construction Site Waste 
Management Software to enable detailed ‘live’ tracking 
of waste generation and recycling/disposal.

Employee Well-being: We recognise the need to 
maximise our talent to provide the best service to our 
customers. We have increased our focus on wellbeing 
to support all our employees either field based or home 
working and were pleased that we also had a 2% 
increase in the engagement levels that employees felt 
“happy with the balance between work and home life” 
and in employees saying their manager “shares 
knowledge and important information with me.”

Board and its Committees:  Swan has adopted the 
National Housing Federation (NHF) Code of 
Governance 2020 effective 1 April 2021. Prior to 1 April 
2021 and for the purpose of this report, the 2015 NHF 
Code of Governance was adopted. The Corporate 
Governance section later in this report contains further 
details (see page 68).

The Board has adopted Standing Orders, Scheme of 
Delegations and Financial Regulations and has in place 
Committee Terms of Reference, an Intra-Group 
Agreement and a Service Level Agreement to further 
formalise and regulate matters between the Parent, 
and the Group’s Committees and subsidiaries.

Our Board and its Committees comprise members from 
a diverse range of backgrounds and with the range of 
skills, knowledge and experiences appropriate for their 
needs. Membership of the Board and its mix of skills, 
knowledge and experience remains appropriate for the 
Group's needs.

Systems and Risk Management: Our governance 
framework supports the Board in its management of 
risk and its responses to changes in the external 
environment including Covid-19, upcoming legislation 
etc. Swan is registered with the Regulator of Social 
Housing. It is currently rated G2 (Governance) and V2 
(Viability).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report – including                   
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (cont.)

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (SECR):

Context and Scope

Swan’s energy use and the carbon emissions associated with it are reported here in accordance with the 
Government’s Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (SECR) regulations. Our data collection and 
reporting are based on:

• The magnitude of the impact
• Our ability to influence impacts
• Its importance to our business
• Its importance to stakeholders

The scope of our submission is as follows:

• Gas and electricity used in our offices and workplaces
•  Gas and electricity procured for use on our residential operations (e.g. gas for communal heating and 

lighting) 
• Gas, electricity and fuel used on our construction sites
• Fuel used by our transport fleet
• Fuel used by employees for business purposes

The figures below are reported for Swan Housing Group, which includes Swan Housing Association and 
other subsidiary companies. As this is the first year of report, prior year comparatives are not available.

Energy Source     Amount         Unit

Total energy consumption 23,805 GWh

Natural gas 14,307 MWh

Electricity 9,025 MWh

Transport fuel 473 MWh

Carbon Emissions     Amount         Unit

Emissions from combustion of gas 2,631 Tonnes CO2e

Emissions from purchased electricity 2,104 Tonnes CO2e

Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes 116 Tonnes CO2e

Total carbon dioxide equivalent (*) 4,851 Tonnes CO2e

      

* CO2 e is carbon dioxide equivalent, the standard unit for reporting which accounts for other greenhouse gases in 
addition to carbon dioxide (CO2).
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Two intensity ratios have been calculated to enable us to benchmark current impacts and gauge changes in 
the future: 

1. 0.42 tonnes CO2e per number of homes managed (11,655 social homes owned and managed)

2. 0.39 tonnes CO2e per number of homes managed and units under construction (11,655 homes 
managed, plus 800 under construction)

It should be noted that we expect to carry out normalisation work in next years' report to account for the 
effect the Covid-19 pandemic will have had on energy use and resultant carbon emissions, as activity levels 
across our operations increase and our second modular factory becomes operational.

Methodology

Emissions have been calculated using the relevant conversion factors provided by the UK Government, 
multiplying the total of each fuel type by its defined carbon intensity to give a figure in carbon dioxide 
equivalent (CO2e)2.  

Managing our impacts

Our environmental impacts are controlled by an environmental management system, monitored and 
externally audited to the ISO14001 (2015) standard. The company is committed to the continual 
improvement of its environmental performance and therefore will ensure it is openly reported against our 
environmental targets. The Head of Sustainability is responsible for our Environmental Management System 
and the Executive Team are kept regularly updated.

Energy efficiency and carbon reduction 

A range of improvements have been made in recent years, driven by our Environmental Sustainability 
Strategy (2016-2021). These include energy saving switch-off schemes rolled out across offices to challenge 
staff behaviour and reduce energy consumption, promoting use of our cycle to work scheme to reduce 
impact on getting to and from the office, and reviewing our leased vehicle fleet with a view to procuring 
low-carbon alternatives (a pilot electric van scheme is due to commence in Autumn 2021).

We have committed to refreshing our approach in 2021-22 and will be rolling out a number of initiatives to 
reduce our impacts across the organisations' activities. This ambition is embedded in our Corporate Strategy 
2020-23, driven by a dedicated ‘Love the Planet’ workstream. A new detailed, multi-year Environmental 
Sustainability Strategy is also being produced to define the scale of our ambitions and the actions we will 
take to achieve them. 

[2]   Government conversion factors for company reporting of greenhouse gas emissions: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-

company-reporting
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Financial and Risk Management 

Treasury Management 

The Group’s treasury management policy is to 
ensure there is adequate liquidity to meet liabilities 
as they fall due, ensure borrowing covenant 
compliance, arrange and manage short term 
funding for development projects and the longer 
strategic funding for the Group.

Where the Group has liquidity, interest rate, 
counterparty and refinance risk, the treasury 
management policy dictates how these should be 
managed.

Capital Structure, facilities and liquidity

The Group uses project specific debt, undrawn 
existing facilities and retained earnings to fund 
existing and new development projects. Before a 
new project is approved by the Board to start on 
site, it is required to be fully funded from either new 
debt or shown that the Group has sufficient 
resources to fund the project. During the annual 
business planning process, stress testing is done 
on the Group’s cashflow to ensure that projects 
can still be delivered in the event of adverse 
internal and external events. 

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had facilities and 
drawn debt with the following lenders (see table 
next page).

There has been a reduction in the Lloyds facility of 
£2m in the year due to the amortising profile of one 
of the tranches. Both the Natwest and Lloyds 
facilities contain Revolving Credit Facilities (RCF) 
which have been drawn and repaid during the year 
to manage surplus cash.  

The RBS PFI loan amortises over the life of the 
contract with the current amortisation rate of £2m 
per annum. 

Security

Bank facilities and the bond are secured on the 
SHA housing assets. As at the end of 2021 there 
were over 2,000 unencumbered homes.

Credit Rating

In November 2020, Standard & Poors updated 
Swan’s credit rating to BBB with a stable outlook. A 
further review in April 2021 affirmed this rating. A 
copy of the research updates can be found in the 
Investors Information section of the Corporate 
website3 .

[3] https://www.swan.org.uk/corporate/investors-information

Strategic Report (cont.)

https://www.swan.org.uk/corporate/investors-information


Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 41

Source
Borrower

        

 Facility
2021 

£m 

Drawn
2021 

£m

  Facility
2020 

£m

Drawn
2021 

£m

Natwest facilities SHA 138 138 138 108

Lloyds facilities SHA 138 113 140 137

Bank Loan Total 276 251 278 244

Bond SHC(1) 250 235 250 235

Bank & Bond Total 526 486 528 479

RBS PFI SHA 40 22 40 24

GLA Loans SNH(2) 50 50 79 79

HCAi Loan SHF(3) 30 30 30 23

Total Debt 646 588 677 605

Cash (94) (96)

Net Debt 494 509

Finance Leases 3 3

Financial Instruments at fair value 60 75

Bond issue premium and costs 4 3

Other 2 2

Balance sheet net debt 563 592
      

(1)   Swan Housing Capital (SHC) is the issuing entity for the Bond, which is then on-lent to SHA

(2)    The GLA has lent £50 million to fund the development of the Blackwall Reach regeneration project and £29m to fund the development at Cambridge Road.  

During the year the Cambridge Road loan was repaid

(3)    Swan Housing Finance (SHF) is the borrowing entity for a £30m facility from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCAi).  This facility is on-lent to             

Swan Commercial Services (SCS), the developer at Laindon and to Swan New Homes (SNH), the developer at Beechwood Village.
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Covenants

SHA has three loan covenants which cover the 
banking facilities and bond.

1.  Net Debt per unit – restricts the net debt SHA 
can hold. It is dependent on the number of 
social housing homes owned by SHA

2.  Interest cover – restricts how much debt can 
be serviced through interest in proportion to 
the Group’s cash generation. 

3.  Asset cover – borrowings are secured on 
social housing assets. The discounted value 
of these assets is required to be greater than 
borrowings.

As at 31 March 2021, SHA was compliant with all 
its covenants. The business plan shows that the 
Group expects to remain covenant compliant with 
these covenants throughout the 30-year life of the 
plan. 

Development loans from HCAi and the GLA in 
SHA’s commercial subsidiaries have a number of 
covenants appropriate to the type of activity being 
undertaken. 

Cross default clauses exist in SHA’s loan 
agreements in relation to Financial Indebtedness 
of other members of the Group. 

Interest risk

The majority of borrowings in SHA are at fixed 
rates of interest using, embedded swaps and the 
fixed rate bond. Where borrowings are at a 
floating rate, the impact of movements in interest 
rates has been scenario tested.

There are two fixed rate interest swaps which 
have a callable option by the lender. In the event 
the lender exercises the option, the loan will 
convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate product.  
Due to the fixed rate of these options, it is not 
considered likely that the lender will exercise the 
option. However, the likelihood of this is reviewed 
based on the forward three month Libor swap rate, 
which will provide an indication the Group does 
not have any non-Sterling or exchange rate 
exposures in the balance sheet. 

Strategic Report (cont.)
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Events during the year 

During the year an RCF was restructured from an 
amortising repayment profile starting in 2021 and 
ending in 2025 to a bullet repayment in 2025.

Discussions with lenders where interest is based 
on LIBOR have started on the transition to SONIA 
as the basis for interest. This is expected to 
conclude ahead of 31 December 2021, when 
LIBOR will cease to be published, with the 
expectation of a cost neutral outcome in relation to 
future interest payments. 

The Group has an agreement to provide a junior 
loan facility of £4.5m and a £18.1m revolving 
credit facility to Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited (PCRL). The junior loan facility had been 
fully drawn in previous years. During the year 
ending 31 March 2021, £12.6m (2020: £10.5m) of 
the revolving credit facility was drawn. A further 
£1.1m (2020: £1.1m) of interest has been 
capitalised on the junior loan facility and £2.2m 
(2020: £1.5m) capitalised on the revolving credit 
facility during the year.

The Group also has an agreement to provide a 
£15.0m junior loan facility to Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP. As at 31 March 2021 
£2.25m (2020: £0.75m) of the junior loan was 
drawn with £35k (2020: £2k) interest paid.  
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Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Group has a well-developed principal risks 
and uncertainties management system and an 
embedded culture of risk management. The 
Group’s Risk Management Strategy clearly 
defines its risk appetite and the role of the Board, 
Audit and Risk Committee, Managers and Staff.  

Through risk management the Group:

•  embeds risk assessment and risk management 
into the culture of the organisation;

•  carries out risk assessments on all departments 
and significant projects;

•  monitors the overall impact of risks to ensure 
that the overall level of risk remains within 
acceptable limits;

•  minimises losses, injury and damage and 
reduce the cost of risk;

•  ensures appropriate mitigating actions are 
taken to address identified risks;

•  reviews key risks at Board, Audit and Risk 
Committee and Senior Management Team; and

•  reviews and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually.

During the year, the Board has developed and 
implemented a robust response to the Covid-19 
pandemic delivering a continuation of service to 
our customers, the delivery of new homes and 
remote working solutions for staff. As the lock 
down restrictions begin to ease, the Covid-19 
response will continue to be reviewed and where 
lessons have been learnt these have been 
incorporated into any future similar type 
lockdowns, either at a local or national level. 

The Group maintains a risk register with over 160 
identified risks, these risks are reviewed regularly. 
The table aside sets out the key strategic risks for 
the Group which are owned and monitored by the 
Board. These risks have been heightened by 
Covid-19 and include the material direct and 
indirect risks arising from ongoing disruptions due 
to Brexit.

Strategic Report (cont.)
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Key Risk  Controls and Mitigations

•  Failure to comply with property health 
and safety standards / expectations

•  Robust Group health and safety policy and 
procedures in place, monitored and publicised

•  Comprehensive reporting on health and safety at 
all levels including Board

•  In-house health and safety team formed 
supported by external consultants

•  Fire safety sub-group to review and mitigate 
specific risks

•  Cash/liquidity shortfall arising from 
adverse market sales income

•  Increase in build costs significantly 
reduces the scale of development 
programme 

•  Weekly sales progression report, monitored by 
the Executive Team to ensure business plan 
assumptions are delivered

•  Monthly development project meetings to review 
cash forecasts and programmes 

•  Well established cash flow forecasting and 
business planning process with regular 
monitoring by management and the Board

•  Effective scenario planning including multi-
variance analysis and mitigation strategies

• Covid-19 specific stress testing for Board

•  Covenant breach as a result of one or 
more key risks materialising

•  Regular, robust and transparent stress-testing of 
business plan and covenant compliance including 
Covid19 specific scenarios

• Our “Golden rules” include triggers for action

•  Counter Party Risk - construction 
contractors, key sub-contractors, and 
JV partners

• Ongoing due diligence of counter parties
•  Business continuity policy, business interruption 

planning and exit strategies in place
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Key Risk Controls and Mitigations

•  Failure to understand customer needs 
and priorities, to enable effective 
services and accountability to 
residents of all tenures

•  Customer experience model in place and 
responsive to feedback from customers and 
changes to regulations

•  Move toward digital offering for customers where 
appropriate‘Count me in’ involvement and 
communities strategy and customer care policy in 
place

•  Failure to meet regulatory 
expectations

•  Change in government policy 
materially impacts strategic approach 
to delivery

•  Regular horizon scanning of environment 
including regulatory changes and priorities, 
reported at each board meeting

•  Dedicated Governance team to support the 
Group

•  Covid-19 operational response surveys 
completed since March 2020

•  Investment in current stock 
significantly increases, resulting in 
financial stress and/or impairment

•  Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) have taken place 
on tall buildings and surveys on other buildings 
where relevant

•  We are in the process of assessing costs and 
programme to remediate areas identified by the 
FRAs

•  Where available, apply for funding or claim from 
contractors for remediation costs

•  Ongoing discussions with stakeholders on the 
impact of remediation costs

•  Regular, robust and transparent stress-testing of 
business plan 

•  Horizon scanning for further information on 
significant policy changes

•  Investment in new IT systems do not 
support transformation to modern 
styles of working as intended

•  Robust management of the roll out of digital 
self-service and agile working

•  Transparent monitoring and reporting of progress 
against our implementation plan

Strategic Report (cont.)
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Key Risk Controls and Mitigations

•  Data integrity compromised due to a 
cyber-security breach/fraud resulting 
in financial loss

•  Working towards Government accredited cyber 
essentials compliance

•  Annual staff training including cyber security and 
GDPR

•  Segregation of duties to protect against payment 
fraud

•  Breakdown in relationships with key 
business stakeholders and partners

• Annual communications and events plan
•  Timely and accurate data returns to statutory, 

regulatory and stakeholder bodies

•  Lack of affordable project finance 
available

•  Treasury management policy in place to identify, 
monitor and control risks

•  Routine scanning of lenders and grant funding 
available using specialist treasury advisors

•  Inadequate skills, competencies and 
behaviours

•  Regular Board skills audit, training programme 
and succession planning

• Development and training plans for staff

•  Significant increase in SHPS deficit 
contributions in a 'last man standing' 
arrangement

•  Regular monitoring of deficit contributions, deep 
dive scheduled following next triennial valuation 
review in 2021

• Regular monitoring of scheme participants
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Value for Money

The new Corporate Strategy (2020-2023), 
launched in October 2020, has started to be 
implemented, with project teams and objectives 
identified to deliver the seven strategic aims;

1. Build customer trust

2. Maximise our talent
3. Provide safe, high quality homes
4. Build financial capacity and resilience
5. Love the planet
6. Deliver digital first
7. Grow responsibly

These aims will address the points raised in our 
most recent Regulatory Judgement, published in 
January 2020 (G2,V2)4 . The rating was reaffirmed 
in January 20215. Throughout the seven aims is 
the concept of Value for Money (VfM) and the 
drive to operate efficiently and effectively, making 
the best use of our resources to deliver Swan’s 
mission – To deliver brilliant customer care and 
great places to call home. 

The Value for Money Standard 2018

The standard came into effect from 1 April 2018 
and set out revised requirements with regards to 
value for money. This section of our annual report 
seeks to publish the required evidence to enable 
stakeholders to understand our performance 
against the regulators and our own VfM metrics, 
how that performance compares to peers and 
measurable plans to address any areas of 
underperformance, including clearly stating any 
areas where improvements would not be 

[4] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judge-

ment-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judge-

ment-swan-housing-association-limited-29-january-2020

[5] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judge-

ment-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judge-

ment-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021

appropriate and the rationale for this. Specifically, 
the standard requires Registered Providers to 
demonstrate: 

• a robust approach to achieving VfM
•   regular and appropriate consideration by the 

Board of potential value for money gains
•   consideration of value for money across the 

whole business including non-social housing 
activity

•   they have appropriate targets in place for 
measuring performance in achieving VfM in 
delivering their strategic objectives and that 
these are regularly monitored and reported.

Swan’s Value for Money Strategy     
2018 – 2021

For Swan, VfM means obtaining the best value 
from available resources to allow us to deliver 
better services, more homes and effective 
communities both in terms of quantity and quality 
and the social value provided.

The key elements to our approach are set out in 
our Strategy and in summary are to:

•   have a clear Corporate Strategy which sets out 
our strategic objectives

•  have a framework of strategies, plans, policies, 
processes and procedures that ensure optimal 
benefit is derived from resources and assets

•  ensure we invest in the right assets, including 
human resources at the right price

•  ensure our services and outputs are customer 
driven and that there is economic, efficient and 
effective delivery

•  achieve the right outcomes, including social 
value which is at the heart of everything we do

•   reinvest value for money gains so we can 
achieve more

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited--3/current-regulatory-judgement-swan-housing-association-limited-27-january-2021


Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 49

VfM is embedded throughout the Group. The 
Board has overall responsibility for delivering the 
Value for Money Strategy and ensuring its 
principles are applied in the delivery of services, 
strategic planning and investment decisions.  

The Customer Committee agrees and monitors 
operational service reviews to drive continuous 
improvement. Appraisals for the delivery of new 
homes are considered by the Development 
Committee to ensure they align with our 
investment strategy and our Corporate Strategy 
ambitions. The Audit & Risk Committee regularly 
ask our Internal Auditors to review our approach to 
VfM with the most recent audit in March 2019 
providing ‘substantial assurance’ that VfM is 
embedded in the organisation. Our Internal 
Auditors have a three-year rolling programme, 
unless otherwise required, with the next review of 
our VfM approach being March 2022.

Our customers have a key role in assessing and 
enhancing VfM. The Residents’ Consultative 
Committees review performance on a monthly 
basis and are directly involved in the policy setting 
process. In addition, the Residents’ Scrutiny Panel 
carry out detailed service reviews and provide a 
sounding board for new VfM initiatives and service 
improvement programmes.

VfM is embedded throughout our decision-making 
process, strategies and policies. Our procurement, 
portfolio management, asset management, 
regeneration and development, environmental 
sustainability, people, treasury and count me in 
strategies are all key components in our overall 
approach to achieving VfM.

The Board, on the basis of the framework and the 
reporting below, is assured that Swan Housing 
Association meets the requirements of the 2018 
VFM Standard.

Swan’s approach to delivering        
Value for Money

We have continued to use our VfM framework, 
which is split into seven key areas of activity, to 
provide a structure for recording outcomes and 
testing whether the objectives of the strategy are 
being met.  

Value for Money achievements 

We have a clear Corporate Strategy and a robust 
approach to decision making through our Group 
Investment Framework that allows us to consider 
VfM across the whole business and ensure that 
we understand the risks and rewards of the 
activities we undertake. We have refreshed our 
targets and reporting framework to allow us to 
monitor and report our performance against the 
new Corporate Strategy to the Board.  

The year in review has seen further achievements 
against the plans set out last year. A summary of 
these is included in each of the following sections.

Our key focus continues to be understanding our 
performance and costs relative to our peers and 
the sector as a whole.

managing our 
finances

planning 
our funding

assessing
comparative

costs and 
performance

maximising 
return on 

assets

effective 
procurement

Improving 
services 
through 

resident and 
service user 
involvement

investment in 
development 

and new 
business
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Assessing comparative costs and 
performance

RSH Value for Money metrics

We analyse the Regulator's seven Value for 
Money financial metrics alongside our own 
additional metrics to measure our economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness enabling us to 
understand our performance and continuously test 
that value for money is embedded in all our 
decision making.

We consider the following factors together with our 
strategic objectives when reviewing the 
Regulator’s metrics:

• actual performance trend,
•  current year performance compared to the 

business plan (BP) set by our Board and trends 
for the next two business plan years; and

•  past, current and future performance compared 
to our peer group and the sector median

The first graphic for each metric below assists with 
our assessment against each of these factors: 

•  blue bars show our actual performance over 
time, 

•  yellow bars represent our business plan for the 
2021/22 and a projection for the next two years 
based on the plan; and 

•  purple, green and red bars illustrate the March 
21 business plan presented in last year’s 
Annual Report as a base for measuring actual 
performance against plan, March 2020 
weighted average of our peer group and the 
sector median respectively.

Our peer group is made up of 20 housing 
associations who are based in the East of England 
and London with between 5,000 and 30,000 
homes. Last year the peer group was 22 housing 
associations who are based in the East of England 
and London with between 5,000 and 20,000 
homes. However, there have been two mergers 
during the year. One of the mergers has created a 
group with 27,000 homes but for the purpose of 
comparison with Swan, has been included on the 
assumption that efficiencies from the merger will 
not have fully been realised so remains a peer.

Value for Money (cont.)
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Metric 1: Reinvestment % - A measure of how much has been spent on new and improving existing 
homes as a percentage of the cost of all homes owned by the Housing Association.

Whilst Swan will always invest in existing homes to maintain them to the levels we have set, the spend on 
new homes is highly dependent on development projects.  Due to the cyclical nature of these, especially 
large regeneration schemes which may have multi phases where the concentration of private or social 
housing can vary, this measure sees large variances on an annual basis and when compared to peers. 
The relatively young average age of 24 years for Swan’s stock is also a factor in our benchmark trends 
being lower.

During the year Swan recognised £8 million of capital spend to existing homes, despite the challenges of 
Covid-19 restrictions and social distancing.  The average spend in the financial years 2018 to 2020 was 
£5 million. The investment in new homes in the year was £18.5 million, less than previous years due to 
the phasing of development activities but higher than the business plan for March 2021 due to 
construction delays attributable to Covid-19. 
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Metric 2A: New supply delivered (social housing units)% - A measure of how many new social housing 
homes have been added to the portfolio as a percentage of the total number of social housing homes.  
These are usually added through development projects.

During the year, 14 new social housing units were completed at the Landmark site, Laindon. The 
business plan assumed 82 new homes would be handed over, however, 61 of these related to Watts 
Grove which are now assumed to hand over in the next two years.

During FY 22, we are forecasting the completion of 91 homes, with 67 affordable rented homes at 
Blackwall 2 and in FY 23 the completion of 210 homes.

Value for Money (cont.)
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Metric 2B: New supply delivered (non-social housing units)% - A measure of how many private for 
sale homes have been completed in the year as a percentage of the number of social housing homes 
Swan owns. These are completed through development projects. Profits from the sale of these homes 
are used to fund the delivery of additional social housing homes

During the year, 13 homes were completed at Beechwood Village, Basildon.  Actual sales in the year 
were 222 homes, but these include homes which had been completed in the 2020 financial year. Over 
the next three years, the business plan shows that 622 homes for private sale will be completed across a 
number of sites, including Beechwood Village, Basildon -330, Blackwall 2, Tower Hamlets -154 and 
Laindon Place, Laindon – 138.

Our structure and strategy are predicated on delivering non-social housing units on mixed tenure 
development schemes to create cross subsidy for the affordable units, this contributes to some years 
being substantially ahead of the sector and our peer group. Through our investment framework we 
ensure the volume of non-social housing units remains within our risk appetite whilst optimising the 
number of new homes we deliver.
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Metric 3: Gearing% - A measure of how how much borrowing Swan has as a proportion of the value of 
social housing assets. The borrowing figure includes those held in commercial subsidiaries for 
development projects.

During the year over £100m of sales income has been received in SNH and SHA from the sales of private and 
shared ownership homes.  This inflow of cash has contributed to the reduction in net debt by £14 million and when 
taken with the increase in the value of the underlying housing stock of £15 million, has reduced gearing by 3 
percentage points.

The balance of the £100m sales income has been reinvested in existing development projects and general working 
capital across the Group. 

The slowdown in the development activity due to Covid-19 has resulted in the year end outturn being better than the 
March 21 business plan.

Swan’s debt includes project specific funding in subsidiary companies from both the GLA and Homes England. We 
understand our gearing levels are higher than our peers and the sector. Our aim is to utilise our asset base in line 
with our risk appetite to maximise the provision of new homes and maintain existing homes and services.

The reduction in gearing in FY 22 is due to sales income at the Beechwood, Basildon development project.  The 
sale proceeds from these homes are used to reduce our net debt.  This project is being delivered via our modular 
factory which enables us to manage cost pressures. 

The Busines Plan also assumed the sale of the equity in 400 Shared Ownership homes.  On 13 August 2021, SHA 
disposed of the retained equity in 247 Shared Ownership homes for gross proceeds of £38.4m. The balance of the 
planned equity disposal is on track for delivery by the end of FY22.

Value for Money (cont.)



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 55

Metric 4: EBITDA MRI Interest Cover% - A measure of how much cash the organisation generates 
which can then be used to service debt. Major repair costs (MRI) are included in the figures as is the 
profit from the sale of private homes. 

The outturn for the year is lower than the March 21 business plan due to a lower than forecast operating surplus.  
The profit on sale of homes has been adversely impacted by delays in completions due to Covid-19 and there have 
been cost increases as part of cladding inspections, changes to designs and general delays whilst External Wall 
Surveys (EWS1) forms are produced. 

Both our Peers (168% to 125%) and the Sector (184% to 170%) have seen significant decreases in this metric 
when compared to last year, indicating as reported in the sector risk profile and global accounts that operating 
surpluses have decreased across the sector.

The March 22 business plan figure is marginally below 100% due to the timing of private sales proceeds in Swan 
New Homes from Blackwall Reach Phase 2. This metric is calculated at a Group level and does not cause a breach 
in the housing association’s loan covenants. Where developments recognise capitalised interest, either from internal 
or external sources, these are recognised in the EBITDA – MRI figure. A year which has a low sales income forecast 
but a large investment in the development programme, with related high interest costs, can produce a result such as 
the March 22 BP figure.  This is offset by the following forecast year with has over 300% where the investment in 
building new homes is converted to sales income and ultimately EBITDA with cash proceeds being used to repay 
debt and reducing interest.  In this year the numerator, EBITDA-MRI has increased and the denominator, Interest, 
has decreased.

Whilst it is the intention when planning the development programme to avoid such large variations in the metrics, 
delays due to Covid-19, Brexit and changes to building safety regulations have altered the delivery programme. The 
foundations for the programme were set several years in the past as each one may need planning, design and 
construction which have impact on the expected timetable. 
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Metric 5: Headline social housing cost per unit -  A measure of how much it costs Swan to service a 
social home, including repairs and maintenance, service charges and management fees.

The headline social housing cost per unit has seen an increase in the year compared to 2020, with 
further increases expected in the business plan.  When compared to the March 21 business plan the 
actual costs for the year are £703 more per home. The March 21 Business Plan included an assumption 
that the repairs and maintenance costs would benefit from cost savings and forced deferred costs due to 
Covid-19. During the year, we have managed to keep repairs and maintenance activity broadly 
unaffected by Covid-19, albeit repairs and maintenance tasks have been made more difficult, taken 
longer and incurred additional costs due to social distancing restrictions. 

During the year, total costs have increased by c£1m, or under 2%. In the March 22 business plan, an 
assumption of the disposal of c400 Shared Ownership homes has been included, which has resulted in 
the fixed overhead costs for the Group being allocated over fewer homes, hence the increase in cost per 
social housing unit.  There has also been an increase in overall costs in 2022 and future business plan 
years when compared to the 2021 actual costs, including increased spend on repairs and maintenance 
and the rollout of costs relating to the new Corporate Strategy.  Finally, there have been a number of 
one-off credits in 2021 which are not expected to repeat in the future, such as a rates rebate for the head 
office and a higher than forecast VAT recovery.

The peer (£4,445 to £4,787) and sector (£3,690 to £3,835) comparisons have increased by £342 and 
£145 in the year respectively, indicating a general trend of increases in costs for managing homes. 

When compared to our peers and the wider sector our costs are higher per home. However, Swan has 
certain costs which are not typical to the peer group or wider sector, including:

Value for Money (cont.)
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• a PFI contract in Forest Gate,
• supporting people contracts; and
•  ACM cladding replacement cost provision and waking watch costs (which are expensed as incurred 

and therefore included in the social housing cost per unit), not all peers or sector housing associations 
will have these types of buildings.

When these costs are removed from the Swan cost base, including the homes within the PFI contract, 
the revised Metric 5 graph is:

The Peer and Sector 2020 figures have been included for reference.

Without the PFI, Supporting Housing and Waking Watch / ACM provision costs, Swan’s actual cost per 
unit over the last three years has been below that of its peers yet still above the sector median. 

The increase in cost basis for business plan years has been covered earlier and with the decrease in the 
number of homes due to the planned sale of 400 Shared Ownership homes, the average cost has 
increased above the Peer group average. 

This increase in costs is a planned strategy and whilst it implies the Group is an outlier when compared 
to peers, it should be noted that these benchmarks are not likely to fully reflect the full impact of 
increased costs to maintain existing stock until next year.

The benefit to the Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance footprint as well as Environmental and 
Green activities makes this sustainable and strategic investment core to how Swan moves forward in the 
changing economic and social environment in which we operate. 
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Metric 6A: Operating Margin (social housing lettings)% - A measure of the how much operating 
surplus is generated from the social housing letting income as a percentage. 

Despite a gradual decrease in margin over the last three years, the Group’s performance is markedly 
better than peers and the sector. This is mainly because of the way the Group’s indirect overhead costs 
are allocated.  Due to the number of other social housing and non-social housing activities undertaken by 
the Group which are allocated an element of the Management Costs, this results in an outturn margin 
which is not comparable to less complex peers and sector operators. 

2024 BP sees an increase in margin as it is assumed waking watch costs have ceased and the benefit 
from the Corporate Strategy VfM savings are crystalising.

Value for Money (cont.)
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Metric 6B: Operating Margin (overall)% - A measure of how much operating surplus has been 
generated by the Group from its turnover as a percentage. 

As shown in metric 6A, the core group activity generates a margin of over 40%. Once other activities are 
brought into the calculation, such as the sale of private homes which typically have lower margins, there 
is a dilution of core margin. The margin is further diluted at a Group level by the recognition of a £1.9m 
impairment at the Laindon Centre, Laindon. This development is held in Swan Commercial Services.

The dilution, especially in relation to private sale income, will depend on the volume of sales, if the sales 
are in London or Essex and the margin of the development. 

Sales in FY22 are predominantly houses in Essex whilst FY 23 includes a mix of apartments in London 
and houses in Essex. Unit sales in London tend to generate superior margin returns to Essex mainly due 
to higher market values in the capital.

Where peers and the sector have a lower proportion of revenue from private sales, these have a lower 
dilution of their core social housing margin. 
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Metric 7: Return on capital employed % - A measure of how much operating surplus has been 
generated from the Group’s assets as a percentage. This includes profits from commercial activities such 
as the sale of private homes. 

Return on capital employed is in line with our peers and below the sector.  Where we are forecasting a 
strong London based sales activity, such as in 2023, we expect the margin to double. 

The operating surplus in the year was below that of the 2021 business plan due to increases in costs 
related to Covid-19 and a reduction in operating surplus from private home sales as discussed in metric 4 
and metric 5.

Value for Money (cont.)
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Swan’s bespoke Value for Money 
Metrics

In addition to the Regulator’s metrics we also track 
the following measures to monitor the efficient and 
effective delivery of our strategic aims and 
objectives.

• New homes pipeline
• Cumulative profits from commercial activities
•  Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest 

cover 
• Customer satisfaction
• Operational – arrears and voids 
• Employee engagement

Due to the impact of Covid-19, the annual Top 
Employee Times 100 engagement survey did not 
take place.  Customer satisfaction has been 
covered in the Aim 1 – Build Customer Trust 
section of the report.

New homes pipeline

The business plan has the delivery of the following 
homes over the life of the development plan.

•  Committed – currently under construction or will 
commence shortly.

•  Uncommitted – a site identified or purchased 
but work has not yet started on site.

•  Joint Venture – homes delivered through one of 
our joint venture arrangements.

During the year we completed 14 private homes 
for sale and 14 social housing homes. This was a 
low output when compared to previous years, but 
the phasing of the different development projects 
on site, as well as the impact of Covid-19 has 
caused the low output.  Whilst there continues to 
be a risks to the delivery of the development 
programme due to Covid-19 from both a supply of 
materials and labour as well as the opportunities 
of our customers to visit our marketing suites and 
complete their purchases, we have risk mitigation 
policies in place to reduce the impact of these 
events to the successful delivery of our pipeline.

Committed
        

Uncommitted Joint ventures   Total

Social housing 187 318 - 505

Shared ownership 278 271 120 669

Non-social housing 704 365 - 1,069

Total 1,169 954 120 2,243
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Cumulative profits from commercial activities

Commercial activities commenced in 2011 and have delivered £86.0 million to the Group since then in 
the form of Gift Aid payments.  The core commercial activity is the sale of private homes. These profits 
have been used by the Housing Association to deliver additional improvements and services to existing 
customers and new social housing.

Gift aid payments are made in the year following the recognition of the profit in the commercial 
subsidiary, profits made in the reported year to 31 March 2021 are shown in the graph below in the 
2021/22 business plan column.

As mentioned earlier, FY2021/22 private sales (profit will be distributed in FY2022/23) are predominantly 
Essex houses which are not expected to make a distributable profit in the year due to delays and 
increased costs caused by a combination of Brexit and Covid-19. The following year (FY2022/23 profit 
distributed in FY2023/24) includes the sale of private homes at Blackwall Reach which, when taken with 
other sales, is forecast to deliver £45.5m, the highest annual payment since 2011. 

Value for Money (cont.)
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Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest cover 

Both interest cover and debt per unit are calculated as per the funding loan agreements.  The method for 
calculating the interest cover is different to that of metric 5, which looks at the whole group.  The loan 
covenant only looks to the Housing Association’s results, as it is the Housing Association which the 
lenders with the covenants have lent to.

Both the interest cover and debt per unit covenants are compliant with the facilities minimum interest 
cover and maximum debt per unit.  The spike in interest cover in FY23 is due to the sales at Blackwall 
Reach as discussed elsewhere.  

FY19(Act)
        

FY20(Act) FY21(Act) FY22(BP) FY23(BP) FY24(BP)

Interest Cover (max 110%) 189% 188% 181% 173% 429% 162%

Debt per unit (max £55,000) £47,446 £47,015 £48,217 £50,082 £43,922 £48,650

      

Operational – arrears and voids 

Despite the challenges of Covid-19, arrears were 2.26% at the end of the financial year (FY 2020 1.96%).  
Where possible, we have supported our residents to enable them to access government funding and 
benefits. Operational voids were an average of 18.5 days (FY2020 14.5 days).  At the end of the year, 
there were 23 homes which were void.   
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Effective Procurement 

Our Procurement Strategy in place during the year 
was revised and signed off by the Board at its' 
May 2021 meeting.  The new strategy builds on 
the previous one and is designed to ensure the 
services we procure are economic, efficient and 
effective.

We have a long-term partnering agreement with 
Axis Europe for all our standard repairs and 
maintenance activities which allows for longer 
term service planning and a commitment to 
continuous improvement in both service delivery 
and efficiency. 

Our revised approach to recruitment, led by the 
in-house team, has delivered significant cost 
savings to date of £0.6m over the last two financial 
years.

Procured 2020/21:

Fire Risk Assessment Associated works and 
services – this element of work was re-procured 
via the South East Consortium’s framework 
agreement, with FFT being appointed.

External Wall Fire Review (EWS1) services - this 
element of work was re-procured with Tri-Fire 
being appointed.

Legal services through membership of the 
Housing Association Legal Alliance Framework 
(HALA) – following a cost estimate from 
consultants of £50k to set up a Swan Legal 
Services Dynamic Purchasing System through the 
Proactis on-line portal, a better value for money 
route was agreed – with Swan joining the Housing 
Association Legal Alliance Framework. 

Estate Agency Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) – sales agents – this was set up on Swan’s 
Proactis portal, initially to let work in relation to 
sales agents on the Blackwall Reach Phase 2 

project in Tower Hamlets but with the option to use 
on future developments as well. 

Corporate Strategy Project – Build Customer Trust 
workstream - Customer journey mapping (how 
customers interact with Swan) consultant – MEL 
Research Ltd were appointed via the Crown 
Commercial Services framework.

Building Cost Review Services – Cost Consultant / 
Employer’s Agent Calford Seaden appointed to 
provide 3rd part review of costs in depth at the 
Beechwood and Laindon projects in Basildon and 
to provide a cost overview of other live projects.

Plan to procure/re-procure 2021/22:

Sub-contractor Dynamic Purchasing Systems 
– via the Swan Proactis portal for construction 
sub-contractors, construction services and factory 
suppliers. 

Estate services window cleaning -  Will either be 
advertised via Swan Proactis portal or accessed 
through free to use external framework. 

Recruitment framework –Permanent staffing 
recruitment is done through the in-house People 
Team.

Mobile telephony framework – current contract is 
due for re-procurement in 2021/22– the free to use 
NHS framework is to be accessed for this 
procurement.

Insurance brokerage – arrangements are in place 
to the end of March 2022 for insurances across 
the business – a review of best options is 
underway but it will be via an external free to use 
framework.

IT Support & Infrastructure Services  -  IT 
helpdesk, building networks, data centre & 
security services – all are due for re-procurement 
by April 2022. 

Value for Money (cont.)
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Maximising our return on assets 

We have three key documents which guide the Group’s decision making in maintaining and investing in 
new homes. These are, Asset Management Strategies, Portfolio Management Strategies and our Group 
Investment Framework.  The Asset Management and Portfolio Management Strategy documents covered 
2016 – 2021 and will be replaced during FY 2022, incorporating the changes in Fire Safety and best 
practices as advised by Government agencies. 

The table below shows the return on our main property asset groups for the year.  We have seen modest 
increases in the values of General Needs and Shared Ownership homes as new homes have been 
handed over and investment in existing homes taken place during the year.   

Our NHS Keyworker homes have been in high demand due to increased staffing requirements at the 
hospitals they support as a result of Covid-19.  This has resulted in lower voids rates and despite 
additional staffing costs incurred to ensure we were able to deliver the highest standard of customer 
service to the Keyworkers, we recognised an increase in operating surplus in the year.

During the year we disposed of a further two homes in North Essex in accordance with the stock 
rationalising proposal included in the Portfolio Management Strategy.  We will continue to review our 
homes and where there are opportunities to dispose, swap or change tenure, these will be reviewed on 
best customer service for our residents, financial viability and Corporate Strategy. 

2020/21 2019/20

Return on property 
assets

Operating 
Surplus

£'000s
        

Value of 
Assets(*)

£'000s

Return on 
Assets

%

Operating 
Surplus

£'000s

Value of 
Assets(*)

£'000s

Return on 
Assets

%

General Needs 23,322 599,156 4.1 24,999 597,781 4.2

Shared Ownership 1,709 98,238 0.8 1,141 94,285 1.2

NHS Keyworker 1,680 41,483 4.0 1,603 42,625 3.8

      

(*) Value of Assets based on UK GAAP including FRS102 net book value which is cost less depreciation and excluding grant received
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Managing our Finances 

We continue to adopt a zero-based approach to 
budget setting, so we ensure our spending plans 
for the year ahead are aligned to our Corporate 
Strategy and operational plans. Our performance 
against budget is reviewed monthly with budget 
holders and at every Board meeting to ensure we 
are transparent with our financial reporting both 
operationally and strategically.

Planning our Funding 

Our Treasury Strategy ensures we understand our 
future funding requirements, so we can allocate 
resources to deliver our Corporate Strategy as 
effectively as possible by minimising borrowing 
costs and manage our exposure to the risks of 
refinancing and interest rate rises. 

During the year we repaid a £29 million loan that 
the GLA had lent to support the delivery of 
Cambridge Road. 

The Group Investment Strategy ensures we have 
a standardised approach to appraising new 
investments across the Group, so projects can be 
appraised on a consistent basis and the 
opportunity cost of investment decisions can be 
considered.

We update our 30-year business plan annually 
and have evolved our approach to the stress 
testing methodology we put in place last year. 
Through single and multivariate scenarios and 
sensitivity analysis we understand the risks we are 
exposed to across the Group and have plans in 
place to mitigate the impact should those risks 
materialise.

Investment in development and new 
business

We see investment in our development and new 
business activities as a key part of our Corporate 

Strategy.  Through this activity we can contribute 
to much needed housing supply across all tenure 
types and reinvest the additional resources 
generated to support both our existing and future 
customers.

During the year Cambridge Road and Blackwall 
1b were delivered and despite the challenges 
brought about by Covid-19 restrictions, the 
majority of the private homes were sold by the 
year end. 

We have completed Fire Risk Assessments 
(FRAs) on all our buildings over 18 meters high 
and have had surveys completed on buildings 
under 18 meters where required.  Where 
remediation work is required, we are appointing 
specialists to detail what needs to be done and 
tendering the work to contracting parties.  

During the year our commercial activities delivered 
£5.8 million of surplus back to the Housing 
Association and we are forecasting a further £5.0 
million in FY 2022. 

Our off-site manufacturing facility was approaching 
optimum capacity by the end of the financial year 
and we have invested in a second facility to 
support the delivery of our pipeline and widen the 
range of construction methodologies. 

We sold 20 private homes at Blackwall Reach to 
Linq Investors Limited (LIL), a property investment 
company. In addition to selling homes to LIL, 
Swan New Homes purchased 12.5% of the voting 
shares of LIL, to further benefit from the long-term 
economic returns of the homes sold.  This method 
of disposal, along with the long-term benefits of 
the equity investment, has provided an additional 
pathway for the sale of private homes we build. 

Using our in-house delivery method as well as 
phasing larger development projects provides 
flexibility on when to start on site and retains the 
option to slow down or pause developments.  

Value for Money (cont.)
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Development projects are funded from grant and 
recycled private sale proceeds.  The Group is 
therefore able to ensure that a project, or phase of 
a project, is fully funded before commencing. This 
flexibility provides additional risk mitigation during 
disruption caused post Brexit and Covid-19.

Our latest business plan demonstrates a reduced 
exposure to the housing market and the related 
private sales risks over the coming years. This is 
due to a significant increase in the proportion of 
affordable housing units in our pipeline, which has 
been facilitated by securing strategic partnerships 
with both Homes England and the GLA, whose 
support and flexibility has been invaluable during 
business disruptions due to Covid-19.

Improving our services through 
resident and service user involvement

Our customers are at the heart of everything we 
do.  This year we delivered year one of our new 
‘Count Me in Strategy’, setting out our commitment 
to customer involvement, developing sustainable 
communities and meeting our Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) objectives. 

This strategy and our performance improvement 
framework ensure that we seek to champion our 
residents’ voice and build community cohesion, by 
empowering customers to be more active in their 
local communications. We continue to utilise our 
London and Essex Resident Consultative 
Committees (RCCs) for customers to set priorities, 
challenge performance, participate in decision 
making and have a framework for continual 
service improvement. 

We also strive to provide a strategic and            
coordinated approach to employment and training 
that enables us to develop a Swan ‘offer’ for 
customers. 

During the year we have continued to use and 
refine ‘live chat’ for customers to raise queries and 

receive an almost instant reply. We also retained 
our Customer Service Excellence accreditation 
during the year.

We digitised our engagement and community 
development processes to be able to support our 
customers during Covid-19 and identified and 
called over 1000 customers who might require 
extra help during both lockdowns.

During the next year we intend to embed our new 
Corporate Strategy which will be delivered via 
robust customer engagement allowing customers 
to shape and influence all parts of the business.
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Corporate Governance

At the end of the financial year, the Parent Board 
(‘Board’) comprised eight members, six of whom 
are Non-Executive Board Members and the 
balance Swan Executive Directors.

In accordance with the requirements of the 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard, the 
Association is required to adopt and comply with 
an appropriate code of governance. Swan has 
adopted the National Housing Federation (NHF) 
Code of Governance 2020 effective 1 April 2021. 
We have conducted a gap analysis against the 
new Code which has been reported to the Board.  
The gap analysis will be monitored, updated and 
regularly reported to Board with a view to 
providing a self-assessment of full compliance 
when we report for the financial year 2021/22.  

For the financial year 2020/21, the Association has 
operated under and has assessed itself against 
the NHF Code of Governance 2015 and the NHF 
Code of Conduct 2012. No areas of non-
compliance have been identified. 

In accordance with the underlying “comply or 
explain” principle of such Codes, this section of 
the report seeks to provide detail about:

• The Board and its Role
• Board Effectiveness
• Relations with Stakeholders
• How the Board Operates

The Board is committed to adherence to such 
Codes and to high standards of conduct. Following 
its regular review, and self-assessment of 
compliance, it can again report compliance with 
the Codes during the year. 

Report of the Board

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Registered 
Society under the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014. The Rules of the 
Association remain its principal document of 
constitution and regulate various matters including 
the Board, its powers and its role. The Board has 
adopted Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations 
and Financial Regulations and has in place 
Committee Terms of Reference and an intra-
Group Agreement and a Service Level Agreement 
to further formalise and regulate matters between 
the Parent, and the Group’s Committees and 
subsidiaries. These documents are subject to 
regular review and updated upon relevant 
regulatory or legislative changes. 

Swan Housing Association Limited and its largest 
commercial subsidiary, Swan New Homes Limited 
operate an ‘overlapped' board structure which is 
intended to best integrate the Group’s governance 
arrangements. Its main purpose is to ensure that 
decision making is as cohesive, efficient and 
effective as it can be and ensure that the Group 
can best operate with a shared purpose and 
vision, with Parent oversight at all times.  The 
Swan HA Board has three independent Board 
Members (which is sufficient to form a quorum 
under Swan HA’s Rules) and meets the 
requirements of the Charity Commission Guidance 
for charities with a connection to a non-charity in 
this respect. The Guidance states that there 
should be enough charity trustees who are not 
affected by a conflict of interest so they can if 
needed, make decisions without the participation 
of these who are conflicted. Management of any 
potential/actual conflicts are addressed in the 
Group’s Conflict of Interest Policy. 
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The Board's role is to provide strategic direction 
and to govern, control and scrutinise the 
Association’s and the Group’s operations. 
Changes in Board membership during the year 
are detailed on page 3 of these Financial 
Statements. There were no changes to the Board 
composition during the year aside from Geoffrey 
Pearce being appointed as an Executive Board 
member effective from 7 May 2020 as previously 
reported in the 2020 annual report. Pat Billingham 
was appointed as a Board Member on 6 May 2021 
and will take over as Chair on 1 October when the 
current Chair retires on 30 September 2021.

The Board and its Committees comprise members 
from a diverse range of backgrounds and with the 
range of skills, knowledge and experiences 
appropriate for their needs. Membership of the 
Board and its mix of skills, knowledge and 
experience remains appropriate for the Group's 
needs. Profiles of the non-executive Board 
members can be viewed on Swan Housing 
Association Limited’s website (www.swan.org.uk). 

Board membership is usually for two three-year 
terms with a further three-year extension possible 
only in exceptional circumstances. 

Board members have formal service agreements, 
are expected to devote the necessary time to 
prepare for and attend all Board meetings and the 
meetings of those Committees of which they are 
members, together with appropriate training, 
appraisal and other review meetings. Members 
are paid as detailed in the Board Remuneration 
section below. 

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance for its Board members, 
Committee members and officers, which is 
renewed and reported to Board annually. The 
Board is given access to independent professional 
advice at the Group’s expense when the Board so 
requires.

Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates on the 
performance of the Group’s businesses, the legal 
and the regulatory environments in which they 
operate and developments in their sectors through 
briefings included in Board papers or other 
presentations.

The Board completed its annual review of 
combined and individual member performance 
during the year. The outcomes from this process 
were captured on the Board’s effectiveness review 
action plan. Progress has been monitored by the 
Board with all actions completed. The Board from 
time to time gathers together for training and 
development activity and to consider wider issues 
such as the development of the new Corporate 
Strategy 2020-23 and Swan’s response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  All Board Members 
undertake annual mandatory e-learning on a 
variety of topics and individual members may 
undertake training or development activity as 
identified by them or in their annual evaluations. 
From time to time group training sessions are 
provided to Board and Committee Members on 
key legislative and regulatory matters. 

Once the government restrictions due to Covid-19 
have been lifted and it is safe to do so, we will 
resume the annual tours where Board Members 
are able to visit locations and regeneration sites of 
the Group, enabling them to meet some of our 
customers. New Board or Committee Members 
will undertake this tour as part of their induction 
process.

http://www.swan.org.uk
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Report of the Board (cont.)

How the Board Operates 

The Board’s Standing Orders, Scheme of 
Delegations, Code of Conduct and Financial 
Regulations codify various matters for the better 
operation of the Group’s business and within 
which it expressly reserves specified significant 
matters for its sole decision. The Board meets 
regularly and has established a number of 
Committees to which the Board has delegated 
certain responsibilities under formal Terms of 
Reference. The Board also meets with the 
Executive Directors regularly during the year.

The Board has met regularly (virtually) during the 
pandemic, including special Board meetings being 
held during the early stages of the pandemic to 
address risk areas.  The Committees, (other than 
the Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
and the newly formed Investment Committee), 
have also met four or five times each. The 
meetings held during the year and the attendance 
of individual members at each is detailed below. 
Each entry is displayed as a fraction, which has 
the number of meetings actually attended as the 
numerator and the number of meetings held and 
which could have been attended as the 
denominator. Board and Committee members 
have on-line access via a Board portal to all 
papers for the appropriate meetings and hence 
can access them even if they have made been 
unable to attend. Membership of Committees will 
continue to be reviewed and determined annually 
by the Board of Swan Housing Association 
Limited, as Parent. Some Committee 
appointments involve independent non-Board 
members, recruited for their relevant skill sets. 

Relations with Stakeholders

The principal stakeholders of the Group are its 
customers, employees, local authorities, key 
suppliers, lenders, the Greater London Authority, 
the Regulator of Social Housing and Care Quality 
Commission in respect of their regulatory activity 
and Homes England in respect of its investment 
activity and funders. Our customers are 
represented through the Board’s Customer 
Committee, the responsibilities of which are 
detailed below in the section ‘How the Board 
Operates’. The operations of the Association are 
regulated primarily by the Regulator of Social 
Housing, but also in part by the Care Quality 
Commission. There has been continued dialogue 
with the Regulator of Social Housing during the 
year regarding our Governance Rating of G2 and 
the strategy to improve to G1, which is ongoing.

As noted above, occasionally the Board has the 
opportunity to meet our customers and obtains 
feedback from various customer facing bodies 
including the Resident Scrutiny Panel and the 
Resident Consultation Committees, which are not 
Committees of the Board. For 2021/22, the 
customer engagement structure has been 
reviewed and amended to ensure that customer 
feedback and engagement is embedded 
throughout the organisation.

Relations with employees are managed through 
the Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders 
are also primarily managed through the Executive 
Directors. 
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Valerie Owen OBE (Swan HA Chair) 14/14

7/7
2/2 

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 14/14

6/7
6/6 2/2 

John Synnuck 14/14

7/7

Geoff Pearce (appointed 07/05/2020) 13/13

2/2

Steve Akeju 14/14

6/7
6/6 2/2 

Elizabeth Sipiere 14/14

7/7
5/5

Devan Bala 14/14

7/7
6/6 2/2 

Jane Bristow 13/14

7/7
5/5

Committee members who are not Board members:

Doug McCann (retired 30/10/20) 4/4

Sara Dickinson (appointed 01/11/20) 2/2

Hugh Titcomb 6/6

Simon Hardwick 6/6

Simon Harden (Chair of SNH Board) 7/7 6/6

Phillippa Cardno 5/6

Claire O’Shaughnessy (resigned 10/12/20) 3/5

Kobirul Islam 5/5

Rod Lamb 5/5

Mayuri Parmar 5/5

Beverley Neufville 5/5

Glyn Kyle (retired 30/10/20) 3/3

Peter Brooks (retired 30/10/20) 3/3

      

* There were 14 regular and seven additional special Board meetings 

(Covid-19 meetings) called at the start of the pandemic.
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Customer Committee

In light of the Social Housing White Paper and the 
‘Building a Safer Future’ reform of the building 
safety regulatory system, the former Operations 
Committee remit was reviewed and a new 
Customer Committee was formed with new Terms 
of Reference to reflect the increased focus on our 
customers.  The Customer Committee provides 
oversight and scrutiny of customer service and 
engagement as well as overseeing housing 
management operations. The Committee currently 
comprises six members, two from the main Board, 
Elizabeth Sipiere (Chair) and Jane Bristow and 
four residents namely, Kobirul Islam, Rod Lamb, 
Mayuri Parmar and Beverley Neufville. The 
Committee meets at least four times per year.

Development Committee

This Committee oversees the Group’s 
development of new homes and influences and 
develops new growth strategies for consideration 
by the Board. It actively monitors the performance 
of the Group’s development, construction, sales 
programmes and modular factory. The Committee 
comprises up to five members, two from the main 
Board namely Steve Akeju (Chair) and Simon 
Harden (Chair of Swan New Homes Board) and 
up to three  independents, namely Simon 
Hardwick, Phillippa Cardno and Claire 
O’Shaughnessy (resigned 30 November 2020). It 
meets at least four times per year.

Investment Committee 

This Committee was established during the 
financial year to oversee and scrutinise the 
Group’s investment activities. The Committee 
comprises three Board Members namely; Jane 
Bristow (Chair), Peter Baynham and Simon 
Harden with an independent member to be 
brought in to provide specific technical input.  

A brief overview of the constitution of the 
Committees is given below. Other panels and 
working groups are formed as considered 
appropriate to deal with particular issues as they 
arise.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of four 
members, two of whom are Board members, 
currently Devan Bala (Chair) and Peter Baynham 
and two independent members, Hugh Titcomb and 
Sara Dickinson. Sara Dickinson resigned from the 
Audit and Risk Committee in July 2021.  The 
Committee plans to meet at least four times per 
year. It receives reports from the external and 
internal auditors and reviews the processes for 
audit and risk management. The Committee is 
chaired by a member of the Board, who is not the 
Chair of the Board of Swan Housing Association 
Limited.

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

This Committee comprises of four members of the 
Swan Housing Association Board. During the year 
2020/21 the members of the Committee were 
Peter Baynham (Committee Chair), Valerie Owen, 
Devan Bala and Jane Bristow. During the year the 
Committee Members (with the exception of the 
Board Chair) met as a Chair Appointments Panel 
and led on the Chair recruitment process, 
recommending the preferred shortlisted 
candidates to the Board. This process led to the 
successful appointment of Pat Billingham as 
Board Member from 6 May 2021 and as Chair 
from 1 October 2021. 

It continues to meet at least annually and 
considers Board structure and appointments, the 
working arrangements and remuneration of the 
Board, Chief Executive and Executive Directors. 
The Committee is chaired by a member of the 
Board who is not the Chair of the Board of Swan 
Housing Association Limited.

Report of the Board (cont.)
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Declarations of Interest

All Board and Committee Members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at 
meetings where potential issues may arise. 
Individuals with a relevant interest are required to 
leave the meeting, unless requested otherwise by 
the Board/Committee membership, and in any 
event do not vote on the issue concerned. A 
Conflicts of Interest Policy is in place and reviewed 
on a regular basis. 

Board Remuneration

The Board has determined, following independent 
advice and benchmarking, that it is appropriate, 
and continues to be appropriate, that Board 
Members should be paid for their time and 
dedication. Committee Members who are not 
Board Members also receive fees for their 
services. The annual fees paid to Board Members 
in position during the year are set out below. In 
addition, Board Members are reimbursed for any 
expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and 
in attending Board or Committee meetings. The 
remuneration of those Board Members who are 
also Executive Directors is shown in note 5 to the 
financial statements.

Non-Executive Board Members: £

Valerie Owen (Chair) 22,500

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 14,500 

Steve Akeju 12,250

Simon Harden (Chair SNH Board) 10,750

Elizabeth Sipiere 12,250

Devan Bala 12,250

Jane Bristow 10,750

Non-Executive Board Members Total 95,250 

Committee Members who are not 
Board Members: £

Glyn Kyle (retired 31/10/20) 3,135

Peter Brooks (retired 31/10/20) 3,135

Doug McCann (retired 31/10/20) 3,135

Simon Hardwick                                                                                                                                   5,375

Kobirul Islam                                                                                                             5,375

Hugh Titcomb 5,375

Beverley Neufville 5,375

Phillippa Cardno 5,375

Claire O’Shaughnessy (resigned 
30/11/20)

3,583

Rod Lamb 5,375

Mayuri Parmar 5,375

Sara Dickinson (appointed 01/11/20) 2,240

Committee Members Total 52,853

Non-Executive Board and Committee 
Members Total

148,103

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% (2020: 0.1%) of the 
Group annual turnover.
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development policies for all staff;
•  established authorisation and appraisal 

procedures for significant new initiatives and 
commitments;

•  a sophisticated approach to treasury 
management which is subject to review each 
year;

•  regular reporting to the appropriate committee 
on key business objectives, targets and 
outcomes;

•  Board approved whistleblowing, anti-bribery, 
anti-theft and corruption policies;

•  Board approved Financial Regulations, 
including anti-fraud policy, covering prevention, 
detection and reporting, together with 
recoverability of assets; and

•  regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The Group currently has various systems in place 
to record its assets and liabilities and these are 
reviewed and monitored regularly to ensure that 
the main register is kept up to date.

Going Concern

The Group’s business activities, its current 
financial position, and factors likely to affect its 
future development are set out within the Strategic 
Report (including a summary of the Group’s key 
risks). 

The Group has in place long-term debt facilities 
which provide adequate resources to finance 
committed reinvestment and development 
programmes, along with the Group’s day to day 
operations. The base case shows sufficient cash 
headroom available to the group throughout the 
assessment period. As at 31 March 2021 the 
group had cash balances of £94m and a further 
£58m of undrawn loan facilities. 

The Group’s long-term business plan, which 

Board’s statement on the annual review 
of the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control systems

The Board has continued to place emphasis on 
the Regulator of Social Housing’s (RSH) 
Regulatory Framework which has applied since 
April 2015. During the year the Regulator 
reaffirmed the Group’s G2 / V2 rating. The rating 
of G2 is a compliant grade, with some aspects of 
improvement highlighted by the Regulator. The 
Board have developed a G2 to G1 improvement 
action plan which is being reviewed at every 
Board meeting, with the aim of regaining G1 
status. 

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives, and to provide 
reasonable assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. 

The process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Group 
is ongoing, has been in place throughout the 
period commencing 1 April 2020 up to the date of 
approval of the report and financial statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

•  Board approved terms of reference and 
delegated authorities for Board committees;

•  clearly defined management responsibilities for 
the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks;

•  robust strategic and business planning 
processes, with detailed financial budgets and 
forecasts;

•  formal recruitment, retention, training and 

Report of the Board (cont.)
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costs across operational and development 
activities

• Increases in interest rates 
• Write down of investments in joint ventures
•  Delays and reductions in sales values for private 

homes and shared ownership homes
•  Unforeseen events which require a one-off 

payment or investment of a material amount.

The Group has a number of mitigation options 
available to respond to the above events, ensuring it 
remains covenant compliant and has sufficient liquid 
resources, including:

•  Disposing of housing or other assets to generate 
cash

•  Pausing or slowing down non-essential repairs 
and maintenance

• Reviewing non-core activities
•  Slowing down or pausing development activities 

to preserve liquidity
• Changing the tenure mix of developments 
•  Request temporary changes or waivers to 

covenant testing
• Request an interest holiday from lenders
•  Reduce discretionary spend, such as consultancy, 

professional fees, conferences and events
• Request suppliers extend payment terms

On 13 August 2021, SHA disposed of the retained 
equity in 247 Shared Ownership homes for gross 
proceeds of £38.4m.  The proceeds from the 
disposal have strengthen the Groups liquidity and 
supports delivery of the Corporate Strategy

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, being a period of at least twelve 
months after the date on which the report and 
financial statements are signed.  For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in the 
financial statements.

includes proactive action in relation to mitigating the 
financial impact of Covid19, Brexit and the evolving 
requirements to remediate our existing buildings to 
meet new building safety regulations and 
decarbonisation targets, demonstrates that it is able 
to service these debt facilities whilst continuing to 
comply with lenders’ loan covenants. 

Whilst the board have based their assessment of 
going concern on the long-term business plan, the 
assessment of going concern made by the board in 
approving these financial statements, covers the 
period to 31 March 2023.

The business plan has been subject to a wide range 
of individual and multi-variate stress tests which 
include, but are not limited to, the financial impact 
should the key risks set out in the Strategic Report 
materialise. 

Specifically, the Group has stress tested on-going 
disruptions to sales income, materials, labour and 
related resources as a result of the post Brexit period 
and Covid-19.  The core housing association activity, 
being the provision of affordable housing and related 
services, is well insulated from the financial impacts 
of Covid-19 and Brexit. 

However, the construction area of the Group does 
use suppliers based in the European Union and has 
seen some disruption from these suppliers.  
However, through careful supply chain and 
programme management, these disruptions have 
been managed though recognising lead times will 
increase and there may be instances where 
materials will need to be sourced locally. 

The individual and multi-variate stress tests which 
have been considered include:

• Impact of inflation and rent reductions
•  Investment in existing homes due to changes in 

regulations
•  Key supplier failure and material increases in 
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Statement of Compliance

In accordance with the requirements of the 
Accounting Direction for private registered 
providers of social housing (2019), the Board 
certify that Swan Housing Association Limited has 
complied with the RSH’s Governance and 
Financial Viability Standard.

In preparing the Strategic Report and this Report 
of the Board, the Board has followed the principles 
set out in the Statement of Recommended 
Practice: Accounting for registered social housing 
providers (‘SORP 2018’) and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of 
Social Housing 2019.

Internal Audit Function

The Group purchases an internal audit service. 
This work has been carried out in accordance with 
the Institute of Internal Auditors’ Standards and 
Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group 
Audit and Risk Committee on the system of 
internal controls, with an opinion as to the 
adequacy and effectiveness of key internal control 
systems. The internal auditor attends the Group 
Audit and Risk Committee to present reports and 
to report on management progress in 
implementing agreed recommendations. 

The internal audit is planned, based on the results 
of a risk-based audit needs assessment. A rolling 
programme is undertaken to cover the whole of 
the Group’s system of control.

External Audit

The work of the external auditor has been 
conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) and their audit opinion 
is contained within these financial statements. 

Any material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal controls identified during 
the course of the audit are reported to the Group’s 
Audit and Risk Committee and an action plan to 
address the weakness is agreed. No material 
control weaknesses have been identified during 
the year.

Auditor

The auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be 
deemed to be re-appointed in accordance with 
section 93 of the Co-Operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014.

Report of the Board (cont.)



The board is responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
group and association and enable it to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing (2019). It 
is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the association and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The board are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the association's website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

The Strategic Report, Value For Money Report 
and Report of the Board were approved by the 
Board on 8 September 2021 and signed on its 
behalf by:

John Synnuck 
Chief Executive

Statement of Responsibilities of the 
Board for the Report and Financial 
Statements

The board is responsible for preparing the report 
and financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society 
legislation requires the board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law 
the board have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable 
laws), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland. Under the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Society legislation the board must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs and surplus or deficit of the 
association and group for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the board are required 
to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and apply 
them consistently;

•  make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP) Accounting by Registered 
Housing Providers 2018, have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the association will continue in 
business.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Swan Housing Association Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited (the ‘parent society’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year 
ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, the Association Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the 
Association Statement of Changes in Reserves, 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, 
the Association Statement of Financial Position, 
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and 
notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102; The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and parent society's affairs as at 31 
March 2021 and of the group’s and parent 
society's income and expenditure for the year 
then ended; 

•  have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008, and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of 
Social Housing 2019.

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and report in accordance with regulations 

made under that Act.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section of our 
report. We are independent of the society in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible for concluding on the 
appropriateness of the board’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the group and 
parent society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the group or parent society 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

In our evaluation of the board’s conclusions, we 
considered the inherent risks associated with the 
group’s and parent society’s business model 
including effects arising from macro-economic 
uncertainties such as Brexit and Covid-19, we 
assessed and challenged the reasonableness of 
estimates made by the board and the related 
disclosures and analysed how those risks might 
affect the board’s financial resources or ability to 
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continue operations over the going concern 
period.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have 
not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the 
group’s and parent society’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the board’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 
the financial statements is appropriate. 

The responsibilities of the board with respect to 
going concern are described in the 
‘Responsibilities of board for the financial 
statements’ section of this report.

Other information

The board is responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of 
the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report 
that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 requires us 
to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  a satisfactory system of control over 
transactions has not been maintained; or

•  the parent society has not kept proper 
accounting records;

•  the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the books of account; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.
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Responsibilities of the board for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Board's Responsibilities set out on page 60, the 
board is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board is 
responsible for assessing the group’s and parent 
society’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the board either intend to 
liquidate the group or parent society or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit 
was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations. We 
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, 
outlined above, to detect material misstatements 
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing 
to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that material misstatements in 
the financial statements may not be detected, 
even though the audit is properly planned and 
performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK). 

The extent to which our procedures are capable of 
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed 
below: 

•  We obtained an understanding of the legal and 
regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 
group and parent society and determined that 
the most significant which are directly relevant 
to specific assertions in the financial statements 
are those related to the reporting framework 
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’,  
Housing SORP 2018, Accounting Direction for 
Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 
2019, Co-operative and Communities Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 and National Housing 
Federation’s 2015 Governance Code.

•  We assessed the susceptibility of the entity’s 
financial statements to material misstatement, 
including how fraud might occur and the risk of 
management override of controls. Audit 
procedures performed by the engagement 
team included:

 ○  Identifying and assessing the design 

Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Swan Housing Association Limited (cont.)
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effectiveness of controls management has 
in place to prevent and detect fraud;

 ○  Challenge assumptions and judgements 
made by management in its significant 
accounting estimates;

 ○ Identifying and testing journal entries; and
 ○  Identifying and testing related party 

transactions.

•  Assessment of the appropriateness of the 
collective competence and capabilities of the 
engagement team included consideration of the 
engagement team's understanding of, and 
practical experience with audit engagements of 
a similar nature and complexity through 
appropriate training and participation. 

•  In assessing the potential risks of material 
misstatement, we obtained an understanding 
of:

 ○  the group and parent society's operations, 
including the nature of its revenue sources 
and of its objectives and strategies to 
understand the classes of transactions, 
account balances, expected financial 
statement disclosures and business risks 
that may result in risks of material 
misstatement; and

 ○  the group and parent society's control 
environment, including management’s 
knowledge of relevant laws and regulations 
and how the company is complying with 
those laws and regulations, the adequacy 
of procedures for authorisation of 
transactions, and procedures to ensure that 
possible breaches of law and regulations 
are appropriately resolved. 

•  We enquired of management and the Board of 
Directors about the group’s policies and 
procedures relating to the identification, 
evaluation and compliance with laws and 
regulations and the detection and response to 
the risks of fraud and the establishment of 

internal controls to mitigate risks related to 
fraud or noncompliance with laws and 
regulations.

•  We enquired of management and the Board of 
Directors, whether they were aware of any 
instances or noncompliance with laws and 
regulations or whether they had any knowledge 
of actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 

•  These audit procedures were designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements were free from fraud or error. 
However, detecting irregularities that result 
from fraud is inherently more difficult than 
detecting those that result from error, as those 
irregularities that result from fraud may involve 
collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or 
intentional misrepresentations.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the society's 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
regulations made under Sections 87 and 98(7) of 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the society's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
society and the society's members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed     
   

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
London 
21 September 2021
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Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

Notes 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 190,605 170,456

Operating costs 3 (162,647) (141,040)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets 3 659 3,206

Operating surplus 3 28,617 32,622

Share of loss from joint venture 15 (21) (9)

Interest receivable and similar income 8 3,719 2,670

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (14,450) (13,469)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 15,031 (14,562)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 32,896 7,252

Tax credit on surplus on ordinary activities 11 63 85

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 32,959 7,336

Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 (4,104) 3,210

Total comprehensive income for the year 28,855 10,547
      

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 8 September 2021 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Association Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

Notes 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 102,490 93,431

Operating costs 3 (74,344) (68,601)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets 3 659 3,206

Operating surplus 3 28,805 28,036

Interest receivable and similar income 8 4,299 4,037

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (18,685) (17,444)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 15,031 (14,562)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 29,450 67

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 - -

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 29,450 67

Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 (4,104) 3,210

Total comprehensive income for the year 25,346 3,277
      

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 8 September 2021 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of  
Changes in Reserves

Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 31 March 2019 - 68,868 165,791 234,659

Surplus for the year - 7,336 - 7,336

Other comprehensive income for the year - 3,210 - 3,210

Total comprehensive income for the year - 10,546 - 10,546

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 1,873 (1,873) -

Balance as at 31 March 2020 - 81,287 163,918 245,205

Surplus for the year - 32,959 - 32,959

Other comprehensive income for the year - (4,104) - (4,104)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 28,855 - 28,855

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 1,459 (1,459) -

Balance as at 31 March 2021 - 111,601 162,459 274,060
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Association Statement of  
Changes in Reserves

Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 31 March 2019 - 72,649 165,791 238,440

Surplus for the year - 67 - 67

Other comprehensive income for the year - 3,210 - 3,210

Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,277 - 3,277

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 1,873 (1,873) -

Balance as at 31 March 2020 - 77,799 163,918 241,717

Surplus for the year - 29,450 - 29,450

Other comprehensive income for the year - (4,104) - (4,104)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 25,346 - 25,346

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 
expenditure reserve

- 1,459 (1,459) -

Balance as at 31 March 2021 - 104,604 162,459 267,063
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible assets 12 4,043 3,544

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 780,013 772,059

Other tangible fixed assets 14 9,278 8,841

Investment in joint venture 15 30,673 23,548

Investement in associates 15 2,412 -

826,419 807,992

Current Assets

Stock and properties held for sale 16 166,713 181,164

Debtors due within one year 17a 19,965 13,491

Debtors due after one year 17b 23,465 25,921

Cash at bank and in hand 93,929 95,750

304,072 316,326

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (72,620) (79,694)

Net current assets 231,452 236,632

Total assets less current liabilities 1,057,871 1,044,624

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (759,033) (774,378)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (6,743) (3,230)

Other provisions 20 (18,035) (21,811)

Total net assets 274,060 245,205

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 21 111,601 81,287

Revaluation reserve 21 162,459 163,918

Total capital and reserves 274,060 245,205
      

Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 8 September 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Notes 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible assets 12 3,561 3,014

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 786,730 778,351

Other tangible fixed assets 14 6,741 7,131

Investments 15 81,200 70,800

878,232 859,296

Current Assets

Properties held for sale 16 14,165 24,067

Debtors due within one year 17a 22,865 14,000

Debtors due after one year 17b 22,379 24,921

Cash at bank and in hand 49,983 58,160

109,392 121,148

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (28,288) (36,815)

Net current assets 81,104 84,333

Total assets less current liabilities 959,336 943,629

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (677,460) (688,629)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (6,743) (3,230)

Other provisions 20 (8,070) (10,053)

Total net assets 267,063 241,717

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 21 104,604 77,799

Revaluation reserve 21 162,459 163,918

Total capital and reserves 267,063 241,717
      

Association Statement of  
Financial Position

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 8 September 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows

Notes 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities A 72,126 90,082

Corporation tax paid - -

72,126 90,082

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (28,005) (57,800)

Purchase of other tangible fixed assets (1,782) (3,164)

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (896) (1,580)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 1,522 5,888

Subsequent loans to joint venture (3,600) (1,097)

Investment in Associate (2,412) -

Grants received 293 3,019

Interest received 139 102

(34,741) (54,632)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (22,311) (23,179)

New secured loans and bond proceeds received 72,253 52,560

Loan issue costs paid - (91)

Premium on retained bond issue - 4,059

Repayments of borrowings (89,148) (2,481)

(39,206) 30,868

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,821) 66,318

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 95,750 29,432

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 93,929 95,750
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2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year 32,959 7,336

Add back non-cash items:

Depreciation 9,229 8,552

Impairment 9,390 -

Amortisation 431 121

Increase in debtors (3,905) (3,137)

(Decrease)/ increase in creditors  7,573 (3,541)

(Decrease)/ increase in provision (3,775) 16,511

Surplus on sale of housing assets (659) (3,206)

Pension costs less contribution payable (661) (666)

Share of loss from joint venture 21 9

Interest payable and similar charges 14,450 13,469

Interest receivable and similar income (3,719) (2,670)

Tax credit (77) (85)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (15,031) 14,562

Movement in stock and properties for sale 25,900 42,827

Cash generated from operations 72,126 90,082
      

Note A to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows (cont.)

At 1 April 
2020

Cash flows  Fair Value 
movement

Other 
non-cash 

movement

At March 
2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash 95,750 (1,821) - - 93,929

Housing loans due within one year (1,040) 1,040 - (1,039) (1,039)

PFI loan due within one year (1,983) 1,983 - (2,808) (2,808)

GLA loan due within one year (29,125) 29,125 - - -

Finance Leases (3,024) - - - (3,024)

Housing loans due greater than one 
year

(243,028) (8,000) - 1,039 (249,989)

Bond due greater than one year (235,000) - - - (235,000)

Bond issue premium and costs (3,483) - - (18) (3,501)

Financial instruments at fair value (75,451) - 15,031 - (60,420)

GLA loans due greater than one year (50,000) - - - (50,000)

Homes England loan due greater 
than one year

(23,473) (7,253) - (1,157) (31,883)

PFI loan due greater than one year (22,400) - - 2,808 (19,592)

Total (592,257) 15,074 15,031 (1,175) (563,327)
      

Note B to the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows – 
Analysis of Net Debt
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Legal Status

Swan Housing Association Limited is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 and is a registered provider of social housing.

At 31 March 2021 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

The jointly controlled entities are:

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

*** 50% partnership between Swan BQ Limited and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

All of the Group’s subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entity’s registered office is Pilgrim House, High Street, 
Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

The associate entity is:

Swan New Homes Limited holds 12.5% of shares with voting rights of Linq Investors Limited and can appoint two 
directors from a total of six. 

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales

Hera Management Services Limited* Property management England and Wales

Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales

Swan Housing Capital Plc Treasury England and Wales

Swan Housing Finance Limited Treasury England and Wales

Swan BQ Limited Investment holding company England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property development England and Wales

Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP***

Regeneration partnership England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Linq Investors Limited Buying and selling of own real 
estate

England and Wales
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2. Principal Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Group and 
Association have been prepared in accordance 
with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(‘UK GAAP’) including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 (‘FRS102’) and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice for Registered Social 
Landlords 2018 (‘Housing SORP’) and comply with 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2019.

The financial statements are presented in sterling 
and rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000).

The Group is a public benefit entity.

Disclosure exemptions

The individual accounts of Swan Housing 
Association Limited have adopted the following 
disclosure exemptions:

(a) The requirement to present a statement of cash 
flows and related notes as it is the parent of the 
Swan Housing Group which prepares publicly 
available consolidated financial statements and 
the Association is included in the consolidation;

(b) Financial instrument disclosures, including the 
categories of financial instrument; items of income, 
expense, gains or losses relating to financial 
instruments and exposure to and management of 
financial risks; and

(c) From disclosing the Association’s key 
management personnel compensation.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, its current 
financial position, and factors likely to affect its 
future development are set out within the Strategic 
Report (including a summary of the Group’s key 
risks). 

The Group has in place long-term debt facilities 
which provide adequate resources to finance 
committed reinvestment and development 
programmes, along with the Group’s day to day 
operations. The base case shows sufficient cash 
headroom available to the group throughout the 
assessment period. As at 31 March 2021 the 
group had cash balances of £94m and a further 
£58m of undrawn loan facilities. 

The Group’s long-term business plan, which 
includes proactive action in relation to mitigating 
the financial impact of Covid-19, Brexit and the 
evolving requirements to remediate our existing 
buildings to meet new building safety regulations 
and decarbonisation targets, demonstrates that it 
is able to service these debt facilities whilst 
continuing to comply with lenders’ loan covenants. 

Whilst the board have based their assessment of 
going concern on the long-term business plan, the 
assessment of going concern made by the board 
in approving these financial statements, covers the 
period to 31 March 2023.

The business plan has been subject to a wide 
range of individual and multi-variate stress tests 
which include, but are not limited to, the financial 
impact should the key risks set out in the Strategic 
Report materialise. 
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Specifically, the Group has stress tested on-going 
disruptions to sales income, materials, labour and 
related resources as a result of the post Brexit 
period and Covid-19.  The core housing 
association activity, being the provision of 
affordable housing and related services, is well 
insulated from the financial impacts of Covid-19 
and Brexit. 

However, the construction area of the Group does 
use suppliers based in the European Union and 
has seen some disruption from these suppliers.  
However, through careful supply chain and 
programme management, these disruptions have 
been managed though recognising lead times will 
increase and there may be instances where 
materials will need to be sourced locally. 

The individual and multi-variate stress tests which 
have been considered include:

• Impact of inflation and rent reductions
•  Investment in existing homes due to changes in 

regulations
•  Key supplier failure and material increases in 

costs across operational and development 
activities

• Increases in interest rates 
• Write down of investments in joint ventures
•  Delays and reductions in sales values for 

private homes and shared ownership homes
•  Unforeseen events which require a one-off 

payment or investment of a material amount.

The Group has a number of mitigation options 
available to respond to the above events, ensuring 
it remains covenant compliant and has sufficient 
liquid resources, including:

•  Disposing of housing or other assets to 
generate cash

•  Pausing or slowing down non-essential repairs 

and maintenance
• Reviewing non-core activities
•  Slowing down or pausing development 

activities to preserve liquidity
• Changing the tenure mix of developments 
•  Request temporary changes or waivers to 

covenant testing
• Request an interest holiday from lenders
•  Reduce discretionary spend, such as 

consultancy, professional fees, conferences 
and events

• Request suppliers extend payment terms

On 13 August 2021, SHA disposed of the retained 
equity in 247 Shared Ownership homes for gross 
proceeds of £38.4m.  The proceeds from the 
disposal have strengthen the Groups liquidity and 
supports delivery of the Corporate Strategy.

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 
twelve months after the date on which the report 
and financial statements are signed.  For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in the financial statements.

Significant judgements and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that impact the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities at the Statement of Financial 
Position date and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. However, 
the nature of estimates means that actual 
outcomes could differ from those estimates.

The following are the significant management 
judgements made in applying policies of the 
Group that have the most significant effect on the 
financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 95

Significant judgements

Provision for replacement of non-ACM clad 
building and revised building regulations

The risk in relation to other forms of cladding and 
revised building regulations continues to be 
monitored by management. However, at 31 March 
2021 management have assessed there to be no 
legal or constructive obligations in relation to the 
rectification of such issues and no related 
provisions have been taken in these financial 
statements.

Financial instrument classification

The Group’s loans are required to be classified as 
either basic or non-basic financial instruments in 
accordance with the conditions set out under 
FRS102 section 11.9.

Management has concluded that two of the 
Group’s loans should be reported as non-basic.  
Both include an embedded mandatory swap 
payment on termination of the loan which results 
in the return to the lender being a combination of a 
positive fixed rate and a negative variable rate (as 
part of the notional swap value) which is not 
permitted by FRS102 11.9a (iv).

The Group’s remaining loans each contain a 
prepayment option which may result in a 
compensation payment from the lender.  
Management has assessed this prepayment 
option against the condition set out in FRS102 
11.9b which states that for a loan to be classified 
as basic there should be no contractual provision 
that results in the holder losing the principal 
amount or any interest attributable to current or 
prior periods.  Management has concluded that 
the loans are basic on the basis that the 
repayment relates to future interest payments and 
not the repayment of the principal amount or 
interest that is due. 

Management have re-assessed its financial 
instrument classifications following amendments 
to the basic definition that were introduced as part 
of the triennial review of FRS102. No changes to 
the classifications were required.

Significant estimates 

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that 
have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liability, income and 
expenses is provided below.  Actual results may 
be substantially different.

Provision for replacement of cladding 
containing Aluminum Composite Material 
(ACM)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group 
has spent £3,775k (2020 £1,175k) replacing 
cladding containing ACM.  The balance of the 
provision made in prior years is £18,036k and the 
Directors are satisfied that this balance is sufficient 
for the completion of works.  Regular assessments 
of the works to date and costs to complete have 
been done to understand the risks to programme 
and the amount of provision required to complete 
the works. 

During the year ended 31 March 2021 the Group 
has continued to progress the matter in 
accordance with its commitments and 
responsibilities as landlord and the evolving 
changes to building regulations. £1,098k of Grant 
has been received in the year which had 
previously been accrued (2020 nil).

One of the schemes contains a mix of 44 social 
rented properties owned by the Association and 
93 leasehold properties which are owned by Swan 
New Homes Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary 
undertaking of the Association. 
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The cost provision and funding secured for this 
scheme has been allocated between the 
Association and Swan New Homes Limited in 
proportion to the properties held by each entity.

The Association and the Group remain intent on 
pursuing all available options to recover the cost 
of works required which may result in a more 
favourable position than currently reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements. The final 
outcome of these endeavours remain inherently 
uncertain.

Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful 
lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date 
based on the expected utility of the assets 
including any components. Uncertainties in these 
estimates relate to technological obsolescence 
that may change the utility of certain software and 
IT equipment and changes to the Decent Homes 
Standards which may require more frequent 
replacement of key components. Accumulated 
depreciation of housing properties as at 31 March 
2021 was £62,720k (2020: £55,290k). The 
carrying amount of the housing properties was 
£739,208k (2020: £735,053k) at the year ended 
31 March 2021. 

Defined Benefit obligation

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit 
obligation is based on a number of critical 
underlying assumptions such as standard rates of 
inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of 
future salary increases. Variation in these 
assumptions may significantly impact the liability 
and the annual defined benefit expenses (as 
analysed in note 28). The net defined benefit 
pension liability at 31 March 2021 was £6.7m 
(2020: £3.2m).

Stock and properties held for sale

Stock and properties held for sale are carried at 
the lower of cost and estimated selling price less 
costs to complete and sell. Management assesses 
the net realisable value of schemes using publicly 
available information and internal forecasts on 
future sales prices after allowing for all further 
costs of completion and disposal. During the year, 
work in progress in relation to the Laindon 
development was written down by £1.9m (2020: 
nil).

Fair value measurement

Management utilises the services of a specialist 
third party treasury advisor to calculate the fair 
value of its financial instruments.  Fair value 
measurements were applied to the embedded 
derivatives for two loans in the year.  The valuation 
techniques include discounted cash flow pricing 
models with observable inputs. 

The most significant inputs into those models are 
interest rate yield curves, developed from publicly 
quoted rates and market available information.  

All valuations have been compared to similar 
market transactions or alternative third-party 
pricing services to ensure current market 
conditions are properly represented.  The fair 
value of the two non-basic financial instruments as 
at 31 March 2021 was £122.6m (2020: £138.0m). 

Movements in fair value between periods are 
exclusively due to changes in observable inputs, 
which can shift due to changes in demand and 
supply in public market rates and market 
information, and due to time factor in the above 
instruments’ pricing in a discounted cash flow 
pricing model.

Recoverability of trade receivables 

Management exercise judgement relating to the 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 97

recoverability of outstanding rental and other trade 
receivables. A review is performed regularly to 
assess whether each individual receivable is 
recoverable.

Impairment

As at 31 March 2021 management assessed 
whether there were any impairments triggers and 
have considered the continued disruption caused 
by Covid-19, which may impact rent collection and 
tenant arrears, progress on construction sites and 
the value of house prices. 

During the year the Laindon development has 
been impaired by £1.9m following a reassessment 
of the cost to complete the project, sales and 
related fees, financing costs and expected 
revenue from the sale of homes and commercial 
assets being constructed at the site. A further 
£7.4m impairment has been recognised at the 
Watts Grove development following the crane 
incident in 2020. Accrued insurance proceeds of  
£7.4m (2020 nil)  have also been recognised. The 
Watts Grove impairment value has been estimated 
at fair value less cost to sell (in respect of work in 
progress) and on a value in use basis (in respect 
of assets under construction) taking into account 
costs to remediate the site and replacement of the 
damaged works.

No impairment charges were required to existing 
housing assets, completed properties held for sale 
or investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or 
associates following management’s review.

Group structure and basis of 
consolidation

Swan Housing Association Limited Group (the 
‘Group’) came into existence in 1994. The Group 
is required by the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 to prepare consolidated 
financial statements. The Group financial 
statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the Parent, Swan Housing Association Limited, 
and its subsidiaries. 

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of 
in the year are consolidated from or up to the 
effective date of acquisition or disposal 
retrospectively. The net assets of businesses 
acquired are incorporated in the consolidated 
financial statements at their fair values at the date 
of acquisition. Transactions and balances between 
Group companies are eliminated.

The Group acquired a 49.9% interest in Purfleet 
Centre Regeneration Limited in October 2017. 
This interest results in a jointly controlled entity 
which is accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. Under this method the equity 
investment is initially recognised at the transaction 
price and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the 
Group’s share of the profit or loss in the jointly 
controlled entity. The acquisition generated 
goodwill of £0.3m.

In April 2019 Swan BQ Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary, became a 50% partner in Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP, a newly incorporated entity. 
The Group’s interest in the LLP also results in a 
jointly controlled entity which is accounted for 
using the equity method.

In November 2020 Swan New Homes Limited 
acquired 12.5% of the voting rights in Linq 
Investment Limited. As well as the shares with 
voting rights, Swan New Homes can appoint two 
(out of six) directors to Linq Investors Limited’s 
board.
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Turnover

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in 
the year, service charge income, income from 
shared ownership first tranche sales, sales of 
properties built for sale, development services, 
income for care and support services, unitary 
charge income from a private finance initiative 
(PFI) and other services included at the contracted 
or invoiced value (excluding VAT chargeable) of 
goods and services supplied in the year and 
grants receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for 
letting, net of any voids. Service charge income is 
recognised when service charge expenditure is 
incurred as this is the point at which the services 
have been performed. Management charge 
income is recognised when the service has been 
delivered and is calculated based on time spend 
supporting the activity. Income from first tranche 
sales and sales of properties built for sale is 
recognised at the point of legal completion of the 
sale. Income from land sales is recognised on the 
unconditional exchange of contracts. Income for 
care and support services including supporting 
people contracts are recognised when the rewards 
and benefits associated with the services provided 
are transferred, where the amount can be 
estimated reliably and when the amount is 
recoverable. Unitary charge income is recognised 
in accordance with the financial close model which 
apportions the income between the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for housing management 
services and the Statement of Financial position 
for income accrued during the construction phase 
of the contract.

Donations received under the gift aid scheme in 
Swan Housing Association Limited from its 

subsidiaries are recognised as turnover upon 
receipt as it relates to the principal activities of the 
Association and is eliminated on consolidation.

The Group's social housing properties are 
tenanted under cancellable operating lease 
conditions. Typical tenant break clauses exist 
required a notice period of one month. Rents 
fluctuate in accordance with the Rent Standard 
and are affected by the Welfare Reform and Work 
Act 2016. Shared Ownership properties may be 
part purchased at any time at the prevailing pro 
rate market rate, on-going lease payments will be 
adjusted to align with the share of ownership 
retained in the Group. Certain tenanted properties 
provide the existing tenant with the right to buy or 
acquire the property outright

Interest

Interest is capitalised on borrowings related to the 
development of qualifying assets, to the extent 
that it accrues in respect of the period of 
development if it represents interest on borrowings 
specifically financing the development programme 
after deduction of related grants received in 
advance. 

Other interest payable is charged to income and 
expenditure in the year.  

Interest is recognised as income when receivable. 

Taxation  

Current tax is recognised for the amount of 
corporation tax payable in respect of the taxable 
surplus for the current or past reporting periods 
using the rates and laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  As 
a result of the Association’s status as a charity, the 
Association is largely exempt from corporation tax.  
The Association’s subsidiaries are subject to 
corporation tax but may make gift aid donations to 
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the Association which reduces their liabilities to 
corporation tax. Following an amendment 
introduced by the triennial review of FRS102, such 
donations, if made within nine months of the end 
of an accounting period, may be used to reduce 
the corporation tax payable in respect of the 
profits of that period. The benefit of this relief is 
recognised in these financial statements.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences at the reporting date, except as 
indicated.  Deferred tax assets are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
they will be recovered against the reversal of 
deferred tax liabilities or future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is calculated using the rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date that are expected to apply to the reversal of 
the timing difference.  Deferred tax liabilities are 
presented in provisions for liabilities and deferred 
tax assets in debtors.  Such assets and liabilities 
are only offset where the Group has a legal right 
of set off and relate to the same tax authority and 
taxable entities.

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries 
are included in a Group VAT registration in the 
name of Swan Housing Association Limited.  The 
majority of the Association’s income, being rents, 
is exempt for VAT purposes, but other Group 
members generate taxable income. This 
combination gives rise to a partial exemption 
calculation.  Expenditure for non-taxable activities 
is therefore shown inclusive of VAT and the input 
VAT recovered is credited against operating costs.  
Expenditure on taxable activities is shown 
exclusive of VAT. The balance of VAT payable or 
recoverable at the year-end is included as a 
current liability or asset.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are in relation to payment in 
lieu of notice and settlement for loss of office and 
are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

A liability and expense is recognised for termination 
benefits when the entity is demonstrably committed 
to a termination. 

Intangible assets

Computer software is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Costs relating to the development of computer 
software for internal use are capitalised. Costs 
include the total cost of external products or 
services and any labour costs directly attributable 
to the development.

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over 
the expected useful life of the software and is 
commenced when the asset is ready for operational 
use. The expected useful life is considered to be 
four years.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an 
acquired entity or business over the aggregate of 
the fair value of that entity’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities.  Positive goodwill is shown on the 
Statement of Financial Position as an asset and is 
amortised evenly over its estimated useful 
economic life.  In addition to systematic 
amortisation, the book value is written down to 
recoverable amount when any impairment is 
identified. The amortisation period has been 
assessed to be nine years for the investments in 
PCRL and 20 years for the investment in SSEG.
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Investments in subsidiaries   

Investments in subsidiaries represent amounts 
subscribed as share capital to, or on-lent by, the 
Association to its subsidiaries under the Group’s 
internal financing arrangements and are stated at 
cost less impairment in the Association’s financial 
statements.

Investments in jointly controlled 
entities (joint ventures)  

An entity is treated as jointly controlled where the 
Group is party to an agreement with one or more 
parties from outside the Group to undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint control. In 
the consolidated accounts, interests in jointly 
controlled entities are accounted for using the 
equity method.

Loans due from a jointly controlled entity are 
included in investments where the amounts are 
intended for use on a continuing basis in the jointly 
controlled entities activities. The loans are 
subsequently accounted for as a basic financial 
instrument.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are stated 
at cost less impairment in the Association’s 
financial statements.

Investment in Associates

On 9 November 2020 Swan New Homes acquired 
12.5% of the voting share capital of Linq Investors 
Limited.  

Swan New Homes is able to appoint two of the six 
Directors to the Board of Linq Investors Limited 
(LIL).  Due to this, the Group considers that it has 
a significant influence in LIL and therefore 
considers LIL to be an Associate for the purpose 
of FRS 102 14.1, Investments in Associations.

Impairment

The Group continuously reviews the performance 
of its assets and management monitors the 
operating environment for triggers of impairment 
such as, but not limited to, increasing void losses 
and changes in government policy. As at 31 March 
2021 management assessed whether there were 
any impairments triggers and have considered the 
ongoing business disruption of Covid-19 which 
may impact rent collection and tenant arrears, 
progress on construction sites and the value of 
house prices.

Where there is evidence of impairment, the 
intangible and tangible fixed assets are written 
down to their recoverable amount and any 
impairment losses are charged to operating 
expenditure.

The recoverable amounts of the Association’s 
housing properties are estimated as follows:

(a)    Determine the level at which a recoverable 
amount is to be assessed, the cash 
generating unit (CGU) level is determined to 
be an individual scheme;

(b)   Estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU;

(c)    Calculate the carrying amount of the CGU, 
and   

(d)    Compare the carrying amount to the 
recoverable amount to determine if an 
impairment has occurred.

Based on this assessment, a Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) is calculated using 
appropriate construction costs and land prices.  
Where the DRC is less than the carrying amount, 
an impairment is taken to reduce the carrying 
amount to the DRC. Management consider the 
use of DRC to be an appropriate measure of the 
value in use of assets held for their future service 
potential.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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During the year the Laindon development has 
been impaired by £1.9m following a reassessment 
of the cost to complete the project, sales and 
related fees, financing costs and expected 
revenue from the sale of homes and commercial 
assets being constructed at the site.  The Laindon 
assets are held in SCS. The impairment in 
Laindon, a development 100% held in SCS, has 
not resulted in an impairment in SHA’s investment 
in SCS as the directors of SHA are satisfied that 
SCS continues to have a positive recoverable 
amount. A further £7.4m impairment has been 
recognised at the Watts Grove development 
following the crane incident in 2020 Accrued 
insurance proceeds of £7.4m (2020 nil) have also 
been recognised. The Watts Grove impairment 
value has been estimated at fair value less cost to 
sell (in respect of work in progress) and on a value 
in use basis (in respect of assets under 
construction) taking into account costs to 
remediate the site and replacement of the 
damaged works. The Watts Grove impairment has 
been recognised in SHA.

Housing properties cost and 
depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost 
includes the cost of acquiring land and buildings, 
development on-costs and interest charges 
incurred during the development period.

Works to existing properties which replace a 
component that has been treated separately for 
depreciation purposes, along with works that 
result in an increase in net rental income over the 
lives of the properties, thereby enhancing the 
economic benefits of the assets, are capitalised as 
improvements. The existing components are 
derecognised through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

The Group depreciates the major components of 
its general needs and supported housing 
properties on a straight-line basis, at the following 
annual rates:

Structure   0.80%

Bathrooms   3.33%

Kitchens   5.00%

Electrics   3.33%

Boilers    6.66%

Windows   3.33%

Central Heating   2.50%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Expenditure on shared ownership properties is 
split proportionally between current and fixed 
assets based on the element relating to expected 
first tranche sales.  The first tranche proportion is 
classed as a current asset and the related sales 
proceeds are included in turnover.  The remaining 
element is classed as a fixed asset and included 
in housing properties at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the structure and impairment losses. 

Completed NHS keyworker and properties held 
under finance leases are stated at cost less 
depreciation which is charged on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Housing properties under construction are stated 
at cost and are transferred to completed properties 
once they are available for letting.  No 
depreciation is provided on housing properties 
under construction.
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Stock

Inventories primarily represent the costs of 
ongoing design and build works and is stated at 
the lower of cost and estimated selling price less 
costs to complete and sell.

The costs of design and build works includes the 
costs of the manufacture, off-site, of modular 
housing units. The raw materials utilised in this 
process are stated at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value.

Otherwise the cost of design and build works, 
modular housing units or owned land develeoped 
for sale is determined on the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. Cost includes the purchase price, 
including taxes and duties and transport and 
handling directly attributable to bringing the 
inventory to its present location and condition.   

At each year end date inventory is assessed for 
impairment.  If inventories are impaired, the 
carrying value is reduced to its recoverable value 
less the costs to completion.  The impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Properties for sale   

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.  Cost comprises materials, 
direct labour and direct development overheads.  
Net realisable value is based on estimated sales 
price after allowing for all further costs of 
completion and disposal.

Work in progress consists of land and build costs 
incurred on current developments.  This is held at 
the lower of cost or estimated selling price less 
costs to complete and sell.

2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.)

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is 
charged on a straight-line basis over the expected 
economic useful lives of the assets at the following 
annual rates:

Freehold offices    2.0% on cost

Commercial units   2.5% on cost

Leasehold improvements  20% on cost

Plant and machinery   20% on cost

Office equipment and fittings  20% on cost

Computer equipment   25% on cost

Development costs

Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for 
their intended use.  Such costs generally include 
professional fees, directly attributable staff salary 
costs incurred in administering the development 
programme and loan interest attributable to the 
scheme. Costs incurred on schemes which are 
identified as abortive are written off in the year in 
which the scheme is classified as abortive.

Lease obligations 

Where assets are financed by leasing 
arrangements which transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership, they are classified 
as finance leases and are treated as if they had 
been purchased outright. The amount capitalised 
is the present value of the minimum lease 
payment during the term of the lease. The 
corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor.  Rentals paid under 
operating leases, including those paid under 
temporary social housing leases, are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction 
price less any impairment.  A full provision is made 
against former tenant arrears and a phased 
percentage provision is made against current 
tenant balances with a maximum of 75% for 
balances outstanding for more than 20 weeks.

Homebuy Loans

Homebuy loans are initially recognised at their fair 
value. The loans are subsequently updated to 
reflect imputed interest and are reviewed for 
impairment with any adjustments being recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The 
Group shares in any future capital gain or loss 
realised by the homeowner on the related property 
since the loan amount repayable is tied to the 
property value. The loans have a 10-year term 
and no interest is charged to the borrowers. 

Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the 
transaction price.

Government grants 

Government grants include grants receivable from 
Homes England, local authorities and other 
government organisations.  Government capital 
grants received prior to the transition to FRS102 
have been accounted for under the performance 
method and recognised as income.  Capital grants 
for housing properties received post transition are 
accounted for under the accruals method within 
creditors and recognised in income over the useful 
life of the property structure.

Social Housing and other capital development 
grants may be repayable under certain 
circumstances, primarily following the sale of a 
property.  Provision for repayment in the Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund is made in the Statement of 

Financial Position when properties which have 
previously received grant funding are sold.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised as 
income over the same period as the expenditure 
to which they relate once reasonable assurance 
has been gained that any conditions associated 
with the grant have been met.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in 
a multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the 
Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), which 
the Association has closed to new entrants.  

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was 
completed as at 30 September 2017 and rolled 
forward, allowing for the different financial 
assumptions required under FRS102, to 31 March 
2021 by a qualified independent actuary.

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit 
obligation is based on a number of critical 
underlying assumptions such as standard rates of 
inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of 
future salary increases. Variation in these 
assumptions may significantly impact the liability 
and the annual defined benefit expenses (as 
analysed in Note 28). The calculation of the 
obligation also incorporates the impact of the 
various High Court rulings; namely McCloud and 
GMP rulings where appropriate. 

The net defined benefit liability at the year ended 
31 March 2021 is £6,741k (2020: £3,230k).

In the year ended 31 March 2021, the current 
service costs and costs from settlements and 
curtailments are charged against operating 
surplus in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Interest is calculated on 
the net defined benefit liability. Remeasurements 
are reported in Other Comprehensive Income. 
Note 28 contains further details.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (cont.)

Swan Housing Association Limited, Swan New 
Homes Limited, Vivo Support Limited and Hera 
Management Services Limited currently operate 
defined contribution benefit schemes for active 
members. 

The charge to expenditure represents the 
employer contribution payable to the schemes for 
the accounting period.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a 
basic financial instrument as defined in Section 11 
of FRS102 are accounted for under an amortised 
cost model.  The effective interest rate method, 
which applies the interest rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash flows to the 
carrying amount of the financial instrument at 
initial recognition, has been used to calculate 
amortised cost.  Any related fees and transaction 
costs are also amortised using this method.

Loan modifications are assessed on a case by 
case basis and where modifications are deemed 
to be substantial the instrument is derecognised.  
Where modifications are considered to be non-
substantial they are accounted for in accordance 
with Section 11 of FRS102. 

Non basic financial instruments are recognised at 
fair value using a valuation technique with any 
gains or losses being reported in surplus or deficit.  
At each year end the instruments are revalued to 
fair value with the movements posted to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group and Association have not adopted 
hedge accounting for financial instruments.

Loan issue costs

Costs in relation to the issuance of basic debt 
instruments are amortised over the life of the 
instrument.  Costs in relation to non-basic debt 
instruments are expensed as incurred.  The 
discount/premium arising on bond issues are 
spread evenly over the remaining life of the bond, 
with a resulting movement in finance costs each 
year. 

Provision for liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group 
will be  required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting 
period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

The Group has also recognised a provision to fund 
the replacement of a proportion of the cladding on 
two schemes which contains Aluminium 
Composite Material (see note 20).

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific 
purposes where their use is subject to external 
restrictions and designated reserved where 
reserves are earmarked for a particular purpose.

Revaluation reserves

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve 
was credited with the difference between the fair 
value of housing properties and the historical cost 
carrying value. As a result, housing properties 
carried at revaluation pre transition are carried at 
deemed cost. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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The depreciation charges and disposal costs 
relating to housing properties carried at deemed 
cost therefore contain an element of cost that is 
attributable to revaluation. Annual transfers 
between the income and expenditure and 
revaluation reserves are made to reconcile the 
reserve accounts.

Segmental reporting

For the purpose of segmental reporting, the chief 
operating decision maker (CODM) is considered 
to be the Group’s Executive Team. In line with the 
segments reported to the CODM, the presentation 
of these financial statements and accompanying 
notes are in accordance with the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of 
Social Housing 2019 and is considered 
appropriate. 

Information about income, expenditure and assets 
attributable to material operating segments are 
presented on the basis of the nature and function 
of housing assets held by the Group. This is 
appropriate on the basis of the similarity of the 
services provided, the nature of the risks 
associated, the type of customer and the nature of 
the regulatory environment in the geographical 
locations in which the Group operates. The CODM 
do not review disaggregated financial information 
of assets and liabilities at this level of operating 
segment. Segmental information is disclosed in 
notes 3 and 4 of these financial statements.
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3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business

GROUP 2021 2020

Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

  Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

62,516 (35,805) 26,711 62,227 (34,484) 27,743

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,015 (2,843) (828) 2,232 (2,921) (689)

Group management 
services

- (5,641) (5,641) - (7,496) (7,496)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

14,053 (12,995) 1,058 16,344 (14,778) 1,566

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

7,010 (5,596) 1,414 6,707 (5,357) 1,350

Surplus on sale of 
fixed assets

- - 659 - - 3,206

Insurance proceeds 
receivable

7,449 - 7,449

Write down of work 
in progress costs

- (7,449) (7,449)

Other 260 (596) (336) 259 (554) (295)

30,787 (35,120) (3,674) 25,542 (31,106) (23,358)

Total social 
housing activities

93,303 (70,925) 23,037 87,769 (65,590) 25,385

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

97,302 (89,782) 7,520 82,687 (75,450) 7,237

Impairment - (1,940) (1,940) - - -

Total 190,605 (162,647) 28,617 170,456 (141,040) 32,622
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21 107

ASSOCIATION 2021 2020

Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

  Turnover Operating 
Costs 

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

62,516 (35,805) 26,711 62,227 (34,484) 27,743

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,015 (2,843) (828) 2,232 (2,921) (689)

Group management 
services

2,814 (8,455) (5,641) 2,358 (9,853) (7,495)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

14,053 (12,995) 1,058 16,344 (14,778) 1,566

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

7,010 (5,596) 1,414 6,707 (5,357) 1,350

Surplus on sale of 
fixed assets

- - 659 - - 3,206

Insurance proceeds 
receivable

7,449 - 7,449

Write down of work 
in progress costs

- (7,449) (7,449)

Other 6,633 (1,201) 5,432 3,563 (1,208) 2,355

39,974 (38,539) 2,094 31,204 (34,117) (293)

Total social 
housing activities

102,490 (74,344) 28,805 93,431 (68,601) 28,036

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

- - - - - -

Total 102,490 (74,344) 28,805 93,431 (68,601) 28,036
      
Other income includes £5,773k (2020: £2,671k) of donations received under the gift aid scheme from Group companies.
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4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings

GROUP General 
Needs 

Housing 

NHS  
Trust 

Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2021 

Total  
2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

44,303 6,625 3,265 54,193 52,309

Amortised government grant 602 - - 602 534

Other grant - - - - 648

Service income 6,338 - 462 6,800 7,894

Net rental income 51,243 6,625 3,727 61,595 61,385

Lease income 921 - - 921 842

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

52,164 6,625 3,727 62,516 62,227

Management (8,461) (1,417) (543) (10,421) (9,430)

Services (5,784) (728) (359) (6,871) (7,055)

Routine maintenance (4,487) (564) (279) (5,330) (5,551)

Planned maintenance (4,253) (535) (264) (5,052) (5,037)

Bad debts (246) (1) - (247) (128)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,611) (1,700) (573) (7,884) (7,283)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(28,842) (4,945) (2,018) (35,805) (34,484)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

23,322 1,680 1,709 26,711 27,743

Void losses        (483)           (414)                -       (898)       (1,012)
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Association General 
Needs 

Housing 

NHS  
Trust 

Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2021 

Total  
2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

44,303 6,625 3,265 54,193 52,309

Amortised government grant 602 - - 602 534

Other grant - - - - 648

Service income 6,388 - 462 6,800 7,894

Net rental income 51,243 6,625 3,727 61,595 61,385

Lease income 921 - - 921 842

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

52,164 6,625 3,727 62,516 62,227

Management (8,461) (1,417) (543) (10,421) (9,430)

Services (5,784) (728) (359) (6,871) (7,055)

Routine maintenance (4,487) (564) (279) (5,330) (5,551)

Planned maintenance (4,253) (535) (264) (5,052) (5,037)

Bad debts (246) (1) - (247) (128)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,611) (1,700) (573) (7,884) (7,283)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(28,842) (4,945) (2,018) (35,805) (34,484)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

23,322 1,680 1,709 26,711 27,743

Void losses        (483)           (414)                -       (898)       (1,012)
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5. Key management personnel

Basis of accounting

The aggregate amount of Executive Director 
remuneration, who are considered to be the 
Group’s key management personnel, for the year 
was £1,270k excluding pension contributions and 
taxable benefits (2020: £1,407k).  Directors’ 
pension contributions for the year were £32k 
(2020: £17k). Directors social security costs for the 
year were £163k (2020: £161k). Directors benefits 
in kind for the year £13k (2020: £9k).

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive 
(Chief Executive) was £233k (2020: £254k). In 
addition, a payment in lieu of pension contributions 
of £19k (2020: £19k) was paid in the year. Social 
security costs were £34k (2020: £36k).

Parent Non-Executive Board and Committee 
Members received remuneration of £148k (2020: 
£149k). Social security costs were £5k (2020: 
£5k).  Total expenses reimbursed to Board and 
Committee Members were £Nil (2020: £4k).

During the year £115k (2020: £187k) was paid in 
compensation for loss of office to key management 
personnel. Compensation includes payment in lieu 
of notice and settlement for loss of office.

6. Staff numbers and costs

The average numbers of persons employed by the 
Group expressed both in full time equivalents and 
numbers of staff members (including senior 
executives but excluding Board Members), 
analysed by category, were as follows:

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was 
as follows:

During the year a total of £202k (2020: £206k) was 
paid in severance costs in relation to settlement for 
payment in lieu of notice and loss of office, which 
are included in wages and salaries above. The 
liability recognised as at 31 March 2021 in respect 
of severance costs is £15k (2020: £58k). 

In addition, a total of £95k (2020: £93k) was paid 
to Non-Executive Board members and is included 
in wages and salaries above, see page 57 for 
further details.

Group

2021 
FTEs 

2021 
No.

2020 
FTEs 

2020 
No.

Administration 
staff

403 425 379 404

Maintenance 5 6 4 4

Caretakers, 
cleaners and 
wardens

140 158 134 154

548 589 517 562
      

Group

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Wages and salaries 23,238 23,348

Social security costs 2,591 2,572

Other pension costs 929 835

26,758 26,755
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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The average numbers of persons employed by the 
Association expressed both in full time equivalents 
and numbers of staff members (including senior 
executives but excluding Board Members), 
analysed by category, were as follows:

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was 
as follows:

The full-time equivalents number including 
Executive Directors who receive remuneration:

Association

2021 
FTEs 

2021 
No.

2020 
FTEs 

2020 
No.

Administration 
staff

233 255 229 253

Maintenance 5 6 4 4

Caretakers, 
cleaners and 
wardens

80 88 79 87

318 349 312 344
      

Association

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Wages and salaries 14,257 14,690

Social security costs 1,589 1,591

Other pension costs 578 525

16,424 16,806
      

Association Group

2021 2020 2021 2020

£60,001 to £70,000 17 14 21 19

£70,001 to £80,000 10 5 19 15

£80,001 to £90,000 6 6 19 14

£90,001 to £100,000 1 2 5 9

£100,001 to £110,000 8 7 14 10

£110,001 to £120,000 1 1 4 3

£120,001 to £130,000 - 3 1 4

£130,001 to £140,000 3 - 4 -

£140,001 to £150,000 4 2 4 2

£150,001 to £160,000 1 - 1 -

£160,001 to £170,000 - 2 - 2

£170,001 to £180,000 2 1 2 1

£180,001 to £190,000 1 - 1 -

£190,001 to £200,000 - - - -

£200,001 to £210,000 - - - -

£210,001 to £220,000 - - - -

£220,001 to £230,000 1 1 1 1

£230,001 to £240,000 - - - -

£240,001 to £250,000 - - - -

£250,001 to £260,000 1 - 1 -

£260,001 to £270,000 - - - -

£270,001 to £280,000 - 1 - 1

£400,001 to £410,000 - 1 - 1
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7. Surplus on sale of fixed assets 

Included in the amounts above for both the Group and the Association are surpluses on the sale of housing 
properties of £659k (2020: £3,206k). These gains include the sale of assets connected with the provision of NHS 
Keyworker accommodation. The carrying value of housing assets sold includes recycled capital grant as detailed in 
note 19.

8. Interest receivable

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Disposal proceeds 1,547 6,018 1,547 6,018

Carrying value of fixed assets sold (888) (2,812) (888) (2,812)

659 3,206 659 3,206
      

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Interest receivable from joint venture 3,616 2,568 37 2

Bank interest receivable 103 102 11 49

Interest from other group undertakings - - 4,251 3,986

3,719 2,670 4,299 4,037

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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9. Interest payable and similar charges

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Bank loans 10,373 11,188 10,373 11,188

GLA & HCAi loans 3,740 3,721 - -

Bond 8,454 7,700 - -

Interest on intra-group lending - - 8,454 7,700

Net interest expense from defined benefit pension 
obligation (see note 28)

68 158 68 158

Other bank charges 485 367 469 351

Finance lease charges 290 285 290 286

23,410 23,419 19,654 19,683

Less: Interest capitalised (8,960) (9,950) (969) (2,239)

14,450 13,469 18,685 17,444
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10. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 
for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor for 
the financial statement audit

110 95 110 95

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor for 
the audit of the financial statements of its 
subsidiaries

79 65 79 65

-  Additional assurance services authorised by 
those charged with governance performed on 
material included within the Annual Report of 
the Group relevant to an engagement

36 31 36 31

Reporting on government grants 8 - 8 -

Depreciation on  housing properties 7,884 7,283 7,884 7,283

Depreciation on other tangible fixed assets 1,345 1,269 782 733

Amortisation on other intangible fixed assets 349 36 349 36

Amortisation of goodwill 82 35 - -

Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,414) (1,350) (1,414) (1,350)

Operating lease charges 1,535 987 469 424

Group service fees receivable from other Group 
undertakings (note 27)

- - (2,814) (2,359)

      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Group Association  

2021 
           £’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
           £’000 

2020 
£’000

Current tax:

UK Corporation Tax on surplus for the year - - - -

UK Corporation Tax credit relating to prior year 51 (89) - -

51 (89) - -

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences (122) 5 - -

Adjustment relating to prior periods 8 3 -        -

Adjustment due to rate change - (4) - -

(114) 4 - -

Tax credit on surplus on ordinary activities (63) (85) - -

Tax reconciliation to total tax charge

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 32,896 7,252 67 67

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard 
rate of Corporation Tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 
19%) 

     6,250      1,378 13 13

Tax losses previously not recognised now utilised (22) - - -

Charitable tax exemption (5,136) (652) (13) (13)

Permanent differences 8 9 - -

Deferred taxation adjustment due to rate change - (4) - -

Tax loss utilised in year (582) (470) - -

Deferred tax asset not recognised 4 42 - -

Current tax adjustment relating to prior periods 51 (89) - -

Deferred tax adjustment relating to prior periods - 3 - -

Compensating adjustment for intra-group interest (581) (302) - -

Deferred taxation, previously not recognised, now 
recognised

(4) - - -

Income taxed in prior years (51) - - -

Total tax credit on surplus for the year (63) (85) - -

Tax credits in Statement of Changes in Reserves

Tax previously provided on profits, released 
following payment of gift aid

- 839 - -

      

11. Tax credit on surplus on  
ordinary activities
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Movement in the year: £’000

Deferred tax asset at 1 April 2020 29

Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income 114

Deferred tax asset at 31 March 2021 143
      

11. Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities (cont.)

Deferred taxation

The Association is and intends to remain a charity and as such it is not subject to Corporation Tax (or 
deferred tax) on its profits provided its resources are utilised for charitable purposes. Hence taxation 
provided above relates entirely to the operations of subsidiaries of the Association and, by way of 
example, no deferred tax asset is available to be recognised in respect of matters such as the 
Association’s pension funding liability.

A deferred tax asset of £1433k (2020: £29k) relating to tax losses carried forward for an unrestricted time 
period,  capital allowances and other short-term timing differences has been recognised at 31 March 
2021 since following three prior years of profitable operation the Directors now expect one of the related 
subsidiary undertakings to generate future profits capable of offset by the losses and capital allowances 
and other subsidiary entities whose Boards consider that the losses, capital allowances and other short-
term timing differences will be fully offset by profits generated in the following accounting periods. 

Deferred tax assets of £3k (2020: £59k) relating to other tax losses of £14k (2020: £311k) and capital 
allowances have not been recognised since, although the Board expect the respective subsidiary 
undertaking which generated these timing differences to generate future taxable profits capable of offset 
by them, they do not consider that the standards required for recognition have yet been met.

The movement in the year and the deferred tax asset recognised at the reporting date can be analysed 
as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

Recognised 
(included with Debtors)

Unrecognised

2021 2020 2021 2020

Categorisation of deferred tax asset: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tax losses carried forward 35 26 3 59

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 103 3 - 2

Other short-term timing differences 5 - - -

143 29 3 61
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Factors impacting future taxes

The Group has wholly owned subsidiaries that were formed in the expectation that their profits would be 
donated to the Association under the gift aid scheme. Such donations if made within nine months of the 
end of an accounting period may be used to reduce the Corporation Tax payable in respect of the profits 
of that period. 

No provision for such a donation out of the 2021 (2020: nil) profits has been included in these accounts 
since no obligation to make that payment exists, but the Directors expect that such a donation will be 
made within nine months of 31 March 2021 based on previous years and the corporation tax provided has 
therefore been correspondingly reduced.

The UK Government previously announced that the rate of UK Corporation tax would reduce to 17% with 
effect from 1 April 2020. Consequently, unprovided deferred tax assets are stated at that rate. In the 
Spring Budget 2020, the Government announced that the previously announced decrease in the rate of 
Corporation Tax from 19% to 17% from 1 April 2020 would no longer happen and that rates would remain 
at 19% for the foreseeable future.

This law was substantively enacted by a resolution under the Provision Collection of Taxes Act 1968 on 17 
March 2020. The deferred tax asset of £143k (2020:£29k) is expected to reverse in the coming two years.  
The amount recognised is stated at the rate of 19% based upon the expected timing of the reversal.

In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023, the corporation tax rate will 
increase to 25%.  Since the proposal to increase the rate to 25% has not been substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date, its effects are not included in these financial statements.  However, it is likely that 
the overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, would be to 
increase Swan’s current year tax credit by £39k and the deferred tax asset by £45k., (Association - £nil.)
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12. Intangible fixed assets

Group Software 
£’000

Goodwill 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2020 3,078 1,056 4,134

Additions 896 - 896

At 31 March 2021 3,974 1,056 5,030

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2020 (64) (526) (590)

Charge for the year (349) (48) (397)

At 31 March 2021 (413) (574) (987 )

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2021 3,561 482 4,043

At 31 March 2020 3,014 530 3,544
      

Association Software 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2020 3,078

Additions 896

At 31 March 2021 3,974

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2020 (64)

Charge for the year (349)

At 31 March 2021 (413)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2021 3,561

At 31 March 2020 3,014

Included in software above in both the Group and Association is £1,200k (2020: £2,937k) in relation to 
software in the course of construction as at 31 March 2021.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties

Housing properties: 
Group 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2020 627,872 95,702 63,862 2,907 37,006 827,349

Additions 7,181 272 623 3 17,881 25,960

Disposals (783) (664) (149) (2) - (1,598)

Completions 201 4,904 - - (5,105) -

Transfers to work in 
progress

- - - - (3,093) (3,093)

At 31 March 2021 634,471 100,214 64,336 2,908 46,689 848,618

Depreciation and 
Impairment:

At 1 April 2020 (30,091) (1,417) (21,237) (2,545) - (55,290)

Disposals 353 14 85 2 - 454

Impairment charge for 
the year

- - - - (5,885) (5,885)

Depreciation charge for 
the year

(5,577) (573) (1,700) (34) - (7,884)

At 31 March 2021 (35,315) (1,976) (22,852) (2,577) (5,885) (68,605)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2021 599,156 98,238 41,484 331 40,804 780,013

At 31 March 2020 597,781 94,285 42,625 362 37,006 772,059

      A £7.4m impairment has been recognised at the Watts Grove development following the crane incident in 
2020. Accrued insurance proceeds of £7.4m (2020 nil) have also been recognised. The Watts Grove 
impairment value has been estimated on a value in use basis taking into account costs to remediate the 
site and replacement of the damaged works. The Watts Grove impairment has been allocated as 79% 
(£5,885k) to Tangible Fixed Assets (Note 13) with the balance, £1,565k, allocated to Stock and properties 
held for sale (Note 16). The allocation is based on expected 1st tranche sales of Shared Ownership 
Homes.
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13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties (cont.)

Housing properties: 
Association 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2020 627,872 95,702 63,862 2,907 43,298 833,641

Additions 7,181 272 623 3 18,306 26,385

Disposals (783) (664) (149) (2) - (1,598)

Completions 201 4,904 - - (5,105) -

Transfers to work in 
progress

- - - - (3,093) (3,093)

At 31 March 2021 634,471 100,214 64,336 2,908 53,406 855,335

Depreciation and 
Impairment:

At 1 April 2020 (30,091) (1,417) (21,237) (2,545) - (55,290)

Disposals 353 14 85 2 - 454

Impairment change for 
the year

- - - - (5,885) (5,885)

Depreciation charge for 
the year

(5,577) (573) (1,700) (34) - (7,884)

At 31 March 2021 (35,315) (1,976) (22,852) (2,577) (5,885) (68,605)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2021 599,156 98,238 41,484 331 47,521 786,730

At 31 March 2020 597,778 94,285 42,625 362 43,301 778,351

      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)

A £7.4m impairment has been recognised at the Watts Grove development following the crane incident in 
2020. Accrued insurance proceeds of £7.4m (2020 nil) have also been recognised. The Watts Grove 
impairment value has been estimated on a value in use basis taking into account costs to remediate the 
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Housing properties

Included within additions are development administration costs of the Group: £552k, Association: £552k 
(2020: Group: £880k, Association: £880k) and interest capitalised of the Group: £8,960k, Association: 
£969k (2020: Group: £9,950k Association: £2,240k).  The interest capitalisation was calculated using the 
Group’s average cost of floating rate borrowing each month.  The average rate during the year was 4.06% 
(2020: 4.08%).

Planned repairs and maintenance expenditure, excluding the net £3.3m provision (2020: £3.3m) to 
replace ACM on two schemes (see note 20), on housing properties was for the Group: £10.4m, 
Association £10.4m (2020: Group: £10.6m, Association: £10.6m). £8.4m has also been capitalised (2020: 
£5.8m) for both Group and Association.

The £3.1m (2020: £16.8m) transfer to work in progress for the Group and Association includes 
movements to reflect changes in the tenure mix on development schemes under construction and 
completions during the year.

All completed housing stock of the Group and Association was restated at deemed cost on transition for 
FRS102 based on a formal valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered Surveyors.  The deemed cost was 
based on the Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes as at 31 March 
2014.

Completed NHS Keyworker properties are carried at cost less depreciation.
 

Social Housing Assistance Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Total accumulated social housing grant received 
or receivable at 31 March:

Recognised in the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

6,302 2,424 3,026 2,424

Held as deferred income 114,249 117,883 104,857 105,215

Total 120,551 120,307 107,883 107,639
      

site and replacement of the damaged works. The Watts Grove impairment has been allocated as 79% 
(£5,885k) to Tangible Fixed Assets (Note 13) with the balance, £1,565k, allocated to Stock and 
properties held for sale (Note 16). The allocation is based on expected 1st tranche sales of Shared 
Ownership Homes.
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14. Other tangible fixed assets 

Group Freehold 
offices 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments

Plant and 
machinery 

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment 

and 
fittings

Commer-
cial units

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2020 3,427 679 1,881 1,692 1,630 2,523 11,832

Additions - 323 1,067 112 280 - 1,782

At 31 March 
2021

3,427 1,002 2,948 1,804 1,910 2,523 13,614

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2020 (326) (304) (659) (808) (863) (31) (2,991)

Charge for the 
year

(69) (137) (382) (405) (289) (63) (1,345)

At 31 March 
2021

(395) (441) (1,041) (1,213) (1,152) (94) (4,336)

Net book 
value:

At 31 March 
2021

3,032 561 1,907 591 758 2,429 9,728

At 31 March 
2020

3,101 375 1,222 884 767 2,492 8,841

      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Association Freehold 
offices 

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment and 

fittings

Commercial 
units

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2020 3,427 1,577 1,479 2,523 9,006

Additions - 112 280 - 392

At 31 March 2021 3,427 1,688 1,759 2,523 9,398

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2020 (326) (723) (795) (31) (1,875)

Charge for the year (69) (391) (259) (63) (782)

At 31 March 2021 (395) (1,114) (1,054) (94) (2,657)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2021 3,032 575 705 2,429 6,741

At 31 March 2020 3,101 854 684 2,492 7,131

      



Swan Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020/21124

15. Investments

GROUP 

Investment in jointly controlled entities

Equity share in 
joint ventures

Loans to joint 
ventures 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost and net book value:

At 1 April 2020 5,478 18,070 23,548

Loan advances and capitalised loan interest - 7,180 7,180

Amortisation of goodwill (34) - (34)

Share of loss (21) - (21)

At 31 March 2021 5,423 25,250 30,673
      

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Investment in Associates £’000

At 1 April 2020 -

Invested during the year 2,412

At 31 March 2021 2,412
      

Management reviewed the carrying value of the investment in the jointly controlled entities as at 31 March 
2021 and no triggers for impairment were identified.

During the year Swan New Homes purchased 408 shares with voting rights in Linq Investors Limited (LIL), 
representing 12.5% of the company’s voting share capital. As well as voting rights, Swan New Homes can 
appoint two out of six Directors to the Board of LIL and is therefore assumed to have significant influence 
in LIL

The initial investment was £2.4m on 9 November 2020 and no profit or loss has been recognised during 
the year for LIL. The fair value of the investment at the balance sheet date is that recognised on purchase 
of the investment.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Group

The Group has an agreement to provide a junior 
loan facility of £4.5m and a £18.1m revolving credit 
facility to Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited 
(PCRL). The junior loan facility was fully drawn in 
prior years. £12.6m (2020: £10.5m) of the 
revolving credit facility was drawn during the year. 
A further £1.1m (2020: £1.1m) of interest has been 
capitalised on the junior loan facility and £2.2m 
(2020: £1.5m) capitalised on the revolving credit 
facility during the year.

The revolving credit and junior loan facilities both 
accrue interest and are repayable at the end of 
phase 1 of the development or 31 December 2022, 
whichever is earlier. The loans are secured by a 
floating charge over the assets of PCRL.

Additionally, the Group will be providing 
construction and certain other administrative 
services to PCRL. 

The Group also has an agreement to provide a 
£15.0m junior loan facility to Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP. As at 31 March 2021 
£2.25m (2020: £0.75m) of the junior loan was 
drawn with £35k (2020: £2k) interest paid.  The 
loan facility accrues interest and is repayable 12 
months following completion of the final residential 
unit or 31 December 2034, whichever is earlier.

The management have assessed the 
recoverability of the loan and capitalised interest 
amounts with the two joint ventures and 
considered if an impairment of these balances and 
equity investments is required. 

In carrying out the assessment, management have 
considered the joint venture cashflows, status of 
work done to date and other factors such as 
planning, external funding and risks.  For example, 
Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP has secured 
planning permission which supports the joint 
venture’s ability to commence planned 
development activities on site. 

Management have not identified any impairment 
triggers that would require a further review to be 
undertaken and have concluded that there is no 
impairment to the carrying value of the investment, 
loans and capitalised interest.

Goodwill relating to PCRL is being amortised over 
the Directors’ estimate of its useful life of nine 
years, which is the expected duration of the 
regeneration project being undertaken by the joint 
venture.

GROUP 

Goodwill in joint venture 

 

£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2020 303

At 31 March 2021 303

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2020 (81)

Charge for the year  (34)

At 31 March 2021 (115)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2021 188

At 31 March 2020 222
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Joint venture net assets before shareholder loans as at 31 March: 2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Current assets 43,479 29,235

Liabilities due within one year (1,038) (956)

Liabilities due after one year - -

Net Assets 42,441 28,279
      

15. Investments (cont.)

ASSOCIATION Shares in 
Subsidiary 

Undertakings

Loans to 
Subsidiary 

Undertakings 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost and net book value:

At 1 April 2020 50 70,750 70,800

Advances to Group companies - 10,400 10,400

At 31 March 2021 50 81,150 81,200

During the year ended 31 March 2021 net advances of £10,400k were made to Group companies. As at 
31 March 2021, all loans to subsidiary undertakings are not due for repayment within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date.

Loans to Subsidiary Undertakings have a margin of 2.00% over the average borrowing cost for SHA and 
have a repayment date of 31 March 2024.  Loans are secured on the Subsidiaries assets.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

The jointly controlled entities are:

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited. Swan New Homes Limited holds 50% of the voting rights.

*** 50% partnership between Swan BQ Limited and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

All of the Group's subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entities registered office is Pilgrim House, High 
Street, Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

The associate entity is:

Swan New Homes Limited holds 12.5% of shares with voting rights of Linq Investors Limited and can 
appoint two directors from a total of six. 

At 31 March 2021 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales

Hera Management Services Limited* Property management England and Wales

Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales

Swan Housing Capital Plc Treasury England and Wales

Swan Housing Finance Limited Treasury England and Wales

Swan BQ Limited Regeneration Partner England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property development England and Wales

Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP***

Regeneration partnership England and Wales

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Linq Investors Limited Buying and selling of own real estate England and Wales
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16. Stock and properties held for sale 

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Stock

Raw materials and consumables 1,920 870 - -

Shared ownership properties

Work in progress 14,165 24,067 14,165 24,067

Properties developed for outright sale

Completed properties - - - -

Work in progress 150,628 156,227 - -

166,713 181,164 14,165 24,067

During the year the Group and Association expensed as cost of sale costs related to properties held for 
sale and work in progress amounting to £103,661k (2020: £123,529k) and £12,995k (2020: £14,778k) 
respectively.

£3.5m of work in progress was written down in the Group during the year (2020: nil). £1.9m of the 
impairment is in relation to the Laindon development. A further £7.4m impairment has been recognised at 
the Watts Grove development following the crane incident in 2020. Accrued insurance proceeds of £7.4m 
(2020 nil) have also been recognised. The Watts Grove impairment value has been estimated at fair value 
less cost to sell taking into account costs to remediate the site and replacement of the damaged works.  
The Watts Grove impairment has been allocated as 79% (£5,885k) to Tangible Fixed Assets (Note 13) 
with the balance, £1,565k, allocated to Stock and properties held for sale (Note 16). The allocation is 
based on expected 1st tranche sales of Shared Ownership Homes.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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17. Debtors 

Amounts due from Group undertakings are unsecured, do not incur interest and are repayable on 
demand.

Equity retained in properties sold (Homebuy Loans) are secured on a charge on the properties and are 
repayable on the earlier of the sale of the property or after 10 years.  In the event the value of the home 
has increased when sold, or after 10 years, the amount of loan due to be repaid will reflect the increase. 
The equity is not interest bearing.

Other debtors in the Association includes £7.4m (2020: nil) accrued insurance proceeds in relation to 
Watts Grove.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

a) Due within one year

Gross arrears of rent and service charges 1,336 1,168 1,336 1,168

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (567) (499) (567) (499)

Net arrears of rent and service charges 769 669 769 669

Amounts due from Group undertakings - - 8,956 5,907

Other debtors 12,003 9,476 11,434 5,285

Prepayments and accrued income 7,050 3,317 1,706 2,139

Deferred tax asset (see note 11) 143 29 - -

19,965 13,491 22,865 14,000

b) Due after one year

Other prepayments and accrued income – PFI 22,379 24,921 22,379 24,921

Equity retained in properties sold 1,086 1,000 - -

23,465 25,921 22,379 24,921
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Bank loan (see note 19) 1,039 1,040 1,039 1,040

GLA & HCAi loans (see note 19) - 29,125 - -

PFI loan (see note 19) 2,808 1,983 2,808 1,983

Trade creditors 11,119 14,750 2,957 3,908

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 4,136 12,377

Corporation Tax payable 36 - - -

Other taxation and social security 1,198 965 934 698

Other creditors 5,799 10,605 1,555 1,685

Deferred grant (see note 19) 9,993 602 601 602

Disposals proceeds fund 402 402 402 402

Interest payable 2,361 2,485 1,755 1,878

Accruals and deferred income 37,865 17,737 12,102 12,242

72,620 79,694 28,289 36,815
      

Amounts due to Group undertakings are unsecured, do not incur interest and are repayable on demand.

Disposal proceeds fund will be utilised within the next 12 months as agreed with the local authority.  
During the year a GLA loan of £29.1m was repaid (2020: nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Amounts due to Group undertakings by the Association relate to the bond issued by Swan Housing 
Capital.  The amount is secured on association assets, incur interest and is not repayable on demand.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Bank loans (see analysis below) 330,001 340,880 330,001 340,880

Bond (see analysis below) 238,810 238,876 - -

GLA and HCAi loans (see analysis below) 81,574 73,081 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 238,811 238,876

650,385 652,837 568,812 579,756

Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

Recycled capital grant fund 1,369 1,237 1,369 1,237

Deferred grant (see analysis below) 104,256 117,281 104,256 104,613

759,033 774,378 677,460 688,629

Loans and Bond due after 1 year

Housing loans 187,488 180,528 187,488 180,528

Financial instruments at fair value 122,920 137,952 122,920 137,952

PFI Loan 19,593 22,400 19,593 22,400

Bond 235,000 235,000 - -

Less: issue costs (1,744) (1,813) - -

Add: bond discount and premium 5,554 5,689 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 238,810 238,876

GLA and HCAi loans 81,883 73,473 - -

Less: issue costs (309)    (392) - -

650,385 652,837 568,811 579,756
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (cont.)

Loans and Bond maturity (excluding PFI, GLA and HCAi loans which are considered separately 
below)

The bank loans above are drawn from bi-lateral loan facilities of £279m. Bank loans are secured by charges 
on specific properties and floating charges over the Group's assets and are repayable at variable and fixed 
rates of interest between 1.19% and 6.35%.  

On 5 March 2015 the Group arranged a £250m bond with £150m issued immediately and £100m retained. 
On 8 July 2016 £60m of the retained bonds were sold, with a further £25m being sold on 4 March 2020.  
The bond has coupon rate of 3.625%, matures in 2048 and has a remaining life of 29 years.  Security for 
the bond has been provided in the form of housing assets. 

The original £150m bond was issued at discount of £1.6m in 2015. The £60m retained bond issued in July 
2016 generated a £3.3m premium on issue. The £25m retained bond issued in March 2020 generated a 
£4.0m premium on issue. The discount and premiums are being amortised over the remaining life of the 
bond using the effective average interest rate method.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Falling due less than one year 1,039 1,040 1,039 1,040

Falling due within one to two years 1,040 1,039 1,040 1,039

Falling due two to five years 81,197 63,658 81,197 63,658

Falling due after five years 402,752 413,331 402,752 413,331

486,028 479,068 486,028 479,068

Fair value adjustments for non basic financial 
instruments

60,420 75,451 60,420 75,451

546,448 554,519 546,448 554,519
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

PFI loan:

Falling due less than one year 2,808 1,983 2,808 1,983

Falling due within one to two years 3,094 2,808 3,094 2,808

Falling due two to five years 8,628 9,014 8,628 9,014

Falling due after five years 7,870 10,579 7,870 10,579

22,401 24,384 22,401 24,384

      

The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and repayable in full by 2028.  Interest is payable 
at 6.21% per annum for the remainder of the facility.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

GLA and HCAi loans:

Falling due less than one year - 29,125 - -

Falling due within one to two years - - - -

Falling due two to five years 31,574 - - -

Falling due after five years 50,000 73,081 - -

81,574 102,206 - -
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (cont.)

The Group has an estate regeneration facility provided by the Greater London Authority. The Group did 
have a second facility, related to Cambridge Road, which was repaid in full during the financial year.

This facility has a limit of £50m and relates to the Group’s development at Blackwall Reach, which was 
fully drawn at the end of the year.  This facility carries interest at a fixed rate  and is repayable on the 
earlier of receipts as they arise from the sale of development properties at Blackwall Reach or 31 
December 2026. The facility is each secured by way of a fixed charge over the interest in the land at the 
related development site and by way of a floating charge over the assets of Swan New Homes Limited, a 
group undertaking.

The HCAi facility, with a limit of £30m, relates to the Group’s developments at Beechwood, Basildon and 
Laindon, under which £30m was fully drawn at the end of the year. This facility carries interest at EC 
Base Rate plus a margin. It is repayable on the earlier of the disposal of the last Residential Unit or 30 
June 2025. In addition to the fixed charge over the interest in the land and work in progress at the two 
related development sites, Swan New Homes Limited and Swan Commercial Services Limited, both 
group undertakings, are guarantors for the facility. Homes England also hold a share charge in respect of 
the entire issued share capital of Swan Housing Finance Limited and Swan Commercial Services 
Limited. 

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance lease arrangements for a total of 
35 properties.  These entail the funder purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market and 
leasing them to Swan Housing Association Limited for 25 years from 2001.  Stratton Property Holdings 
Limited has a put option to sell the properties and Swan Housing Association Limited has a call option to 
purchase the properties at any time, both at historic cost, at which point the liability will be settled. 

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Finance leases – falling due after five years 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Analysis of Recycled Capital Grant Fund:

Balance at 1 April 1,237 4,023 1,237 4,023

Additions to the fund from sales 132 491 132 491

Interest charges in the year - - - -

Utilised during the year - (3,277) - (3,277)

Balance at 31 March 1,369 1,237 1,369 1,237

      

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Analysis of Deferred Grant:

Balance at 1 April 117,883 110,984 105,215 98,316

Grant additions during the year 293 7,433 293 7,433

Released to income during the year (3,878) (534) (602) (534)

Grant recycled (49) - (49) -

Balance at 31 March 114,249 117,883 104,857 105,215

Amounts to be released within one year 9,993 602 601 602

Amounts to be released in more than one year 104,256 117,281 104,256 104,613

114,249 117,883 104,857 105,215
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20. Provision for liabilities

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has spent £3,776k (2020 £1,175k) replacing cladding 
containing ACM.  The balance of the provision made in prior years is £18,035k and the Directors are satisfied 
that this balance is sufficient for the completion of works.  Regular assessments of the works to date and 
costs to complete have been done to understand the risks to programme and the amount of provision 
required to complete the works. 

During the year ended 31 March 2021 the Group has continued to progress the matter in accordance with its 
commitments and responsibilities as landlord and the evolving changes to building regulations. £1,098k of 
Grant has been received in the year which had previously been accrued (2020 nil).

One of the schemes contains a mix of 44 social rented properties owned by the Association and 93 leasehold 
properties which are owned by Swan New Homes Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of the 
Association. The cost provision and funding secured for this scheme has been allocated between the 
Association and Swan New Homes Limited in proportion to the properties held by each entity.

The Association and the Group remain intent on pursuing all available options to recover the cost of works 
required which may result in a more favourable position than currently reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements. The final outcome of these endeavours remain inherently uncertain.

The risk in relation to other forms of cladding and revised building regulations continues to be monitored by 
management.  However, at 31 March 2021 and to date there have been no legal or constructive obligations in 
relation to the rectification of such issues and no related provisions have been taken in these financial 
statements.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Aluminium Composite Material Provision:

Balance at 1 April 21,811 5,300 10,053 5,300

Released in the year (3,776) (1,035) (1,983) (1,035)

Provision recognised in the year - 17,546 - 5,788

Balance at 31 March 18,035 21,811 8,070 10,053
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21. Share capital and reserves – Group and Association

The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not 
carry rights to participate in a winding up. They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special 
meetings of the Association. When shares are cancelled the amount paid up becomes the property of 
the Association.

Income and expenditure reserve

The income and expenditure reserve includes all current and prior year retained surpluses and losses.

Revaluation reserve

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was credited with the difference between the fair value 
of housing properties and the historical cost carrying value. As a result, housing properties carried at 
revaluation pre transition are carried at deemed cost. 

 

Share Capital 2021 
£

2020 
£

Outstanding at 1 April 6 6

Allocated during the year - 1

Cancelled during the year - (1)

Shares of £1 each allotted issued and fully paid at 31 March 6 6
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22. Commitments

i) Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made:

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £21.5m (2020: 
£1.8m) and sales income of £246.2m (2020: £211.0m).

ii) future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for equipment, motor vehicles and 
buildings are as follows:

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Contracted but not provided 267,234 212,820 163,009 108,554
      

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 1,954 981 388 434

Between two and five years 6,445 3,127 960 1,204

Greater than five years 10,244 774 661 774

18,643 4,882 2,009 2,412
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23. Contingent liabilities

Swan Housing Association Limited has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works 
which are part of development schemes in Basildon and Havering for £797,000 and £499,000 respectively, 
which may be retained by the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction 
programme not being completed.  At present the Association is expecting to complete these works 
satisfactorily.  The bonds expire at various dates, contingent upon practical completion of the works.

The Group, through its subsidiary Swan Commercial Services Limited, has entered into a Deed of Guarantee 
and Indemnity with Thurrock Borough Council in relation to a regeneration project in Purfleet, Essex. As at 31 
March 2021 there were no material obligations under this guarantee. 

Social Housing and other capital development grants may be repayable under certain circumstances, 
primarily following the sale of a property.

As the representative member of a VAT group, the Association has joint and several liability for amounts 
owing to HMRC which at 31 March 2021 were £431k (2020: £266k).

The investigation following the crane incident at Watts Grove on 8 July 2020 is on-going, such that there is no 
present obligation as at 31 March 2021. Any potential outflow is contingent on the outcome of the 
investigation, and cannot be reliably quantified until concluded, the timing of which is also uncertain. 
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24. Analysis of completed property units

At 31 March 2021 the Group and Association housing stock comprised:

The total units owned and managed by the Group as at 31 March 2021 equates to 11,655 (2020: 11,646). The 
increase in the year relates to units developed less units sold.

Group & Association  

Owned 
number of units 

Managed 
number of units 

2021 2020 2021 2020

Social housing:

General needs 6,552 6,556 - -

Affordable 340 337 - -

Shared ownership 839 830 - -

Sheltered (elderly) 79 79 - -

Other supported housing 415 415 - -

NHS keyworker accommodation 908 910 - -

London Borough of Newham - - 1,301 1,302

Total social housing 9,133 9,127 1,301 1,302

Non-social housing:

Garages 243 243 183 183

Sold to leaseholder with retained freehold 795 776 - -

Total housing stock 10,171 10,161 1,484 1,485
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25. Legislative provisions

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 with the 
reference 28496R and with the Regulator of Social Housing under reference L4145 under the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 as a Registered Provider.

26. Related party disclosures 

The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group;

•  Swan New Homes Limited £(2,009)k net payment (2020: £(31,407)k net payment) land, property 
sales and fees, Swan Commercial Services Limited £(13,905)k net payment (2020: £(17,223)k net 
payment) construction activities and management fees which are recharged on a cost plus margin 
basis using actual costs incurred and time allocations as appropriate. In addition, Swan New Homes 
Limited and Swan Commercial Services Limited made net drawdowns of £nil and £(8,900)k 
respectively from their intercompany loan facilities with the Association   

•  Hera Management Services Limited £(39)k net payment (2020: £(39)k net payment) property 
management services and Vivo Support Limited £(1,557)k net payment (2020: £(1,376)k net 
payment) care services both are recharged on a cost plus margin basis using actual costs incurred.

The Group has an agreement to provide a junior loan facility of £4.5m and a £18.1m revolving credit facility to 
Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited (PCRL). The junior loan facility was fully drawn in prior years and 
£12.6m (2020: £10.5m) of the revolving credit facility was drawn. A further £1.1m (2020: £1.1m) of interest 
has been capitalised on the junior loan facility and £2.2m (2020: £1.5m) capitalised on the revolving credit 
facility during the year.

The revolving credit and junior loan facilities both accrue interest and are repayable at the end of phase 1 of 
the development or 31 December 2022, whichever is earlier. The loans are secured by a floating charge over 
the assets of PCRL.

Additionally, the Group will be providing construction and certain other administrative services to PCRL. 

The Group also has an agreement to provide a £15.0m junior loan facility to Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP. As at 31 March 2021 £2.25m (2020: £0.75m) of the junior loan was drawn with £35k (2020: £2k) interest 
paid.  The loan facility accrues interest and is repayable 12 months following completion of the final residential 
unit or 31 December 2034, whichever is earlier.

During the year Swan New Homes sold 40 homes to Linq Investors Limited, an associate, for £23.8m.  There 
were no outstanding balances at 31 March 2021.
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27. Subsidiaries

Swan Housing Association Limited provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries under the terms of 
procedure agreements.  Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as 
follows: 

28. Pensions 

SCHEME: TPT Retirement Solutions – Social Housing Pension Scheme (‘SHPS’)

The Association participates in SHPS, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to non-associated 
participating employers. The scheme is a defined benefit pension scheme in the UK.  The scheme is 
classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the Association is potentially liable for other 
participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the 
scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was completed as at 30 September 2017 and rolled forward, 
allowing for the different financial assumptions required under FRS102, to 31 March 2021 by a qualified 
independent actuary.

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit obligation is based on a number of critical underlying 
assumptions such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of future salary 
increases. Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact the liability and the annual defined benefit 
expenses (as analysed in Note 28). The calculation of the obligation also incorporates the impact of the 
various High Court rulings; namely McCloud and GMP rulings where appropriate. 

The net defined benefit liability at the year ended 31 March 2021 is £6,741k (2020: £3,230k).

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Amount charged:

Swan Commercial Services Limited 761 422

Swan New Homes Limited 2,015 1,905

Vivo Support Limited 19 16

Hera Management Services Limited 19 16

2,814 2,359
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PRESENT VALUES OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND DEFINED 
BENEFIT LIABILITY

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets 21,524 19,242

Present value of defined benefit obligation   (28,265) (22,472)

Defined benefit liability to be recognised (6,741) (3,230)
      

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Defined benefit obligation at the start of the year 22,472 25,495

Expenses 23 23

Interest expense 518 605

Actuarial (gains)/loss due to scheme experience (539) 378

Actuarial losses/(gains) due to changes in demographic assumptions 98 (216)

Actuarial losses/(gains) due to changes in financial assumptions 6,339 (3,530)

Benefits paid and expenses (646) (283)

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 28,265 22,472
      

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets at the start of the year 19,242 18,547

Interest income 450 447

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest 
income) – gain/(loss)

1,794 (158)

Contributions by the employer 684 689

Benefits paid and expenses (646) (283)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 21,524 19,242
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DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (SOCI)

DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Expenses 23 23

Net interest 68 158

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of comprehensive 
income (SOCI)

91 181

      

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest 
cost) – gain (loss)

1,794 (158)

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities – gain (loss) 539 (378)

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation – gain (loss)

(98) 216

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation – gain (loss)

(6,339) 3,530

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income - gain 
(loss)

(4,104) 3,210
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ASSETS
31 March 

2021 
£’000

1 April 
2020 
£’000

Global Equity 3,430 2,814

Absolute Return 1,188 1,003

Distressed Opportunities 622 371

Credit Relative Value 677 528

Alternative Risk Premia 811 1,345

Fund of Hedge Funds 2 11

Emerging Markets Debt 869 583

Risk Sharing 784 650

Insurance-Linked Securities 517 591

Property 447 424

Infrastructure 1,435 1,432

Private Debt 513 388

Opportunistic IIIiquid Credit 547 466

High Yield 645 -

Opportunistic Credit 590 -

Corporate Bond Fund 1,272 1,097

Liquid Credit 257 8

Long Lease Property 422 333

Secured Income 895 730

Liability Driven Investment 5,470 6,386

Net Current Assets 131 82

Total assets 21,524 19,242
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KEY ASSUMPTIONS 

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2021 imply the following life expectancies:

31 March 2021 
% per annum 

1 April 2020 
% per annum

Discount Rate 2.22% 2.34%

Inflation (RPI) 3.21% 2.53%

Inflation (CPI) 2.87% 1.53%

Salary Growth 3.87% 2.53%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement 75% of maximum 
allowance

75% of maximum 
allowance

      

Life expectancy at 
age 65 (years)

Life expectancy at 
age 65 (years)

Male retiring in 2021 21.6 21.5

Female retiring in 2021 23.3 23.3

Male retiring in 2041 22.9 22.9

Female retiring in 2041 25.1 24.5
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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29. Financial assets and liabilities
Our treasury strategy is explained in the Strategic Report and includes our approach to interest rate and 
counterparty risk management (see page 29). Liquidity is a key risk which is managed using well 
established cash forecasting and business planning process which are regularly stress tested using 
single and multi variate scenarios (see page 29).

Financial assets

Other than short term debtors, financial assets held are investments in other entities and cash deposits 
placed on call. £1,226k (2020: £1,362k) of the cash balance relates to sinking funds.  Financial assets 
are sterling denominated and the interest rate profile at 31 March was:

The assets attract interest rates that vary with bank rates. 

Financial liabilities excluding trade creditors – interest rate risk profile

The Group’s financial liabilities are sterling denominated. After taking into account various interest rate 
swaps, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March was:

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank loans that bear interest at rates based on either the 
three-month LIBOR or RPI. The fixed rate financial liabilities of the Group have a weighted average 
interest rate of 4.22% (2020: 4.45%) and the weighted average period for which it is fixed is 17 years 
(2020: 19 years). The fixed rate financial liabilities of SHA have a weighted average interest rate of 
4.25% (2020: 4.58%) and the weighted average period for which it is fixed is 18 years (2020: 19 years).

There are two fixed rate interest swaps which have a callable option by the lender. In the event the 
lender exercises the option, the loan will convert from a fixed rate to floating rate product.  Due to the 
fixed rate of these options, it is not considered likely that the lender will exercise the option. However, 
this likelihood of this is reviewed based on the forward three month Libor swap rate, which will provide an 
indication of when the callable option will become favourable for the lender and the risk of this occurring 
increases. 

The debt maturity profile is shown in note 19.

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Floating rate 127,014 119,298 131,281 128,960
      

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Floating rate 131,028 116,815 101,028 70,914

Fixed 457,401 488,509 407,401 409,384

Total 588,429 605,324 508,429 480,298
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Borrowing facilities

The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities.  The facilities available at 31 March in respect of 
which all conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of long-term borrowings includes the mark to market position of the embedded interest 
rate swaps. There is no requirement to post collateral against the out of the money mark to market 
positions. 

Group Association  

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000

Expiring in less than 2 years - 18,000 - 18,000

Expiring in more than 2 years 25,000 22,253 25,000 15,000
      

Group Association

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000 

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2021 
£’000

2020 
£’000

Primary financial 
instruments held or 
issued to finance the 
Group's operations

Current asset trade 
investments

127,014  119,298 127,014 119,298 131,182  128,960 131,182 128,960

Current portion of long 
term borrowing at 
amortised cost

3,847 32,148 3,917 32,217 3,847 3,023 3,917 3,092

Long term borrowings 
at fair value through 
statement of 
comprehensive income 

122,920 137,952 122,920 137,952 122,920 137,952 122,920 137,952

Long term borrowings 
at amortised cost

522,081 482,591 659,540 640,773 492,081 409,844 579,540 538,901

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont.)
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